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DEFINITIONS
Bx

In this annual report, unless the context otherwise requires, the

following expressions shall have the following meanings:

5 G
[5G

“AGM”
[ERBEFAE]

“advertiser”

“API(s)”

[API]

“

app’
(AR

“Articles” or “Memorandum and
Articles of Association”

[ 4R k[ A A E A2 A M N AR A

“Audit Committee”
[EZEES ]

“Blue Focus”

[EE)E]

“BLUEFOCUS INTERNATIONAL”

[E BB

DOUMOB EEBERIFZ AR AT

RAFHRD  BIEXBEREME  BRITIRAE
ERNTRE :

the 5th generation mobile networks
FERRBEBERM

annual general meeting of the Company to be held on 10 June 2020

AATER2020F 6 A 10 BERITHREBFERE

any persons, companies, organizations which advertise their brands, products
and/services through placing advertisements

BEBRRMESEERE Bl RREOEFRAL - D7 REE

artificial intelligence
ALERE

application programming interface, a set of routines, protocols, and tools for
building software applications

EREAED  —EARNBREMEARANES BERTA

a program designed to run on a mobile device

ARBBERE LEFEMRANRER

the memorandum and articles of association as amended from time to time

BB ERAM LA (EIRERT)

the audit committee of the Board
EEQEZEEY

BlueFocus Intelligent Communications Group Co., Ltd. (dt RE& @ IZEE
BRI BIRAT), a company incorporated under the laws of the PRC on
4 November, 2002 and the shares of which were listed on Shenzhen Stock
Exchange on February 26, 2010 and one of our substantial shareholders

I REEKREHEERBEBROEBRLIR - —MK20024F 11 A4 BRIBEHEDEE
FfftRZ AR ERGMN2010F2 A26 BERYIBHF RS EM - WARK
M EFERRZ —

BLUEFOCUS INTERNATIONAL LIMITED (B X IZEBREEEEARAR), a
company incorporated under the laws of Hong Kong on March 13, 2009 and
wholly owned by Blue Focus
EErLBREREEEBRERAR - —HKN 200943 A 13 HRBEEEEDIEM
R HREEIES EERHNA R



DEFINITIONS

Ba

“Board”

=
“Board Committees”
==

“BVI”
[REELES ]

“Capitalisation Issue”
[EARM3ETT]

"CEO”
Eppect=d

“Chairman”

[E/% )

“Chengdu Hongdao”

[Chengdu Hongdao |

“Chitu Huanyu”

[ %

i
L

“China” or “PRC”

(B

o | @oF

the board of Directors of the Company

AAREEE

the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination

Committee

EZZEe  FMHEZEERRERZER®

the British Virgin Islands
KBRS

the issue of 1,878,517,690 Shares made upon capitalisation of certain sums
standing to the credit of the share premium account of the Company on the
completion of the initial public offering

RERARBEETKE  BAARKRMEERNE THERREERLMETH
1,878,517,690 &A% {5

the chief executive officer of the Company

RABRITR A E

the chairman of the Board

ExexRF

Chengdu Hongdao Limited, a company incorporated in the BVI on April 18,
2018 and wholly owned by Mr. Yang Zhenghong

Chengdu Hongdao Limited * —fAliA 2018 4 A 18 B B X A &5t
BRI RIG E RS E R B AR R A

Beijing Chitu Huanyu Technology Company Limited (At R RBEFRIZEGR
AF]), a limited liability company established in the PRC on July 18, 2014
and a former non-wholly-owned subsidiary of Doumob Technology and the
remaining 49% equity interests are held by Ms. Zhang Hui
ERARBEFREBRAA - —ER2014F7 A18EBEFEKIHARL
A REBARBNAIEREMBAR - KT 9% RERRELLHE

the People’s Republic of China, unless otherwise stated, excludes the Hong
Kong Special Administrative Region, the Macau Special Administrative Region
and Taiwan of China herein

REARKNE - BREEHAN - AT BEFEEBFITTHE - RFIER
TRERAE

2019 ANNUAL REPORT %3}
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DEFINITIONS
Bx

“click-through rate”

[BhEEX |

“click-through(s)”

[Bh%

“Company” or “our Company”

NS

“Consolidated Affiliated Entities”
[PrRHEE ]

“Contractual Arrangements”

[AHZHE
“Corporate Governance Code” or
“CG Code”

[xERsTAl

“Director(s)”

(%]

“Doumob Advertisement”

4 DOUMOB EEBERIFZ AR AT

the percentage of an advertisement is clicked by internet users when
shown on online advertising platforms. In the context of click-through rate
of interactive advertising, calculated as the total number of click-throughs
divided by the total number of impressions of coupon pages
BERERBEEVYARTKHEEMERFHENA L - EEHEENIEER
T BRI EARERIANEES AR TEREEH

the action mobile device users click on the ad, in the context of click-
throughs of interactive advertising, calculated as the total number of clicks
on the coupon or red packet on our coupon pages after visitors play our
interactive games during a certain period of time
BHRKEAPHBESNTA REPESHHENS  H-RIBANSIENE
PEEERNEESEREEESNAONEREGTHE

Doumob (Z BRI AR AF]), a company incorporated under the laws of the
Cayman lIslands with limited liability on 26 March 2018

THRERARAR - —ER20184F 3 A 26 BIREFEHS A FMAIHARA
=]

The entities our Company control through the Contractual Arrangements,
namely Doumob Technology and its subsidiary, Yamei Yunhe
RAARBEBAENTHENNER N BEMERAENB AR REEM

certain contractual arrangements entered into on 22 August 2018 by us

BHMPR2018F 8 B 22 BRI ME TAKTHE

the Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix 14 of the Listing
Rules

LRI SR 14 PREL D EVE ST A

the director(s) of the Company
RRFEF

Tianjin Doumob Advertisement Company Limited (K} BEEERAT), a
company incorporated under the laws of the PRC with limited liability on 4
December 2014 and is held by WFOE and Doumob HK as to 97% and 3%,
respectively

RETHESARRAF - —ER2014F 12 A4 BRBHBZEFMRIOHBERA
Al DRBIBERECENTREBERI7% 3%
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DEFINITIONS
Bx

“Doumob Technology”

[ZBER] i

“ESOP Holdings”

[ESOP Holdings ] 5
“Evan Global”
[Evan Global] il

“Feixun Hewo”

[ FREAFX ] Ec

“Global Offering”

[ EEREHE ] b

“GI’OUp”, “we” or “us”

RSN AN b

Doumob (Beijing) Technology Co., Ltd. (EBEUELR)BIERGBERAR)
(formerly known as Zhangshang Yunjing), a company incorporated under
the laws of the PRC with limited liability on July 25, 2013 and by virtue of
the Contractual Arrangements, accounted for as our subsidiary

SRR BEROERAR - AIEE LE5 - —HR2013F7 A25 BRES
BUEEZMAZNBER AR RESHNRZHIIERE R

YANGBIN GROUP LIMITED, a company incorporated under the laws of the
BVI with limited liability on May 9, 2018, wholly-owned by Evan Global
YANGBIN GROUP LIMITED @ —[# 201845 A 9 HARERH B & L B & A
FMASIMABRAR] - HEvan Global 2 &# A

Evan Global Holdings Limited, a company incorporated under the laws of the
BVI on March 13, 2018 and wholly owned by Mr. Yang

Evan Global Holdings Limited * —f# 2018 43 A 13 HIRIERBR LB S
EGIGE AL 5 E R BRI AR

Tianjin Feixun Hewo Internet Technology Company Limited (K3ZRAMKLE
LEMTABRAR), a company incorporated under the laws of the PRC with
limited liability on December 4, 2014 and a former wholly-owned subsidiary of
Doumob Technology

RERAFRBERMERLDAT - —HR 2014 F 12 5 4 BREBEFHBEDEETM
KRIMBRAR  REBRBENIZEWNBE AR

the public offering of 98,900,000 Shares for subscription by the public in
Hong Kong and the international offering (as defined respectively in the
Prospectus) of 98,900,000 Shares for subscription by the institutional,
professional, corporate and other investors

MEERFEE 98,900,000 AL AR E R A RRERNEBREE(EE D
R E12) 98,900,000 Bk A #eHE - H - AR REMKEERE

the Company and all of its subsidiaries and companies whose financial results
have been consolidated and accounted as the subsidiaries of our Company
by virtue of the Contractual Arrangements, or, where the context so requires,
in respect of the period before our Company became the holding company of
our current subsidiaries, the business operated by such subsidiaries or their
predecessors (as the case may be)
RRARREMBHERRARMBEEERBENLTHEAFARARIERR
B ARMAT - KIANEFE - AR RRAHB BB R R NZERAE
AIEARITN E - ZEME R RISER & (R FIERME) K EHN %R
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DEFINITIONS
Bx

“HK$” and “HK cents”
[T ] R AL

“Hongdao Investment”

S

[5hs&%

p?

”
[

X

“Hong Kong”
[&E]

“H5”

[H5]

“HKFRS”
[BBMBREER

“Independent Third Party(ies)”

B E=77]

“JavaScript” or “JS”
[JavaScript]gk[JS |

“Latest Practicable Date”

[REBERAITTEH

“Listing Date”

[ £ A H

DOUMOB EEBERIFZ AR AT

Hong Kong dollars and cents, respectively, the lawful currency of Hong Kong

BEEEEEBTREIN

Chengdu Hongdao No. 5 Chuangye Investment Center (Limited Partnership)
(R EP LB RSRAIE R AR L(EREE)), a limited partnership established
under the laws of the PRC on November 24, 2017 and a shareholder of
Doumob Technology
FRERSLERRAIEREPOL(ARER) - —HR2017F 11 H24 BIRIEHE
FERRUNBRAEBEE  RTBRRHRMHKE

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC
hEEBRRITTH R

a markup language used for structuring and presenting content on the
internet, with detailed processing models to encourage more interoperable
implementations, which can be used to develop interactive advertisinga
markup language used for structuring and presenting content on the World
Wide Web, which is the fifth and current major version of the HTML standard
AREDBBEREIEREANANELES AAFANEREERE - SETE
SHABRE EAARHERAREEAREBRERERANANEDESFRLE
T 0 AHTMLIRZER) 5 1 K 8 A e &+ 2R

the Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
BB G E AR

any person or entity who is not considered a connected person of our
Company or an associate of any such person within the meaning under the
Listing Rules

WHEARABEALTHEMZFEALHOBEACERR EHARRD N ERMALR

.
B

a high-level, interpreted programming language
—REeARENREFEE

20 April 2020, being the latest practicable date prior to the printing of this
annual report for ascertaining certain information in this annual report
202054 A 20 A~ BENARSIRNENAT BT R FRAEE TERN KR ERA
fTHE

the date on which the Shares initially commenced their dealings on the Stock
Exchange, i.e. 14 March 2019
Bt B R P E R EE 2B - B12019F 3 A 14 H



DEFINITIONS
Bx

“Listing Rules”
[ EmAR A

“Listing”
=

“Model Code”
[fEsE=Fa)]

“Nomination Committee”

[REZB®

“oCPC system”
[oCPC %4t |

“Prospectus”

[ EE]

“R&D”
[ |

“Remuneration Committee”

[HEE =]

“Reporting Period”
[#REH

“RMB”
AR

“RSU Scheme”
[ PR A% 0 BB A1 5T S0 ]

“RSU(s)’
I 52 BR 1 B B 7

e | e

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (as

amended from time to time)

B praE s BRI (T RHERT)

listing of the Shares on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
Pt OB 22 PR AR T

the Model Code of Securities Transactions by Directors of the Listed Issuers
as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules

LR BIMERA10FTEM EM BT AESETESR R ZNRETR

the nomination committee of the Board

EEgRA%LES

optimized cost per click system, an advertising bidding system through which
we conduct advertising optimization automatically, intelligently and in real-
time

BRBCHERS  —BESHERS B RAEY  BHERERETE

x4

the prospectus issued by the Company dated 28 February 2019
AARFIEHEA2019F 2 A28 HNBRER

research and development

T K

the remuneration committee of the Board

ExgyMEzES

the year ended December 31, 2019
HZ=2019F 12 A1 HILFE

Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC

FEIEEEB AR

the restricted share unit scheme adopted by our Company on 14 August 2018
RATR 2018 8 A 14 BERMEZ IR Hil iR (0 BRI 52l

restricted share units granted pursuant to the RSU Scheme

AR IB S PR I A £ BE 2 51 B3R H OS2 PR Bl A A BE L
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DEFINITIONS

Ba

“Sam Limited”

[Sam Limited]

“SDK(s)”

[SDK]

“senior management”

[SREERE]

“Share(s)”

[Btn )

“Shareholder(s)”
[ 3R |

“Stock Exchange”
[ 38 32 7 |

“Summer Holdings”

[Summer Holdings |

“URL(s)”

[URL]J

‘UsS$”
=

“Yamei Yunhe”

EEET

DOUMOB ZERK AR T

o er™

Sam Limited, a company incorporated under the laws of the BVI on April 13,
2018 and wholly owned by Mr. Zheng Shunqi

Sam Limited * —f870 201854 A 13 B RBEEBR L BB AM MR A
EIEEL S =2 BB HI AR

software development kit, typically a set of software development tools that
allows the creation of applications for a certain software package, software
framework, hardware platform, computer system, video game console,
operating system, or similar development platform

PHRETER —RA—EARETEME HHER BEHTAH BHE
BT ARSREEME  RERRSELURBE T AZEREXNRERMELIA

the senior management of the Company
RRAERERE

ordinary share(s) of HK$0.001 each in the issued share capital of the
Company
ARF D ETRAG EREEO0.001ETTH) BB

holder(s) of Shares
PSRESZ=PN

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
ERBMERGERRAE

Summer Holdings Limited, a company incorporated under the laws of the
BVI on 13 March 2018 and wholly owned by Ms. Chen Xiaona

Summer Holdings Limited * —f/ 201843 A 13 AR ERBERE LB S A 0T
AR RERB L T2 E RGN DA

uniform resource locator, commonly known as a web address

B BREMN - —MRIBBIERELE

United States dollars, the lawful currency of the United States
EEEZEEBET

Beijing Yamei Yunhe Technology Company Limited (b RZTEEEFRIE AR
A7), a company incorporated under the laws of the PRC on 9 July 2014
and a wholly-owned subsidiary of Doumob Technology
IRGEEERMREARAR - —ER2014F7 A9AREFEEEZMEKINA
Al REBEMENZENBAT




“Zhangshang Yunjing”

[%]

Beijing Zhangshang Yunjing Technology Company Limited (3t RE &
SREARAF), a company incorporated under the laws of the PRC
with limited liability on 25 July 2013 and the predecessor of Doumob
Technology

tRELESHREBRAR - —HR2013F7 B 25 HiREFRBEAEZEMKIINE
RAR] - AT BB S

per cent

Ekep:d

2019 ANNUAL REPORT F#
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. Yang Bin (Chairman & co-chief executive officer)

Mr. Huang Kewang (Co-chief executive officer)

Ms. Luo Yanhong (Chief financial officer)

Non-executive Director

Mr. Liu Ailun

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Chan Yiu Kwong
Mr. Liu Binghai

Mr. Wang Yingzhe

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr. Chan Yiu Kwong (Chairperson)
Mr. Liu Binghai

Mr. Wang Yingzhe

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
Mr. Liu Binghai (Chairperson)
Mr. Yang Bin

Mr. Wang Yingzhe

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Yang Bin (Chairperson)
Mr. Liu Binghai

Mr. Wang Yingzhe

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. So Shuk Yi Betty (ACIS, ACS)

DOUMOB ZERK AR T

w9 | ‘@F

ORPORATE INFORMATION

Exe

BITES

B (R ETTIHARE)
BB RE(BETTEAEE)
BB LT (HHEE)

FHUTES
¥ fmkt

BUKHTES
BRIEYE R4
BmEELE
FRERLE

BEREEE
BREEYC A (E/E)
BmEEE
FRERE

FMEES
BIMERE(EE)
FRERE

REEZES
B E(E )
EllaNsy e
ITRERE

DEAME

BOME L (ACIS, ACS)



CORPORATE INFORMATION
DNEEH

AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVES
Mr. Yang Bin

Ms. So Shuk Yi Betty (ACIS, ACS)

AUDITOR

BDO Limited

Certified Public Accountants
25th Floor, Wing On Centre
111 Connaught Road Central

Hong Kong

COMPLIANCE ADVISER

Gram Capital Limited

Room 1209, 12th Floor

Nan Fung Tower

88 Connaught Road Central/173 Des Voeux Road Central,

Hong Kong

LEGAL ADVISERS

As to Hong Kong law

William Ji & Co. LLP

(in Association with Tian Yuan Law Firm Hong Kong Office)
Suite 702, 7/F

Two Chinachem Central

26 Des Voeux Road Central

Central, Hong Kong

COMPANY WEBSITE

www.doumob.com

> el

RREAR
B E
FRELZ L (ACIS, ACS)

BB ED

BBV ERREHMERMERA
HME SR

B

TrBH 1115

KEZH L2518

BRER
FHREAERA A

FreaiE 885, EEHER 17358

12181209 =

SEERR
wEREMT(BREEEEAR)
(BERTTEMEBIEED A E)
EEPIR

eEET 265

AL

7TET702E

DB

www.doumob.com
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
NEEM

STOCK CODE

1917

REGISTERED OFFICE IN THE CAYMAN ISLANDS
Walkers Corporate Limited

Cayman Corporate Centre

27 Hospital Road, George Town

Grand Cayman KY1-9008

Cayman Islands

HEADQUARTERS

Floor 5, Building C11

Phase Il, Dongyi International Media Industrial Park
Gaojing, Chaoyang District

Beijing

PRC

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG
40/F, Sunlight Tower

No. 248, Queen's Road East

Wanchai

Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER
OFFICE

Walkers Corporate Limited
Cayman Corporate Centre
27 Hospital Road, George Town
Grand Cayman KY1-9008

Cayman Islands

DOUMOB ZERK AR T

R | e

B A 18R

1917

MEREEMREE
Walkers Corporate Limited
Cayman Corporate Centre

27 Hospital Road, George Town
Grand Cayman KY1-9008

Cayman lIslands

#ER

FRE

b

PGS H
RIEBBREEEXR —H
OBt 35 ¢

BEBTEEXMH

EERER248 5

&y 4042

RIBFZRARE

Walkers Corporate Limited
Cayman Corporate Centre
27 Hospital Road, George Town
Grand Cayman KY1-9008

Cayman lIslands



CORPORATE INFORMATION
DNEEH

HONG KONG SHARE REGISTRAR
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor

Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East

Wanchai

Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANK

China Construction Bank Dongsi Branch
Room 2296, Building No. 1

No. 17, Cangjingguan Hutong
Dongcheng District

Beijing

PRC

ERROBFERE
EERRESERLRBRAA
B

B

ERAER 1835
AL

171#1712-1716 5748

FEAERRIT
REBERIRTTROAT
2

R

R R

R ER AR 17 5%

11E 2296 =
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FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE HIGHLIGHTS
MEBERERR

e | e

For the year ended

December 31
BZ12A31ALEE

2019 2018
2019 2018 F
(RMB’000) (RMB’000) change%
(AR¥TFT) (AR®Fr) Z2HEHL
Revenue Wzs 189,450 352,611 -46.3%
Profit for the year F W= F 10,915 43,163 -74.7%
Profit for the year ARREEABEFR
attributable to owners of i )
the Company 10,917 43,219 -74.7%
Adjusted net profit” AR 20,475 60,759 -66.3%
Note Mt
(1) Adjusted net profit does not include listing-related expenses. (1) ARG TERELETEBRS -
1. For the year ended December 31, 2019, the total revenue amounted 1. HZE2019F 12 A1 HILFE - WEBBEHAAR

to approximately RMB189.5 million, representing an decrease of
approximately 46.3% as compared with the year ended December 31,
2018.

2. For the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company recorded 2.
a net profit attributable to owners of the Company amounted to
approximately RMB10.9 million.

3. For the year ended December 31, 2019, the unaudited non-HKFRS 3.
adjusted net profit attributable to owners of the Company amounted to
approximately RMB20.5 million.

DOUMOB ZERK AR T

1895 HEIL  REE2018F 12 ASTHILEFE
AH) 46.3% ©

HE2019F 12 A1 BIEFE + ARARISAAR]
BEABREAFNOAREI109EBE T ©

HZE2019F 12 A31HILFE - FBBMBRELE
A ARA RIEA AELC AT (REFX) DA
AR#205HETT °




FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

EFHMBEME

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the

Company and its subsidiaries for the last five financial years, as

extracted from the published audited financial statements, is set out

. ]

ZAYNCIDSES - PN S P Eag1s E o S E St
EENBEHZ(REEETENEERXM B R
RIBR T »

below.
RESULTS ¥i5
The Group ANEME
Year ended 31 December
HE12A31HLEE
2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
2019 F 20184 2017 F 2016 20154
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ANREFL | AREFT AREFT AREFT AREFT
Revenue Yz 189,450 352,611 222,927 199,967 135,344
Profit before income tax BRETSRIRS /(B A
credit/(expense) bl 10,601 42,866 34,414 32,422 29,809
Income tax credit/(expense)  FrSFIE R, (Bx) 314 297 (246) (7,590) (8,150)
Profit for the year FERHF 10,915 43,163 34,168 24,832 21,659
Profit and total comprehensive LA~ A £ &5 F A F &
income for the year THEHKEEE
attributable to:
Owners of the Company RABHEEA 10,917 43,219 34,761 23,524 21,466
Non-controlling interests FEIE R (2) (56) (593) 1,308 193
10,915 43,163 34,168 24,832 21,659
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEERAR
The Group rRHE
At 31 December
R12A31H
2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
2019 F 20184 2017 F 2016 % 20154
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ANREFT | AREFT AREFT AREFT AREFT
Total assets BERE 328,100 312,579 159,005 112,131 97,112
Total liabilities BEHE 27,755 72,585 31,353 29,237 25,281
Equity attributable to: ATNAT GRS
Owners of the Company KAREE A 299,112 238,758 124,948 79,428 71,313
Non-controlling interests IR S 1,233 1,236 2,704 3,466 518
300,345 239,994 127,652 82,894 71,831

2019 ANNUAL REPORT %3}
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
TREHREE

2019 is a year with historical and commemorative significance for
Doumob Technology. This year, we have successfully been listed
on the Main Board of HKEX; this year, we launched interactive video
cloud platform products compatible with 5G technology; this year,
we also experienced the operating environment with a decline in
market growth and increasingly keen competition. | am pleased to
present our 2019 Annual Report for the year ended 31 December
2019 to our Shareholders.

Doumob Technology is a programmatic mobile advertising
technology company. Adhering to the value of “Focusing on
customers, essence, system and long term”, we provide advertisers
with targeted advertising services and offer media publishers
efficient monetization services via mobile advertising technology.
We fully satisfy customers’ needs for value and create synergies.

2019 is the year of new product iteration for Doumob Technology.
We released interactive H5 video products in June and launched
the Short Video Cloud Platform Empowerment Plan (EEi8EEF 4
BRAEZTEI) in August, while facilitating the exploration of innovative
communication methods such as the form of interactive short
dramas with the integration of high-quality stories and interactive
video technology in the same period.

In 2020, the coronavirus disease, COVID-19 hits the world, which
is expected to pose greater pressure on the market. However,
we always believe that what we explore and insist on is an
“empowering” business model with the characteristics of both social
and economic values. We will continue to spare no efforts in the
development of interactive H5 video products. On the premise that
we strive for the long-term interests of all Shareholders, we stick to
our main businesses while developing innovative businesses and
constantly push the boundaries.

Challenges always coexist with opportunities. The field of interactive
video advertising that we are about to enter is a more promising and
potential market, which will lay a solid foundation for the Company’s
long-term healthy development and enhance our competitive
position in future.

Last but not least, we would like to express our gratitude to
Shareholders of Doumob and all parties concerned who have given
assistance and support along with Doumob’s development.

Yang Bin
Chairman
30 March 2020

DOUMOB ZEERIFZ AR A

19FHOHNERABEELLSEEN —
Fom—F  BRAKWEEBSIER: 58—
FRMEE TERAGHESREEFAE
W EF BMtIEEMISIERTE - 7%
HENBIRLEIRE o RATRAR KRR 2R
2019F FEWHE  FMBEHA2019F 12 A
318 -

THEMRR-BREFCBEBESRIMAR - 1/
FARIRP BIAE BIzsm Ik
HINEER BERHESERMAESEPRE
HEERKIRY - AEREMERHSBERR
%o 2RnREPHEES R  HRKE -

019F EEBMENAEMERF 6 A%
H5RSA B B EE Am - 8 AT G IR IAE F Bl BER
g AHEERRBEERNENTREEEIAR
MREENEBEBFVEMNAIFERETER -

20204 WA S & fH COVID-19 T & 2 Bk
ARG B REANTISES o BHRMABKEE -
ROGFERT BN — AR AL EEMECEE
BB AR ImEER - RMDBEHSR
BEBER EFERH  TAEERIERMNE
BEMAMET @ BT EMAETMEIES - T

BOKEAEBYTF - WFIAASEANRIELS)
EERE - B EE BB B NOTS
HRRRIARREANEFEEREEEREHNETEM

BEEY -

Ri% - RS EEOMCR - RS —RRER - BB
XFBEENE @A -

B
]
20203 A30H



PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EEREREEERE

Below are the brief profiles of the current Directors and senior

management of the Group.

DIRECTORS

The Board currently comprises seven Directors, of which three are
executive Directors, one are non-executive Director and three are
independent non-executive Directors. The following table sets forth

information regarding the Directors.

Name

e

Executive Directors
HITES

Mr. Yang Bin
1508, %5 4

Mr. Huang Kewang
| L

Ms. Luo Yanhong
EBO AL

Non-executive Director
FHITES

Mr. Liu Ailun

B mEksE

Independent non-executive

Directors
BIUKHTES
Mr. Chan Yiu Kwong
BRI 54

Mr. Liu Binghai
Bl o=y

Mr. Wang Yingzhe
TERELE

Age
Fie

41
41

28
28

48

28
28

55
55

49
49

49
49

S

Position
B A

Chairman, executive Director and Co-CEO

TR RTESERBETRER

executive Director and Co-CEO

MITERRBRITREE

executive Director and chief financial officer

WITEERY AR

Non-executive Director

FERITES

Independent non-executive Director

BIFRITES

Independent non-executive Director

BYFPTES

Independent non-executive Director

BIYIERITES

TXRAEEREESRSMNEEENBE -

ExefiRhmtREREN BRE-2HNTE
B AFRTEER=RBUFRTES - T
RENEREFENER -

Date of Appointment as
Director
BEZEREERH

March 26, 2018
20184 3 A 26 H

September 12, 2019
201949 5 12H

April 17, 2020
202044 A17H

January 10, 2020
2020 1 A 10H

February 20, 2019
20192 20 H

February 20, 2019
20192 H20H

February 20, 2019
2019F 2 H20H
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Yang Bin (# 3 ), aged 41, is an executive Director, the
chairman of the Board and chief executive officer of our Group. He
is responsible for the overall management, strategic planning and

decision-making of our Group.

Prior to joining our Group, From May 2009 to September 2011,
Mr. Yang served as chief operating officer in Beijing Gaoyang
Shengsiyuan Information Technology Company Limited (1t =55
BEEEHMARAT). From September 2011 to December 2014,
Mr. Yang served as director and chief executive officer in Beijing
Quanmeihui Technology Company Limited (It REXERFARL
al).

Mr. Yang, the co-founder of our Group, has more than 10 years’
experience in the mobile advertising industry, he started to serve
our Group since July 2013, where he is responsible for forming
our business model and coordinating the relationships between
our advertising platform and media publishers. He served as a
supervisor of Chitu Huanyu from July 2014 to June 2018. He served
as a chief executive officer in Feixun Hewo from December 2014 to
June 2018. He has been served as an executive director in Doumob
Advertisement since December 2014. He served as the chief
executive officer and the chairman of the board in Zhangshang
Yunjing from December 2014 to October 2016. Since October 2016,
Mr. Yang has been served as the chairman, a Director and the chief
executive officer in Doumob Technology and has been in charge of
the overall management, strategic planning and decision-making of

Doumob Technology.

Mr. Yang received his bachelor’'s degree in computer science and
technology from Beijing Armored Force Engineering Institute (3635
HFRETREZE) in July 2000.

DOUMOB EEBERIFZ AR AT
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Mr. Huang Kewang (&5 HE), aged 28, served as the chief product
officer in Doumob (Beijing) Technology Co., Ltd. (S8 (4L 50 ) BRI A%
AR AT (“Doumob Technology”), a subsidiary of the Company,
from October 2016 to September 2019. He also served as the
chairman of the supervisory committee of Doumob Technology
from October 2016 to April 2020. Mr. Huang is appointed as an
executive Director and co-chief executive officer of the Company on
12 September 2019. He has over 6 years’ working experience in this

industry.

Mr. HUANG received his bachelor’s degree in automation from
Beijing Institute of Fashion Technology in 2013.

Ms. Chen Xiaona (BREE#B), aged 34, is an executive Director and
vice president of our Group. She is responsible for overseeing our
sales and marketing, media publisher relations and assisting in

overall management of our Group.

Prior to joining our Group, from December 2010 to April 2011,
Ms. Chen worked in beijing Zhirong Weituo Technology Company
Limited (It RELERBHEBR2AF]). From May 2011 to June 2011,
Ms. Chen worked in beijing Ronglian Yitong Information Technology
Company Limited (3t RAH: 5l E BHAMARAR). From July 2011
to September 2011, Ms. Chen served as a manager in the business
department of beijing Gaoyang Shengsiyuan Information Technology
Company Limited (3t R&5E BEEERMARAE). From October
2011 to July 2012, Ms. Chen worked in beijing Ronglian Yitong
Information Technology Company Limited (1t A S5 REBRME
FR/AR]) . From July 2012 to September 2015, Ms. Chen served as a
supervisor in beijing Quanmeihui Technology Company Limited (4t
REEEREARRAT).

Ms. Chen began to serve for our Group since July 2013 as a
co-founder. She has been served as a manager in Doumob
Advertisement since December 2014. She served as a supervisor
in Feixun Hewo from December 2014 to June 2018. She served as
a director in Zhangshang Yunjing from December 2014 to October
2016. From October 2016 to April 2020, Ms. Chen served as a
Director in Doumob Technology.

Ms. Chen received her diploma in business administration from
Hebei Science and Technology University CR4EREHEAE) in July
2014.

Ms. Chen Xiaona has resigned as executive director of the company
with effect from September 12, 2019, subject to reassignment to a

position in the strategy department.
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Mr. Zheng Shunqi (ER)E), aged 37, is an executive Director and
vice president of our Group. He is responsible for overseeing our
daily business operations and assisting in overall management of

our Group.

Prior to joining our Group, from January 2011 to July 2012, Mr.
Zheng worked in beijing Ronglian Yitong Information Technology
Company Limited (3t R A 5 BESRKMBRAF).

Mr. Zheng began to serve for our Group since July 2013 as a co-
founder. He served as a chief operation officer in Zhangshang
Yunjing from August 2013 to October 2016. He has been served
as a supervisor in Doumob Advertisement since December 2014.
He served as an executive director in Feixun Hewo from December
2014 to June 2018. He has been served as an executive director
and a manager in Yamei Yunhe since August 2016. He served as a
supervisor in Shihong Internet from December 2015 to June 2018.
From October 2016 to April 2020, Mr. Zheng served as a Director in

Doumob Technology.

Mr. Zheng has studied in electronic information engineering from
Guilin University of Electronic Technology (H#MEFRIE KAL) from
September 2001 to December 2008. Mr. Zheng Shungi resigned as
an executive Director and re-allocated to a position in the Strategy

Department with effect from 12 September 2019.

Ms. Shi Hui (§i£), aged 36, is an executive Director, vice president,
chief financial officer and one of the joint company secretaries of
our Group. She is responsible for overseeing the financial affairs,
investor relations, compliance and company secretarial matters of

our Group.

Prior to joining our Group, from September 2007 to March 2014,
Ms. Shi served as a project manager in beijing Tianyuanquan
Accounting Firm (Jt R K [E 2 & 5 A £ % 7). From April 2014
to March 2016, Ms. Shi served as a project manager in beijing
Runding Investment Management Company Limited (it B RI&E
ERBRRA).

Ms. Shi began to serve for our Group since April 2016. She served
as an assistant to the chairman in Doumob Technology from April
2016 to October 2016. From October 2016 to April 2020, Ms. Shi
served as a Director in Doumob Technology.
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Ms. Shi received her bachelor’'s degree in financial management
from Hebei University of Economics and business (Off 4t & & K
&) in June 2006. Ms. Shi was accredited as a certified public
accountant by The Chinese Institute of Certified Public Accountants
in December 2009.

Ms. Shi hui resigned as the company’s executive director, vice
President, chief financial officer and joint company secretary on
December 6, 2019.

Ms. ZHOU Zoe, aged 36, joined our group in March 2019 as chief
marketing officer. Prior to the joining of our group, Ms. ZHOU has

more than 10 years’ working experience in media industry.

Ms. ZHOU received her bachelor’'s degree in finance from
the University of Adelaide in 2007 and her master’s degree in

communications from the University of Sydney in 2009.

Ms. ZHOU Zoe has resigned as an executive director of the

company on April 17, 2020.

Ms. Luo Yanhong (ZE¥.4L), aged 48, is an executive director
and chief financial officer of our Group. She is responsible for

overseeing the financial affairs of our Group.

Prior to joining our Group, Ms. Luo worked as a director and chief
financial officer in Sino Geophysical Co., Ltd. (EgeiB{Z s BRI
ABMRAT), a company listed on the ChiNext Market of Shenzhen
Stock Exchange (stock code: 300191), from March 2006 to July
2015. She served as a director, chief financial officer and secretary
to the board in Huahui (Beijing) Technology Co., Ltd. (b REZEE R
BERE MM AR AT, a company listed on the National Equities
Exchange and Quotations (2B /NPZERMEREZL) (stock code:
838253) in August 2016 and later delisted in April 2019, from August
2015 to December 2016. Ms. LUO served as chief financial officer
and secretary to the board in Zhongdi Baolian (Beijing) Construction
Engineering Co., Ltd. (i EBUER)E L EIRENE Kl 5 & &£ H
ABR7AR]), a limited liability company incorporated in China, from
January 2017 to February 2020.

On March 2, 2020, she was the chief financial officer of our Group
and was appointed as an executive director of our Group on 17
April 2020.

Mr. Luo received her bachelor’'s degree in accounting from
Zhongnan University of Economics and Law in 1997; She received
her MBA in economic management from City University of Macau
CRPIEMAEZ) in 2013,
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. LIU Ailu(2/3 &), aged 28, served as a senior analyst in
BDA China Limited (Jt RiFE R AR AER A F), a limited liability
company incorporated in China, from 2014 to 2017. Since 2017,
Mr. LIU has been an investment director (& #25)in BlueFocus
Intelligent Communications Group Co., Ltd (1t R & & iZHIER
XA ABBRAR]), one of our substantial shareholders having 14.29%
shareholding interest in the Company.

Mr. LIU obtained a bachelor’s degree in economics from University
of California, at Berkeley in 2013.

Ms. Wang Ge (E1%§), aged 38, is an non-executive Director of our
Group. She is responsible for supervising the management of our
Group.

From August 2006 to March 2008, Ms. Wang served as an auditor in
PricewaterhouseCoopers Zhong Tian (E#EjGEP RS EIERHT) .
From March 2008 to September 2014, she served as an attorney
in Freshfields bruckhaus Deringer (HBE miE@EME&HT). From
October 2014 to February 2017, she served as an attorney in Davis
Polk & Wardwell LLP (EEI:Z#EERIE5FT) . Since March 2017, Ms.
Wang has been served as the head of legal affairs department in
blue Focus. She was appointed as a non-executive Director on 14
August 2018.

Ms. Wang received her bachelor’'s degree in accounting from
Guangdong University of Foreign Studies (EHIMEINEKE) in
June 2002 and later received her master's degree in laws from
Peking University (1t AZ) in July 2006. She also received her
master’s degree in international tax law from the law school of New
York University (4##1K2) in September 2009.

Ms. Wang Ge has resigned as a non-executive director of the
company with effect from 10 January 2020.

Mr. Yang Zhenghong (% IE % ), aged 53, is a non-executive
Director of our Group. He is responsible for supervising the
management of our Group.

Since January 2003, Mr. Yang Zhenghong worked as the chairman
of the board of beijing Zhong Ruan Jin Ka Information Technology
Company Limited (b€ REERMAERFE AR ). From
February 2010 to present, Mr. Yang Zhenghong has been working
as the chairman of the board of beijing Dongfang Hongdao Assets
Management Company Limited (dtREALABEEEEARETA
7). He was appointed as a non-executive Director of our Company
on 21 August 2018.
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Mr. Yang Zhenghong received his bachelor’s degree in automation
from Tsinghua University (jEZ K £) in July 1990. He received
EMBA from China Europe International business School (FREEIFE T
Pt ) in September 2009.

Mr. Yang Zhenghong has resigned as a non-executive director of
the company and as a member of the audit committee with effect
from 30 August 2019.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chan Yiu Kwong (FR#*), aged 55, is an independent non-
executive Director. He is responsible for supervising our Board and

providing independent judgment.

From June 2004 to July 2006, Mr. Chan served as an independent
non-executive director of Beijing Enterprises Water Group Limited
(b kIEEBAERAR) (formerly known as “Shang Hua Holding
Limited” ( LZEERAER A E]), a company listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 0371.HK). From March 2001
to December 2007, Mr. Chan served as an executive director of
Hi Sun Technology (China) Limited (SR (FE)ERAR), a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 0818.HK). Between 2005 and 2010, Mr. Chan served as an
independent non-executive director of Biosino Bio-Technology and
Science Incorporation (FRAEILIEAYEHERH AR AE]), a company
listed on the Growth Enterprises Market of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 8247.HK). On 9 November, 2007, he was appointed
as the independent non-executive director of A8 New Media Group
Limited, a company listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange
(Stock Code: 800). Mr. Chan currently serves as a joint company
secretary of Hi Sun Technology (China) Limited and a joint company
secretary of PAX Global Technology Limited (BEBHERARA
7)), a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 0327.HK). He has many years of diversified experience
in auditing, business advisory and corporate management. He was
appointed as an independent non-executive Director on February
20, 2019.
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Mr. Chan graduated from the University of Hong Kong with a
bachelor’s degree in social sciences in 1988. He was admitted as a
fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants
in 1999. He was admitted as a fellow member of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants and a fellow member of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants in 2002 and 2005,
respectively.

Mr. Liu Binghai (2/58:8), aged 49, is an independent non-executive
Director. He is responsible for supervising our Board and providing

independent judgment.

Since December 2010, Mr. Liu has been served as the chief
executive officer in Beijing Zhangshangwang Technologies
Company Limited (b RZE E@BHXBEMRAF). Since June 2016,
Mr. Liu has been served as a director in Zhejiang Merit Interactive
Network Technology Co., Ltd. (/T & B B #)@ERHRRHOBRAAD) .
He was appointed as an independent non-executive Director on
February 20, 2019.

Mr. Liu received his master's degree in machinery manufacturing
from Beijing University of Technology (Jt T K2) in 1996. He
received his EMBA from Cheung Kong Graduate School of Business
(RIIAZM) in 2009.

Mr. Wang Yingzhe (E%#), aged 49, is an independent non-
executive Director. He is responsible for supervising our Board
and providing independent judgment. From June 1997 to August
2009, Mr. Wang served as attorney and subsequently a partner in
Jingtian & Gongcheng (LR AQBAEMEIEFT) . In 2009, Mr.
Wang founded Fenxun Partners (ZRZEMEFT) and served as the
managing partner since then. Mr. Wang has been resigned from in
Shenyang Singi Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (&5 E7EREER D AR A
7)), a company listed on Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock code:
300573), Shan’xi Xifeng Liquor Co., Ltd. (BRAGFBUERMKD AR AR
and Xi'an Huajiang Environmental Technologies Co., Ltd. (FAZZE
STTIRIRRIEREM AR AT, a company listed on NEEQ (stock code:
833147) with an effective date January 25, 2018 and September
13, 2018 respectively. He was appointed as an independent non-

executive Director on February 20, 2019.

Mr. Wang received his bachelor’'s degree in laws from the law
school of Jilin University (F#MAZEXEE ) in 1992 and he received
his master’s degree in laws from University of California, Berkeley in
2008.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT
Mr. Yang Bin (#3&), see “— Executive Directors” for details.

Mr. Huang Kewang (E 5% FBL), see “— Executive Directors” for

details.
Ms. Zhou Zoe, see “— Executive Directors” for details.

Ms. Luo Yanhong, see “— Executive Directors” for details.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEERENWR D

OVERVIEW

We operate business in the mobile advertising industry. Our
proprietary advertising platform and technologies help media
publishers monetize their traffic through displays of advertisements
on the one hand, and help advertisers maximize the effectiveness
of their advertising delivery on the other. Our mission is to empower

media publishers of all sizes to unlock their value.

The Company was listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
on 14 March 2019. The Listing marks an important milestone in
the Company’s history and is the initial progress for its efforts in

business development and innovation over the past few years.

All our services are, broadly speaking, intermediary services
because as an advertising technology company, our role is to
connect advertisers with media publishers. Our services, however,
can be divided into two categories: services provided by our
proprietary technology platform (which we refer to as “Technology
Services”), and the traditional intermediary services (which we refer

to as, for the sake of simplicity, “Intermediary Services”).

Since our establishment, we have been providing advertising
services both as Technology Services through our proprietary
advertising platform and as Intermediary Services, which are
complementary to each other. Generally, we prefer providing
Technology Services over Intermediary Services due to its higher

gross profit margin.

In 2019, the contribution from our Technology Services to our total
revenue increased significantly. Revenue from Technology Services
accounted for 80.2% of our total revenue in 2019, while revenue
from Intermediary Services accounted for 19.2% of our total revenue
in the same period. The higher percentage of Technology Services
revenue contribution increased the overall gross profit margin of the

Company.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Our total revenue of 2019 dropped by 46.3% compared with the
same period in 2018, mainly due to: (1) intensified competition within
the industry amid sluggish market sentiment during the second half
of 2019 due to increasingly cut-throat market competition across
the external environment coupled with the escalating trade war
between the U.S. and China; (2) the Company’s pursuit of improving
the gross profit margin by gradual strategic shift of business focus
from non-interactive advertising business to interactive advertising
business along with selective abandonment of some non-interactive
advertising business; (3) increased efforts and resources put into
research and development and promotion of our short video cloud
platform, yet much time is needed to realize revenue. Nevertheless,
our gross profit margin of 2019 increased from 23.7% for the same
period in 2018 to 27.6%. We believe the strategic shift of business
focus is a positive move and in the best interest of our long-term

development.

We have kept on innovating the form of advertisement in order to
provide better advertising services for both advertisers and media
publishers. After investing half-year in research and development,
we pioneeringly launched the form of interactive video advertising
in H5 format in June 2019, integrating interactive advertising with
short video. In August 2019, apart from launching the empowerment
plan of our short video cloud platform, we also sharpened our
efforts in exploring innovative communication channels such as
interactive short dramas with qualified story content complemented
by interactive video technology. 2019 is the first year of 5G’s
commercializing era. We embraced the 5G era with our interactive
video advertising product, which gave us early-entry advantage in

the 5G era and a solid foundation for our future nimble growth.

We consistently value the long-term development of our business,
and pay attention to gross profit margin and cash flow. In 2019, the

Company have positive net operating cash inflow.

2019 IR 25 458 2018 F R B TN % 46.3%
TEZRAER: (NINPTBHRF AZAZ - N2
TE AR TR EE FEEH2019F TH¥F W
RATE TEBRFNE Q) RAAHREAEF
EHFR - BEBEORIFEBESEB TR
BITEBIEEEE RS AEBORET —L&
FEHESEER Q)BRMBARZHANME
RIS REREERAETE BEREHRERE
BFRIEEIE - BR2019F TR R TR
23.7% = E|2019F K 27.6% - BMREBED
EONRBEBRRERMN  FEARRBRERM

Rz o

BMRBEFRRERSER LA - UHETW
PRI S £ R B & o BT ¥ F RV
- B 2019F 6 AR LA MISH L H5 R 48
ERES  BEDESHFAERRELEE
G 20198 AN R B EETEResE
[F) BRHE 3 BR M B L i S 0 A B G B AR SR AR AR
HEEMEHEEISHENBITBEETER - £56
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEBTWRDN

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 COMPARED TO

THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

The following table sets forth the comparative statements of profit or

loss for the year ended 31 December 2019 and the year ended 31

December 2018.

For the year ended 31 December

BZ2019F12A831BLEFEHEEZE
2018 12 A31 HILEEELR

TREFIEHE2019F 12 AT B LEEHE S
2018 F 12 A31 HIL FE LB MIEZE R ©

Year-on-year

BZE12A31ALEE Rt
2019 2018 change%
2019 % 2018 EEE A
(RMB’000) (RMB’000)
(AR#Fi) (AR®Fr)
Revenue Wz 189,450 352,611 -46.3%
Cost of sales THE KA (137,144) (269,026) -49.0%
Gross profit E 52,306 83,585 -37.4%
Other income and other net Hn A R E A
gains/(losses) W,/ (B18)%58 8,089 1,067 658.1%
Change in fair value of: MWTEENARE
— financial assets at fair value — 2R EFAEBZEH
through profit or loss MHEE 700 1,613 -56.6%
Selling and distribution HERDHFAX
expenses (10,730) (8,070) 33.0%
Administrative expenses THFRX (39,719) (35,329) 12.4%
Finance costs BhE AR (45) — N/A 73
Profit before income tax credit K755 & % A% F 10,601 42 866 -75.3%
Income tax credit FGBiE % 314 297 5.7%
Profit and total comprehensive FRERR2H
income for the year Wi 58 10,915 43,163 74.7%
Profit and total comprehensive LT A+REEER
income for the year BAREZE
attributable to: WAz
Owners of the Company RNAREAA 10,917 43,219 74.7%
Non-controlling interests FEIE RIS (2) (56) -96.4%
10,915 43,163 -74.7%
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEESWmE DM

REVENUE Wz

TREHNEPIEZE 2019F X 2018F 12 A31H
IFFER SRR

The following table sets forth the breakdown of our revenue for the
year ended 31 December 2019 and 2018:

For the year ended 31 December
HZ12A31HLFE

2019 F 20184

(% of total (% of total

(RMB’000) revenue) (RMB’000) revenue)

(152 (hlfezs

(AE#Fr) BEEIE) (AR#EFT) BEEHSIE)

Interactive advertising EgES 161,933 85.5% 226,621 64.3%
— Technology services — KR 151,931 80.2% 171,580 48.7%
— Intermediary services — BN R 10,002 5.3% 55,041 15.6%
Non-interactive advertising FEEES 26,394 13.9% 123,562 35.0%
— Technology services — AR - 0% — 0%
— Intermediary services — BN R 26,394 13.9% 123,562 35.0%
Online sales services BREEERKE 1,123 0.6% 2,428 0.7%
Total et 189,450 100.0% 352,611 100.0%

B E2019F12A31BLEFE WEREYH
" AR 18958 B Tt 20185 & 4 &
46.3% * FEHMN(N)INBHIHHRF BmAz
Mz PEZFEREMISRBENTE  1TEHFN
Bl (2) SRES MR TS E 0 e 1 B FDE &
HKEESHNESESEED Q) ARFAEFRARSZA
NFERAENEREERAETE - BEKEH
FRRKHEESR -

For the year ended 31 December 2019, total revenue was
approximately RMB189.5 million, representing an decrease of
approximately 46.3% as compared with 2018. This was mainly
attributable to (1) intensified competition within the industry as
the market and economy were impeded by increasingly cut-throat
market competition across the external environment coupled with
the escalating trade war between the U.S. and China; (2) gradual
strategic shift of business focus to interactive advertising business
with higher profit margin; (3) more efforts and resources being
invested by the Company to the research and development and
promotion of our short video cloud platform yet much time is needed

to realize revenue.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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COST OF SALES

Our cost of sales was decreased by 49.0% from RMB269.0 million
in 2018 to RMB137.1 million in 2019. This was mainly attributable to
the decrease in total revenue, which lowered the traffic acquisition

cost payable to the media publishers correspondingly.

GROSS PROFIT AND GROSS PROFIT MARGIN

Our gross profit was RMB52.3 million for 2019, representing a year-
on-year decrease of approximately 37.4%. Our gross profit margin
was 27.6% for 2019, as compared with 23.7% for 2018.

The decrease in the gross profit was mainly attributable to the
decrease in total revenue; the increase in gross profit margin was
mainly attributable to the increased proportion of revenue from the
provision of interactive advertising with Technology Services, which

generated a higher profit margin than Intermediary Services.

EXPENSES
Selling and Distribution Expenses

Our selling and distribution expenses primarily consist of staff
salaries and benefits. The selling and distribution expenses were
RMB10.7 million for 2019, representing an increase of 33.0% (2018:
RMB8.1 million). This was mainly attributable to: (1) the increase in
the number of employees of selling and distribution; (2) the increase

in marketing cost in line with the promotion of new business.
Administrative Expenses

Our administrative expenses primarily consist of (i) staff salaries and
benefits; (ii) provision for impairment losses on trade receivables
and contract assets; (iii) legal and professional fee; (iv) agent
cost; (v) short term lease expenses; (vi) research and development
expenditure; (vii) auditors’ remuneration; and (viii) listing expenses.
The administrative expenses were RMB39.7 million for 2019,
representing an increase of 12.4% (2018: RMB35.3 million). The
increase was mainly attributable to: (1) the increase in the number
of employees and wages due to the overall development of our
business; (2) additional intangible assets which resulted in the
increase in amortization of intangible assets; and (3) the increase in

the fees payable to professional service provider after the listing.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Income Tax Credit

Our income tax credit consist of current income tax and deferred
income tax. The income tax credit were RMBO0.3 million for 2019,
about the same for 2018 (2018: RMBO0.3 million). This was mainly
attributable to the deferred tax effect arising from the temporary
difference on provision for impairment losses on trade receivables
and contract assets. For the year ended 31 December 2019, the
nominal income tax rate for our major domestic operating entities

was approximately 25%.

NON-HKFRS MEASURES

To supplement our consolidated financial information which is
presented in accordance with HKFRS, we set forth below our
adjusted net profit as an additional financial measure which is not
presented in accordance with HKFRS. We believe this is meaningful,
because the management has eliminated the potential impacts of
certain items which were not considered indicative of our operating
performance, and this would be useful for investors to compare our

financial results directly with those of our peer companies.

Adjusted net profit eliminates the effect of certain non-cash or non-
recurring items, namely listing-related expenses. The term “adjusted
net profit” is not defined under HKFRS. The use of adjusted net
profit has material limitations as an analytical tool, as adjusted net
profit does not include all items that impact our net profit for the
year. The following table reconciles our adjusted net profit for the
periods indicated to the most directly comparable financial measure

calculated and presented in accordance with HKFRS:

FREHER

PSS RIERBENBER RELHE
o 2019FFTEHERAARKBOIFET
H2018F A M MR(20184F : AR03H &
) XZEBAREHENHERANEERNRE
EERENEREZEERAREEHIELE - 8
ZE2019F12A31MHIEFE  ZMHORREE
KEBRNEERMETELR25% °

FERBUMBRELEANGE

E%ﬁﬁ@ﬁ%%%%ﬁ%ﬁ%zﬂ%mAﬁﬁ
ERETHIE - BPIR TIXES IR IR &
ﬂﬁﬁm#ﬂ%%%%%ﬁm+W£WWE@M
BEtE - HIEE - WRAAER  REAR/RER
BELBRAL B 2R ARMALERAEENE
TEENEEZE  BEAKREESRMANGT
BEREBRERZEARMNEELETHER -

AR MNIGRE TR I FERFHIEB N
Z AMEmBEERE  [KRBREHN]—FARE
BB ELNETRETE - RREHEAT
VE?% AT TEFAEERES - REFLFHELR

BREMBZERMFNMATNIEE - TR
WF?E/\Fﬁ/T\HHFEJE’JZ“ BARNRBEEEV KR
SRAFERZINREE A OV BT 20%
BE -

For the year ended

31 December

HE12A31ALEE

PLRE) 2018
2019 F 2018 £

(RMB’000) (RMB’000)

(AR¥TFr) (AREFr)

Profit for the year FERHF 10,915 43,163
Add: /I

Listing-related expenses FTARBERE 9,560 17,596

Adjusted net profit LT 20,475 60,759
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In light of the foregoing limitations for other financial measures,
when assessing our operating and financial performance, adjusted
net profit cannot be considered in isolation or as a substitute
for our profit for the year, operating profit or any other operating
performance measure that is calculated in accordance with HKFRS.
In addition, because such measure may not be calculated in the
same manner by all companies, it may not be comparable to other

similar titled measures used by other companies.

FINANCIAL POSITIONS

As of 31 December 2019, our total equity was approximately
RMB300.3 million, as compared with approximately RMB240.0
million as of 31 December 2018. The total equity representing an
increase of approximately 25.1% as compared with 2018. The
increase was mainly attributable to the increase in profit from
operating activities and the proceeds raised from the Global
Offering.

As of 31 December 2019, our net current assets were approximately
RMB233.2 million, as compared with approximately RMB215.0
million as of 31 December 2018. The net current assets representing
an increase of approximately 8.5% as compared with 2018. The
increase was mainly attributable to the increase in cash and cash
equivalents and time deposits in banks and the decrease in trade

and other payables.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

ER DR EAP BT ENRS - RFHERMANK
ENMBREAR - TEEBEBLABATIZIA
BB RBEEMBRE LT EOFREF
REREN ST EMEERDOFTE » B /A
RARGIB ARG AERS AFELIAFE - B
N—ERREEM AR AN EMENUSBNFE
ELLER

B # R

HZE2019F 128310 RAMEZBELN A
AR¥30038&T - MEIZ 2018412 A31H
BB ARB2400B8 8T - = AEFEER 2018
FI-MNAI25.1% © ZIEMEZBRELEEEIF
EAEIE MR R EEEEE ST -

HZE20194 128318 RPN ABHEEFE
HNR/ARKE2332HET - MBIZ20184F 124
S1RBIKAARKE 215058 - REBEEFE
B 2018 FIENHAI8.5% ° :ZIEMEBHRBE R
ReEEBMURRITERFRIGNRE S REM
JE A SRR D T B

RBESTRMBEIR

31 December

31 December

2019 2018 Change %
2019 2018 F BEHS

12831 H 12H31H

(RMB’000) (RMB’000)

(AE¥FT) (AR®TFT)
Cash at banks and on hand RITRFHEERES 165,932 132,912 24.8%
Restricted funds ZRHE ® — — —
Banking facilities RITIRE — — -
Total MEt 165,932 132,912 24.8%
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As of 31 December 2019, our cash at banks and on hand totaled
RMB165.9 million, as compared with RMB132.9 million as of 31
December 2018. The change was mainly attributable to the increase
in cash from operating activities and the proceeds raised from the
Global Offering.

GEARING RATIO

As of 31 December 2019, our gearing ratio, which is calculated
as total debt divided by total assets, was 8.5%, as compared with
23.2% as of 31 December 2018.

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE

Our capital expenditure includes expenditures on furniture, fixtures
and office equipment, computers and motor vehicles. For the year
ended 31 December 2019, the Company has no capital expenditure
(2018: RMB245,000).

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS, ACQUISITIONS AND
DISPOSALS

The Company did not have any significant investment, acquisition

and disposal for the year ended 31 December 2019.

CHARGE ON ASSETS

As of 31 December 2019, no property, plant and equipment was

pledged.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND GUARANTEES

As of 31 December 2019, we did not have any unrecorded
significant contingent liabilities, guarantees or any litigation against

us.

HZE2019F 128318 RMWBITRFER
SR AARB165.9B 8T - MEZE20184F
12A31HAABARKE1320H&E L - 288 =
EHANEEFHMERENENRERBEESE
BE ST o

BEEAELXR

REKEREGRNEEREE - HE2019F 12
AHMEEBEL X AE85% @ MaEE2018
F12A31HAIAE23.2% °

BEXRAX

BPMNEAAZBERA - RERBAERE
BMRTEMNME - BiE2019F12A31H Lk
FE - ARAEAERMEZ(20184F : AR
245,000 7T) °

BEARE -WBRHE

HZE2019F 12 A31HIEFE » ARQRWEL
AEAEE - WENHE -

BEERR

HE2019F 128310 MEGHITMYE -
TR R 5% A e

FAREBERER

HZE2019F 12 A31H » F A I £T 7] K 52 8%
MEASARBE  ERIETERMANTARER

A e
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EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As of 31 December 2019, our employee remuneration totaled
approximately RMB25.4 million (including directors’ emoluments,
staff salary, bonus, share-based compensation, pension scheme
contribution, other social security fund and other employee

benefits).

The remuneration of our employees is determined based on their
performance, experience, competence and market comparables.
Their remuneration package includes salaries, bonus related to our
performance, allowances and state-managed retirement benefit
schemes for employees in the PRC. The Company also provides
customized training to its staff to enhance their technical and

product knowledge.

The remuneration of Directors and members of senior management
is determined on the basis of each individual's responsibilities,
qualification, position, experience, performance, seniority and time
devoted to our business. They receive compensation in the form of
salaries, bonuses, RSUs, and other allowances and benefits-in-kind,
including the Company’s contribution to their pension schemes on
their behalf.

USE OF NET PROCEEDS FROM GLOBAL
OFFERING

The net proceeds from the Global Offering in 2019 were
approximately HK$27 million, as calculated by deducting all
expenditures paid by us in connection with the Global Offering,
including those capitalized and expensed, from the gross proceeds
raised. During the year, there was no change in the intended use
of net proceeds as previously disclosed in the Prospectus. As at
31 December 2019, the Company has utilised HK$11,524,000 of
the net proceeds from the Global Offering. For the amounts not yet
utilised, the Company will apply the remaining net proceeds in the
manner set out in the Prospectus. As at the Latest Practicable Date,
pursuant to the Prospectus, the remaining proceeds shall be utilised
in the next 2 years. As at 31 December 2019, the following table

sets out the breakdown of the use of proceeds from global offering:
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As of 31 December 2019
BZ2019%12831A1

Percentage Net Utilised Unutilised
% Proceeds Amount Amount
e FBRERE CHASE ABAEE
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET FET
To strengthen algorithm and data BRAREERSR
mining capabilities of programmatic BEER LR
advertising system and to invest in BRENRIRE
other technologies in big data and Al H i KB A T2 50T 20% 5,400 2,668 2,732
To expand the base of advertisers and BREES T RFR
media publishers BhEER 20% 5,400 1,959 3,441
To invest in traffic acquisition cost for the ~ BAEEEHEL
selfowned media publisher RERIR AR A 20% 5,400 2,713 2,687
To pursue strategic cooperation, SREBAE  RERKE
investments and acquisition 10% 2,700 — 2,700
To enhance the functionality and HEEHEETA
architecture of the proprietary YT
advertising platform 10% 2,700 1,270 1,430
To develop new products FEMER 5% 1,350 755 595
To expand and train our teams BE KIEE 5% 1,350 308 1,042
For working capital and general corporate  48&4 k—ME¥R%E
purposes 10% 2,700 1,851 849
Total at 100% 27,000 11,524 15,476

Note: The difference between the actual net proceeds from the Global
Offering and the previous estimation mainly represents underwriting
incentive fees overtime payment to intermediaries and other
miscellaneous fees which were determined after listing.

EVENTS AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

Since January 2020, the outbreak of Coronavirus Disease 2019
(“COVID-19") has impact on the global business environment. As
at the Latest Practicable Date, the Group was not aware of any
material adverse effects on the financial statements as a result of
the COVID-19. Pending the development and spread of COVID-19
subsequent to the date of these financial statements, further
changes in economic conditions for the Group arising thereof
may have impact on the financial results of the Group, the extent
of which could not be estimated as at the date of these financial
statements. The Group will keep continuous attention on the
situation of the COVID-19 and evaluate its impact on the financial

position and operating results of the Group.

Bet: 2B EERMAGHIRFREZ AN ZRIER
BHEEHE  PORENENZE AR HIES
B MABSEIIN EWRETE -

BEMRER

H 20204 1 AfE 2019 B fmE % ([ COVID-19])
EERE  RERERRE -  NRRERT
BHE - AREBE I T COVID-19 B T ¥R KR 3K
EAIEARTHFE o 15T COVID-19 N ARF 53R %
BEIEMEBEEREEER - A% B LERR
E iR —SEE)  AAREBMNMEEERS
REFE  WRAMBEREAREEETIVE
BE - NEBGEERECOVID-19MEIBEE -
THEEHAEEN B RS EEENTE o
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OUTLOOK FOR 2020

Our mission is to empower media publishers of all sizes to unlock
their value through mobile advertising technology. In this regard,
in 2020, we plan to continue to develop our interactive advertising
services, fully grasp the underlying technology trend of the 5G
industry and make continuous efforts in product technological

innovation to provide customers with greater value:

We are an early entrant to the interactive advertising market, which
provides us with certain advantages in terms of market share and

reputation. To solidify our market position, we intend to:

o Continue to focus on improving the strength of advertising
technology, advertising effectiveness and media monetization

efficiency.

We intend to continue improving our data collection ability by
encouraging more advertisers and media publishers to implant the
various connection tools we provide to them, including SDKs, APIs,
JavaScript tags and short video mini programs. In particular, we will
seek to attract more advertisers and media publishers to embed our
SDKs and APls, to enable us to gain better insights into their visitors’
browsing activities. Meanwhile, our 128 User Portrait Engine (128
FE%35|%) helps identify visitors, which is beneficial to the click-
through rate and conversion rate. Our advertising system and short
video cloud platform will continue to advance intelligence, and the
machines will optimize the advertising and video recommendation

effectiveness.

. Endeavor to make innovations in the underlying technology
of the 5G industry, develop short video platform and expand

interactive video advertisement business.

We plan to continue our investments in technological innovations
in interactive H5 video, develop the short video cloud platform,
expand interactive video advertisement business and provide
customers with the “Empowerment Plan (BH4E5HE]) ", help content
creators, media and advertisers build private traffic and enhance
their business value. They can activate the full connection with
users through our short video cloud platform. Through these efforts,

we may stay competitive in the long run.

. Explore new diversified development.
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Ensuring the steady advancement of the existing businesses, we
plan to go further by exploring new diversified development of
culture + technology and content + channel. Leveraging our rich
experience in smart traffic operation and the advantage of 5G
smart technology resources, we will explore new smart application
scenarios and maximize the application of our 5G technology to
related industries online and offline.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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The Company is committed to achieving and maintaining high
standards of corporate governance by focusing on principles of
integrity, accountability, transparency, independence, responsibility
and fairness. The Company has developed and implemented sound
corporate governance policies and measures, and the Board is
responsible for performing such corporate governance duties. The
Board will continue to review and monitor the corporate governance
of the Company, as well as various internal policies and procedures,
including but not limited to those applicable to employees and
Directors, with reference to the Corporate Governance Code and
Corporate Governance Report (the “Code”) set out in Appendix
14 to the Listing Rules and other applicable legal and regulatory
requirements so as to maintain a high standard of corporate

governance of the Company.

During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company has
complied with the applicable code provisions of the Code as set out
in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules other than code provision A.2.1,
which stipulates that the roles of chairman and chief executive
officer should be separate and should not be performed by the

same individual.

Mr. Yang is our founder, chairman of the Board and Co-CEO.
With extensive experience in the online advertisement industry,
Mr. Yang is responsible for the overall management, decision-
making and strategy planning of our Group and is instrumental to
our Group’s growth and business expansion since establishment.
Since Mr. Yang is the key reason for our Group’s development
and he will not undermine our Group’s interests in any way under
any circumstances, our Board considers that vesting the roles of
chairman and chief executive officer in the same person, Mr. Yang,
would not create any potential harm to the interest of our Group and
it is, on the contrary, beneficial to the management of our Group.
On September 12, 2019, Mr. Huang Kewang was appointed as a
Co-CEO who began to perform the functions of CEO together with
Mr. Yang Bin. In addition, the operation of the senior management
and our Board, which are comprised of experienced individuals,
effectively checks and balances the power and authority of Mr.
Yang, as both the chairman and Co-CEO of our Group. Our Board
currently comprises three executive Directors (including Mr. Yang),
one non-executive Director and three independent non-executive
Directors and therefore has a fairly strong independence element in

its composition.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is responsible for leadership and the internal control
of the Company and oversees the Group’s businesses, strategic
decisions and performance and is collectively responsible for
promoting the success of the Company by directing and supervising
its affairs. The Board has general powers for the management and
is conducting the Company’s business. The day-to-day operations
and management are delegated by the Board to the management
of the Company, who will implement the strategy and direction as

determined by the Board.

The Board currently consists of seven Directors, namely Mr. Yang
Bin (chairman and Co-CEQO), Mr. Huang Kewang (Co-CEO) and
Ms. Luo Yanhong as executive Directors, Mr. Liu Ailun as non-
executive Director, Mr. Chan Yiu Kwong, Mr. Liu Binghai and Mr.
Wang Yingzhe as independent non-executive Directors. None of
the Directors has a relationship (including financial, family or other
substantial or related relationship) with each other. The Board has a
balance of skills and experience appropriate for the requirements of

the business of the Company.

The biographies of the Directors the Company are set out on pages

17 to 25 of this annual report.

Each of the executive Directors and non-executive Director of the
Company has entered into a service contract with the Company.
Each of independent non-executive Directors has signed a letter
of appointment with the Company for an initial term of three years
since the Listing Date or their respective date of appointments and
is subject to retirement by rotation at an annual general meeting at
least once every three years. These service contracts and letters
of appointments are subject to termination in accordance with their
respective terms. The term of the service contracts and the letters
of appointment may be renewed in accordance with the articles of
association of the Company, the Listing Rules and other applicable

laws.
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Code provision A.4.1 of the CG Code stipulates that non-executive
Directors shall be appointed for a specific term, subject to re-
election, whereas code provision A.4.2 states that all directors
appointed to fill a casual vacancy should be subject to election by
shareholders at the first general meeting after appointment and that
every director, including those appointed for a specific term, should

be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years.

In accordance with the Articles of Association, all the directors are
subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years.
Any new director appointed by the Board (i) to fill a casual vacancy
in the Board shall hold office only until the first general meeting of
the Company following his appointment and shall be subject to re-
election at such meeting; and (ii) as an addition to the Board shall
hold office until the next following annual general meeting of the

Company and shall then be eligible for re-election.

The aggregate remuneration (including fees, salaries, contributions
to pension schemes, share-based compensation expenses,
discretionary bonuses, housing and other allowances and other
benefits in kind) payable to the Directors of the Company for the

year ended December 31, 2019 was approximately RMB3.9 million.

The remuneration of the Directors of the Company is determined
with reference to salaries paid by comparable companies, time
commitment and responsibilities of the Directors and performance
of the Group. Details of the remuneration of the Directors and senior
management for the year ended December 31, 2019 are set out in

note 13 and note 31 to the consolidated financial statements.

The company has arranged appropriate insurance cover in respect

of legal proceedings against the Directors of the Company.

The procedure agreed by the Board to enable Directors, upon
reasonable request, to seek independent professional advice in
appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s expense as required

pursuant to the Clause A.1.6 of the Code.
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During the period since the Listing Date and up to the Latest
Practicable Date, the Board at all times complied with Rule 3.10A
of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at least three
independent non-executive Directors, representing one-third of the
Board, of whom Mr. Chan Yiu Kwong is the Director possessing
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related

financial management expertise.

The Company has received a written confirmation of independence
from each of the independent non-executive Directors pursuant
to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, and considers them to be

independent.

Directors have access to the services of the company secretary
to ensure that the Board procedures are followed. The company
secretary of the Company is Ms. So Shuk Yi Betty. In compliance
with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules, Ms. So Shuk Yi Betty have
undertaken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training
during the year ended 31 December 2019. Ms. So Shuk Yi Betty is
the vice president of SW Corporate Services Group (Hong Kong)
Limited and appointed as the company secretary. Ms. So Shuk Yi
Betty has the necessary qualifications and experience as required
under Rule 3.28 and 8.17 of the Listing Rules. The main contact
person of Ms. So Shuk Yi Betty in the Company is Ms. Luo Yanhong,

the executive Director and chief financial officer of the Company.

All Directors attended various trainings in the reporting period,
including trainings regarding the updating of the Listing Rules,
the responsibilities and continuous obligations of Directors and
the Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide. The
Company had arranged suitable trainings for all Directors in order
to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills as part of their

continuous professional development.

The Company is committed to continuously reviewing and improving
its internal systems, including those in relation to internal supervision

and control, and risk management.
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Board Meeting

The Company adopts a practice to convene Board meetings
regularly which is at least four meetings per year and roughly on
a quarterly basis. A notice of a regular Board meeting shall be
delivered to all the Directors at least 14 days in advance with the
matters to be discussed specified in agenda of the meeting. For
other Board and committee meetings, reasonable notice is generally
served. Agendas or relevant documents of the Board or committee
meetings shall be despatched to the Directors or members of the
committees at least 3 days prior to the convening of the meetings
to ensure that they have sufficient time to review the relevant
documents and be adequately prepared for the meetings. When
Directors or committee members are unable to attend a meeting,
they will be advised of the matters to be discussed and given an
opportunity to make their views known to the Chairman prior to the
meeting. The minutes are kept by the company secretary of the
Company and the copies are circulated to all Directors for reference

and record purpose.

The minutes of the Board meetings and committees thoroughly
were recorded all matters under consideration and decisions made
including any problems raised by the Directors. Draft minutes
of each board meeting and committee meeting are sent to the
Directors for comments within a reasonable time after the date
on which the meeting is held. Directors have a right to review the

minutes of the Board meetings and the committee meetings.
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During the year ended 31 December, 2019, five board meetings

were held.

The attendance of the above meetings by each Director is as

follows:

Name of Directors™** EEp gl
Mr. YANG Bin TR S A4

Mr. HUANG Kewang' e
Ms. CHEN Xiaona® PoR B P £z 4
Mr. ZHENG Shungi® B0 g ot o A °
Ms. SHI Hui* HIE= o il
Ms. ZHOU Zoe® ZHOU Zoe Z+°
Ms. LUO Yanhong® Pl AR g
Mr. LIU Ailun’ 21w’
Ms. WANG Ge® Fgrt®
Mr. YANG Zhenghong® BIEREE’
Mr. CHAN Yiu Kwong PR B 5 A
Mr. LIU Binghai 2R kA
Mr. WANG Yingzhe FRELAE

Notes:

1.

Apart

Mr. HUANG Kewang has been appointed as an executive Director on
12 September 2019.

Ms. CHEN Xiaona has resigned as an executive Director on 12
September 2019.

Mr. ZHENG Shungi has resigned as an executive Director on 12
September 2019.

Ms. SHI Hui has resigned as an executive Director on 6 December
2019.

Ms. ZHOU Zoe has resigned as an executive Director on 17 April 2020.

Ms. LUO Yanhong has been appointed as an executive Director on 17
April 2020.

Mr. LIU Ailun has been appointed as a non-executive Director with
effect from 10 January 2020.

Ms. WANG Ge has resigned as a non-executive Director with effective
from 10 January 2020.

Mr. YANG Zhenghong has resigned as a non-executive Director on 30
August 2019.

from formal meetings, other matters subject to the approval of

the Board were handled in the form of written resolutions.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Company has three principal Board committees, namely the
Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration
Committee. Each of the Board committees operates under its terms
of reference. The terms of reference of the Board committees are
available on the website of the Company and that of the Stock

Exchange.
Audit Committee

The Company establishes an Audit Committee with written terms of
reference in compliance with the Code as set out in Appendix 14 to
the Listing Rules. The Audit Committee consists of three members,
namely Mr. Chan Yiu Kwong, Mr. Liu Binghai and Mr. Wang
Yingzhe. Mr. Chan Yiu Kwong has been appointed as the chairman
of the Audit Committee. The primary duties of the Audit Committee
are to review and supervise, and provide an independent view of
the effectiveness of, the financial reporting process and the risk
management and internal control systems of the Group, oversee
the audit process and perform other duties and responsibilities as

assigned by the Board.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, two meetings of the

Audit Committee were held.

The attendance of the meetings by each member is as follows:

Name of Members REHE
Mr. YANG Zhenghong' BEEREL'
Mr. LIU Binghai? BIRg i E®
Mr. CHAN Yiu Kwong PR 1R o 52 A
Mr. WANG Yingzhe FRELA

Notes:

1. Mr. YANG Zhenghong ceased to be the member of the Audit
Committee on 30 August 2019.

2. Mr. LIU Binghai has been appointed as a member of the Audit
Committee on 30 August 2019.
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Nomination Committee

The Company establishes a Nomination Committee with written
terms of reference in compliance with the Code as set out in
Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules. The Nomination Committee
consists of three members, namely Mr. Yang Bin, Mr. Liu Binghai
and Mr. Wang Yingzhe. Mr. Yang Bin has been appointed as the

chairman of the Nomination Committee.

The Nomination Committee is responsible for reviewing and
assessing the composition of the Board and the independence
of the independent non-executive Directors and making
recommendations to the Board on appointment and removal of
Directors. In recommending candidates for appointment to the
Board, the Nomination Committee will consider candidates on
merit against objective criteria and with due regards to the benefits
of diversity on the Board in accordance with the board diversity
policy adopted by the Company. Diversity of the Board will be
considered from a number of perspectives, including but not limited
to gender, age, cultural and educational background, industry
experience, technical and professional skills and/or qualifications,
knowledge, length of services and time to be devoted as a Director.
The Company will also take into account factors relating to its own
business model and specific needs from time to time. The ultimate
decision will be based on merit and contribution that the selected

candidates will bring to the Board.

During the year ended to 31 December 2019, two meetings of the

Nomination Committee were held.

The attendance of the meetings by each member is as follows:

Name of Members REHE
Mr. YANG Bin S 5
Mr. LIU Binghai 2w k&
Mr. WANG Yingzhe FEEEL

REZEE
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Nomination Policy

According to the Nomination Policy, in evaluating and selecting
any candidate for directorship, the Nomination Committee would
consider the criteria, including, among other things, character
and integrity, qualifications (cultural and educational background,
professional qualifications, skills, knowledge and experience and
diversity aspects under the Board Diversity Policy), any potential
contributions the candidate can bring to the Board in terms of
qualifications, skills, experience, independence and diversity, and
willingness and ability to devote adequate time to discharge duties

as a member of the Board and/or Board committee(s).

The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should, upon receipt of
the proposal on appointment of new director and the biographical
information (or relevant details) of the candidate, evaluate such
candidate based on the criteria as set out above to determine
whether such candidate is qualified for directorship. The Nomination
Committee should then recommend to the Board to appoint
the appropriate candidate for directorship with a ranking of the
candidates (if applicable) by order of preference based on the

needs of the Company and reference check of each candidate.
Board Diversity Policy

In designing the Board’s composition, the Nomination Committee
has considered Board diversity from a number of aspects, including
but not limited to gender, race, language, cultural background,
educational background, industry experience and professional
experience. All Board appointments will be based on meritocracy,
and candidates will be considered against objective criteria, having

due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board.

We believe the Board has a well-balance of cultural background,
educational background, industry experience and professional
experience where members of the Board have diversified branch of

learning and working experience in different countries and regions.
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Remuneration Committee

The Company establishes a Remuneration Committee with written
terms of reference in compliance with the Code as set out in
Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules. The Remuneration Committee
has three members, comprising two independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Liu Binghai and Mr. Wang Yingzhe, and one
executive Director, namely Mr. Yang Bin. Mr. Liu Binghai is the
chairman of the Remuneration Committee. The primary duties of
the Remuneration Committee are to establish and review the policy
and structure of the remuneration for the Directors and senior
management and make recommendations to the Board on employee

benefit arrangement.

During the year ended to 31 December 2019, two meetings of the

Remuneration Committee were held.

The attendance of the meeting by each member is as follows:

Name of Members REHEA
Mr. LIU Binghai 2mE k&
Mr. YANG Bin SR T A

Mr. WANG Yingzhe FEEEA

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the “Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuer” (the “Model Code”)
set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as its code of conduct
regarding dealings in the securities of the Company by the
Directors, the Group’s senior management, and employees who,
because of his/her office or employment, is likely to possess inside

information in relation to the Group or the Company’s securities.

Upon specific enquiry, all Directors confirmed that they have
complied with the Model Code during the year under review. In
addition, the Company is not aware of any non-compliance of the
Model Code by the senior management of the Group during the

year under review.
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FRAMEWORK FOR DISCLOSURE OF INSIDE
INFORMATION

The Company has in place a policy on handling and dissemination
of inside information (the “Policy”) which sets out the procedures
and internal controls for handling and dissemination of inside
information in a timely manner in such a way so as not to place any
person in a privileged dealing position and to allow time for the
market to determine the price of the listed securities of the Company
with the latest available information. This Policy also provides
guidelines to staff of the Company to ensure proper safeguards
exist to prevent the Company from breaching the statutory
disclosure requirements. It also includes appropriate internal
control and reporting systems to identify and assess potential inside
information. Dissemination of inside information of the Company
shall be conducted by publishing the relevant information on the
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company, according to the

requirements of the Listing Rules.

EXTERNAL AUDITOR

An analysis of the remuneration that should be paid to the external
auditor of the Company, BDO Limited, for the audit and non-audit
services for the year ended 31 December 2019 is set out below:

Services rendered Frie 4t AR %

Annual audit service FEEFRG

Audit services for the Listing R RS

REHEREESR

ARARFIAREREMATHEERR(BE])
B EARIE R EMATHEBHERF R ARE
H o EREHESUEREEREG  mIAeE
HEMALTERZR S ERMNMEEMMAL - TS
mEEREEHERRREERNART LTE
HERE - ZBRMAAAE B TRHEIED - R
REBERBABH AR BRREERERTE
ZRR A EE ARG R EREIE - PAR
R RFHEBENAREE - RRABARHEE 2%
73R TR B ETRRIRE - RBEE AT R AN AR
ML TIEARRDE R

SR 4% BB

MEE2019F 12 AT B ILEENETRIERE
AR EAAR RGN ZBME S L EERER
BB ARARI NS TEHFImT

Fees Paid/
Payable
Bt EAEA
RMB’'000
ARBTFT

1,770

1,790

Non-audit service for interim review AR B 2 E R AT RIS 380

3,940
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The Directors of the Company are responsible for overseeing the
preparation of the financial statements which give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the Group and of the results and cash
flow during the reporting period. A statement from the auditor about
its reporting responsibilities on the financial statements is set out
on pages 80 to 82 of this annual report. In preparing the financial
statements for the year ended December 31, 2019, the Directors
of the Company have selected suitable accounting policies and
applied them consistently, made judgments and estimated that are
prudent, fair and reasonable and prepared the financial statements

on a going concern basis.

The Directors were not aware of any material uncertainties relating
to events or conditions which may cast significant doubt upon the

Group'’s ability to continue as a going concern.

INTERNAL CONTROLS AND RISK MANAGEMENT

The Board is responsible for maintaining sound and effective
internal control and risk management systems in order to safeguard
the Group’s assets and Shareholders’ interests and reviewing the
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control and risk management
systems on an annual basis so as to ensure that internal control
and risk management systems in place are adequate. Such systems
are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure
to achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable
and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.
The Company also has an internal audit function which primarily
carries out the analysis and independent appraisal of the adequacy
and effectiveness of the Company’s risk management and internal
control systems, and reports their findings to the Board on, at
least, an annual basis. The Company implements and strictly
enforces procedures on inside information according to the relevant
procedures stated under the Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside

Information.
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The Group’s internal control system includes a well-established
organisational structure with clearly defined lines of responsibility
and authority. The day-to-day departmental operations are
entrusted to individual department which is accountable for its
own conduct and performance and is required to operate its own
department’s business within the scope of the delegated authority
and to implement and strictly adhere to the strategies and policies
set by the Company from time to time. Each department is also
required to keep the Board informed of material developments of
the department’s business and implementation of the policies and
strategies set by the Board on a regular basis so as to identify,

evaluate and manage significant risks in a timely manner.

During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Board has reviewed
the effectiveness of the internal control and risk management
systems of the Group to ensure that a sound system is maintained
and operated by the management in compliance with the agreed
procedures and standards. The review covered all material controls,
including financial, operational and compliance controls and
risk management functions. In particular, the Board considered
the resources, staff qualifications and experience, training
programmes and budget of the Company’s accounting, internal
audit and financial reporting functions are adequate. The review
was conducted through discussions with the management of the
Company, its external and internal auditors and the assessment
performed by the Audit Committee. The Board believes that the
existing risk management and internal control systems are adequate
and effective, in particular, for financial reporting and Listing Rules

compliance as well as for resolving internal control defects (if any).
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The dividend policy of the Company, was adopted by the Board on

March 28, 2019, is set out as follows:

Payment of dividends by the Company is also subject to any
restrictions under the Companies Law of Cayman Islands and the
Memorandum and Articles of Association. The Board will review the
dividend policy as appropriate from time to time. The declaration
and payment of dividends shall be determined at the sole discretion
of the Board. The Board shall also take into account the following
factors when considering whether to propose dividends and

determining the dividend amount:
1. the Group’s actual and expected financial performance;

2. retained earnings and distributable reserves of the Company

and each of the members of the Group;

3. the Group’s working capital requirements, capital expenditure

requirements and future expansion plans;
4. the Group’s liquidity position;

5. contractual restrictions on the payment of dividends by
the Company to the Shareholders or by the Company’s
subsidiaries to the Company;

6. taxation considerations;

7. general economic conditions, business cycle of the Group’s
business and other internal or external factors that may have
an impact on the business or financial performance and

position of the Group; and

8. other factors that the Board deems relevant.

CHANGE IN CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

The Articles was conditionally adopted by the Board on February
24, 2019 and became effective on the Listing Date. A copy of
the Articles is available on the website of the Company and the
Stock Exchange. During the Reporting Period and up to the Latest
Practicable Date, there was no significant change in constitutional

documents of the Company.
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SHAREHOLDERS

The Company is incorporated in the Cayman Islands. Pursuant to
the articles of association of the Company, general meetings shall
also be convened on the written requisition of any one or more
members of the Company deposited at the principal office of the
Company in Hong Kong or, in the event the Company ceases to
have such a principal office, the registered office specifying the
objects of the meeting and signed by the requisitionists, provided
that such requisitionists held as at the date of deposit of the
requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the
Company which carries the right of voting at general meetings of
the Company. Such meeting should be held within two months after

the deposit of such requisition.

To safeguard Shareholders’ interests and rights, a separate
resolution is proposed for each substantially separate issue at
general meetings, including the election of individual Directors. All
resolutions put forward at general meetings will be voted on by poll
pursuant to the Listing Rules and poll results will be posted on the
websites of the Company and of the Stock Exchange after each

general meeting.
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Under Article 64 of the Articles, any one or more Shareholders
holding at the date of the deposit of the requisition not less than
one-tenth of the paid-up capital of the Company carrying the right of
voting at general meetings of the Company may at all times have the
right, by a written requisition to the Board or the company secretary
of the Company, to require the convening of an extraordinary
general meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction of any
business specified in such requisition; and such meeting shall be
held within 2 months after the deposit of such requisition. If, within
21 days of such deposit, the Board fails to proceed to convene
such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do
so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by
the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be

reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

The Board is not aware of any provisions allowing the shareholders
of the Company to put forward proposals at general meetings of the
Company under the Articles and the Companies Law of the Cayman
Islands. Shareholders who wish to put forward proposals at general
meetings may refer to the preceding paragraph to make a written
requisition to require the convening of an extraordinary general

meeting of the Company.

Detailed procedures for Shareholders to propose a person for
election as a Director of the Company are published on the

Company’s website.

For putting forward any enquiries to the Board, Shareholders may

send written enquiries to the Company as follows:

Address: Floor 5, Building C11, Phase II, Dongyi International Media
Industrial Park, Gaojing, Chaoyang District, Beijing, PRC
Attention: Office of the Board

The Company will not normally deal with verbal or anonymous

enquiries.
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The Board is pleased to present the annual report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended December 31, 2019.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on March
26, 2018 as an exempted company with limited liability under the
Companies Law of the Cayman Islands. The Group operates in the
mobile advertising industry. Its proprietary advertising platform and
technologies help media publishers monetize their traffic through
displays of advertisements on the one hand, and help advertisers

maximize the effectiveness of their advertising delivery on the other.

The activities and particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries are
shown under note 29 to the consolidated financial statements. An
analysis of the Group’s revenue and operating profit for the year by
principal activities is set out in the section headed “Management
Discussion and Analysis” in this annual report and note 6 to the

consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the Group’s business during the year could be found
in the sections headed “Chairman’s Statement”, “Management
Discussion and Analysis” and “Corporate Governance Report”
in this annual report. The review and discussion form part of this

directors’ report.

RESULTS AND DIVIDEND

The consolidation results of the Group for the year ended December

31, 2019 are set out on pages 83 to 184 of this annual report.

The Board has resolved not to recommend payment of any final
dividend for the year ended December 31, 2019.
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from
Thursday, 4 June 2020 to Wednesday, 10 June 2020, both days
inclusive, during which period no transfer of Shares will be effected,
in order to determine the identity of the Shareholders who are
entitled to attend and vote at the AGM to be held on 10 June
2020. All transfers of Shares accompanied by the relevant Share
certificates and transfer forms must be lodged with the Company’s
branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong
Investor Services Limited, at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell
Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong no later than
4:30 p.m. on Wednesday, 3 June 2020.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property and equipment of the Group
during the year ended December 31, 2019 are set out in note 14
to the consolidated financial statements on page 154 of this annual

report.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group is highly aware of the importance of environment
protection and has not noted any material incompliance with all
relevant laws and regulations in relation to its business including
health and safety, workplace conditions, employment and the
environment. The Group has implemented environmental protection
measures and has also encouraged staff to be environmental
friendly at work by consuming the electricity and paper according
to actual needs, so as to reduce energy consumption and minimize
unnecessary waste. Further details of the Group’s environmental
policies and performance will be disclosed in the environmental,
social and governance report of the Company for the year ended

December 31, 2019 to be published in due course.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company during
the year ended December 31, 2019 are set out in note 25 to the
consolidated financial statements on page 165 to 167 of this annual

report.
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RESERVES

Details of the movement in the reserves of the Group and of the
Company during the year ended December 31, 2019 are set out on

pages 86 and 167 of this annual report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at December 31, 2019, the Company’s distributable reserves
were approximately RMB44,161,000.

BORROWINGS

As at December 31, 2019, the Company did not have any bank

borrowings.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the year
ended 31 December 2019.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles,
or the laws of Cayman Islands, which would oblige the Company to
offer new Shares on a pro-rata basis to its existing Shareholders.
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During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company has
utilized HK$11.5 million of the net proceeds from the Global
Offering. The Company expects to utilize the balance of net
proceeds of approximately HK$15.5 million in the next 3 years as

stated in the Prospectus.

DIRECTORS

The Board currently consists of the following seven Directors:
Executive Directors

Mr. Yang Bin (Chairman and co-CEO)
Mr. Huang Kewang (co-CEQO)

Ms. Luo Yanhong (CFO)
Non-executive Director

Mr. Liu Ailun

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Chan Yiu Kwong

Mr. Liu Binghai

Mr. Wang Yingzhe

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF THE DIRECTORS AND
THE SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management
of the Group as at the date of this directors’ report are set out on
pages 17 to 25 in the section headed “Profile of Directors and

Senior Management” to this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive Directors and non-executive Directors has
entered into a service contract with the Company, under which they
agreed to act as executive Directors or non-executive Directors
for an initial term of three years commencing from the Listing Date
or their respective appointment date, which may be terminated by
not less than one month’s notice in writing served by either of the

Director or the Company.
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Each of the independent non-executive Directors has signed an
appointment letter with the Company for an initial term of three years
commencing from the Listing Date or their respective appointment
date, which may be terminated by not less than three months’ notice
in writing served by either of the Director or the Company. Under
the respective appointment letters, each of the independent non-

executive Directors is entitled to a fixed Director’s fee.

The appointments of the Directors are subject to the provisions of

retirement and rotation of Directors under the Articles.

None of the Directors has entered a service contract with members
of the Group that cannot be terminated by the Group within
one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory

compensation.

CONTRACT WITH CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS

Other than disclosed in the section headed “Material Related Party
Transactions” in note 31 to the consolidated financial statements
contained in this annual report, no contract of significance was
entered into between the Company or any of its subsidiaries and
the Controlling Shareholders or any of its subsidiaries during the
year ended December 31, 2019 or subsisted at the end of the year
and no contract of significance for the provision of services to the
Company or any of its subsidiaries by a Controlling Shareholder
or any of its subsidiaries was entered into during the year ended
December 31, 2019 or subsisted at the end of the year.

DIRECTOR’S INTEREST IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENT OR CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Other than disclosed in the section headed “Material Related Party
Transactions” in note 31 to the consolidated financial statements
contained in this annual report, no transaction, arrangement and
contract of significance to the business of the Group which the
Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party, and in which a
Director or any entity connected with such a Director had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the

year or at any time during the year ended December 31, 2019.
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COMPENSATION OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

The emoluments of the Directors and senior management of
the Group are decided by the Board with reference to the
recommendation given by the Remuneration Committee, having
regard to the Group’s operating results, individual performance and

comparable market statistics.

Details of the Directors’ emoluments and emoluments of the five
highest paid individual in the Group are set out in note 13 to the
consolidated financial statements on pages 151 to 153 of this

annual report.

For the year ended December 31, 2019, no emoluments were
paid by the Group to any Director or any of the five highest paid
individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office. None of the Directors has waived
any emoluments for the year ended December 31, 2019.

Except as disclosed above, no other payments have been made or
are payable, for the year ended December 31, 2019, by our Group
to or on behalf of any of the Directors.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the year, none of the Directors or their respective close
associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) had any interest in a
business that competed or was likely to compete, either directly
or indirectly, with the business of the Group, other than being a

director of the Company and/or its subsidiaries.

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE OBLIGATIONS
PURSUANT TO THE LISTING RULES

Save as disclosed in this annual report, the Company does not have
any other disclosure obligations under Rules 13.20, 13.21 and 13.22
of the Listing Rules.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

Other than the Directors’ service contracts and appointment letters,
no contract concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Group was
entered into or in existence as at the end of the year or at any time
during the year ended December 31, 2019.
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FRAIGEBABRF O EF T EA T Em(BE
AREA R/ IEMBRRERRI)

BRI EHRAUVSERBESE

BRAFEWRFAFEEIN  ARABIWE ETHRAE
13.20 ~ 13.21 % 13.22 (§IB N T B BB &
£ -

EEEHN

BRESERGEAHREZTRIN RERSEZE
2019 12 A1 HIEFERNEMERM - BI&EET
MR IF RN EEEE S EMERNLY EBNE
BRITBREBBBHEL -
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

During the year ended December 31, 2019, other than the RSU
Scheme as set out in the section under “RSU Scheme”, the

Company has not entered into any equity-linked agreement.

MATERIAL LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

The Group was not involved in any material legal proceeding during
the year ended December 31, 2019.

LOAN AND GUARANTEE

During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Group had not
made any loan or provided any guarantee for loan, directly or
indirectly, to the Directors, senior management of the Company, the

Controlling Shareholders or their respective connected persons.

RSU SCHEME

In recognition of the contributions of our management team
and employees and to incentivize them to further promote our
development after Listing, on August 9, 2018, our founders Mr.
Yang, former executive Directors Ms. Chen Xiaona and Mr. Zheng
Shungqi, through their respective offshore holding companies,
transferred 1,789,458, 298,236 and 149,129 Shares to ESOP
Holdings, for the purpose of establishing the RSU Scheme. On
August 14, 2018, we adopted the RSU Scheme, pursuant to which a
total of 210,219,991 underlying Shares (representing approximately
9.1% of the total issued share capital of our Company immediately
upon the completion of the Capitalisation Issue and the Global
Offering) were reserved for the vesting of RSUs granted under
the RSU Scheme. As of the date of this directors’ report, RSUs
representing 133,887,798 underlying Shares had been granted
to 16 employees pursuant to the RSU Scheme and none of the
RSUs under the RSU Scheme had been vested, and 5,176 RSUs
representing 486,428 underlaying Shares granted to one employee

pursuant to the RSU Scheme are expired due to his/her resignation.

DOUMOB EEBERIFZ AR AT

% R i 8 175 R

REBZ22019F12A31BEFE - BRISEH
1D BEALET &) | —ENETE A 2R HI A% 15 BB AL ET &I
AN o AR BN R ST R AR R S T A o

BEREERR

HZE2019F 12831 HILFE - AEEBEY
MAEMERERFR -

EXRRER

HZE2019F12A31HLEFE  AEETEER
ERHEEZEREE ARREREERE « EREER
W ESGRREA TR E R E TR
HAERER -

3 PRI IR D B A 5t &

AREERMEEEERR KEES N TR UK ZE
REN EmigE—FTHHRMOBR - 7K2018
F8HIB » B EIN AMG 5 £ RATEH
NTEEREBZETREIEHLEEBARESH
/) B = 45 % 2 B M ESOP Holdings % 5l 82 3%
1,789,458 ~ 298,236 % 149,129 % A% 17 > A Ak
S EREIAR D BAETE o R2018FE8 A 148 -
BPRANZRHB MBS HiL - &3
210,219,991 (& #H B8 i 17 (FA 2 7 B BE & AN (b 2%
TRERBEETKEADRADIC HITRAL
9.1%) EAR B VER IR 2R Sl AR 1) Bz 51 8195 &Y
EREIBHEMNFEERSR RAEEET®REH
B ARRIBRBEZBREIRG ELEEIR 165
1B B & SR I B A (F8 2 7 133,887,798
RAEBARRD) - ZEBSIRM B EETHES
REIRMECEHE - MiREZ RN B
FTEIR—REE R EM 5,176 B2 R HIA D EAL
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The purpose of the RSU Scheme is to incentivize Directors, senior
management and employees for their contribution to our Group, to
attract, motivate and retain skilled and experienced personnel to
strive for the future development and expansion of our Group by
providing them with the opportunity to own equity interests in our

Company.

A summary of the terms of the RSU Scheme has been set out in the
section headed “D. Share Incentive Scheme” in Appendix V of the

Prospectus.

Details of the RSUs granted under the RSU Scheme as at 31

December 2019 are set out below:

Number of underlying

Shares represented

Name of the Grantees by RSUs
PR &I R 4D B AL TG Y

ARABR HEROEE

Director

B=x

Huang Kewang 16,214,269

=it

Other

Hity

14 employees and consultants 117,187,158

14 %18 B KRB

For the year ended 31 December 2019, none of the RSUs so

granted had been vested.

XRHIRODEMGFEEEADES  SREERE
MESHASBEELER  WEBRHEEALR
AIRENEERS - BBRRESXEERAR
B RAEENRRERMIETER -

KRBt BAL A Bl IR R BN R SR ME
$RATD. Bin 2EEhET & | —5&h

R2019F 12 A 31 HIREZ R BB 5 BE ALzt 3l
BB SZBRHRMD EMNFEBHI AT

Approximate percentage

of the Company’s issued

Date of Grant share capital®”
ERDT BT

BEHAH [N SR A

14 August 2018 0.70%

2018458 A 14 H

14 August 2018 5.1%
20188 A 14 H

HE2019F 12 A31HIEFE - IERENT
RHIOEMNEFE -
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Note:

(1 The calculation is based on the total number of 2,300,000,000 Shares
in issue as of the date of this directors’ report.

For the RSUs granted on 14 August 2018 to the named individual
grantees of the RSU set out in the table above, they shall (unless our
Company shall otherwise determine and so notify the RSU Participant
in writing) vest as follows:

(i) as to 20% of the RSUs on the expiry date of the six-month
period from the Listing Date*;

(ii) as to 10% of the RSUs on 10 March 2020%;

(iii) as to 30% of the RSUs on 10 March 2021;

(iv)  asto 20% of the RSUs on 10 March 2022; and

(v) as to 20% of the RSUs on 10 March 2023.

Although the time schedules have reached the maturity, the
Company determined to delay the vesting and notified the RSU
Participants, as at the date of this directors’ report, none of
RSUs so granted had been vested.

The above RSU Scheme is not subject to the provisions of Chapter
17 of the Listing Rules as the RSU Scheme does not involve the
grant of options by the Company to subscribe for new Shares.
Since the Listing Date, the Company did not have any share option

schemes.

DOUMOB ZERK AR T

(1) ERAEZg®HE HEHS 51T 4281 2,300,000,000
st o

MR20184F 8 A 14 H M L RETH X R IR 17 B )
EEBBIAFEAR LB ZR RN EERIATH
XBE(BRIEAD T BEREL AEEB AT R H
MeireEf £ EEE)

(i)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

V)

20% SR B0 EALR £ B B AT <@
REARMER B SR E -

10% HY 5 R %1 A% 19 B A2 74 2020 3 A 10 H
BE

30% )52 PR &I ik 0 BB 7 20213 A 10 H
BB

20% K 5 IR H1 B 19 B A7 7 20224 3 A 10 H
BB &

20% )52 R I B 15 BB A7 20234 3 A 10 H
B -

BEZERHELTHEEE - BARFERRE
EERBABATREBLMHEM2EE
I RAEESREEH  HEREOZR
(LAY

AP it SR I D B LR 8IS AR B
R BV BB M - IR IR 1D AL AT 8
BAEST FHRAE17TENGKR - 8 FT A
o AR BB BAAERE -
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INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVE IN SECURITIES

As of the date of this directors’ report, the interests or short
positions of the Directors and chief executive of the Company in
the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company and
its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO), which (a) were required to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the
SFO (including interests and short positions which he was taken
or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or (b) were
required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be recorded in the
register referred to therein; or (c) were required to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code,

were as follows:

EERBSITRAERESNER

RAEEERERY  ARAFEERTDTHA
BRADABIREMBEEE(EERELFRPAER
BIEXVER) IR - BEARG RERBEFES (a)
RIEFEAMHAEEHEXVIHE7 R8I BEHNE
RRARREZAHERIOR R (BIEREESF R

EEPIH A BIESUEEEESR AR R
Ko#A) + 3 (b) IRIEFH %&Hﬂfwﬁu%%zﬂ /A
ARG EELMANREEIAR  (c)R
BIRETRIAMNEANA R RIS IAR
wmr

Approximate
percentage of the

Name of Director

Nature of Interest

EEnE ERME
Mr. Yang Bin® Interest in controlled corporation
BasE® R EE R

Beneficial owner

EnlEEA

Mr. Huang Kewang'”

Beneficial owner

Number of ordinary
shares interested"”

Company’s issued
share capital®
ERAREBITREH

BErMEEY BEanEAA

Notes:
(1) All interest stated are long positions

(2) The calculation is based on the total number of 2,300,000,000 Shares
in issue as of the date of this directors’ report.

(3) The Shares are registered under the name of Evan Global, the issued
share capital of which is owned as to 100% by Mr. Yang. Accordingly,
Mr. Yang is deemed to be interested in all the Shares held by Evan
Global for the purpose of Part XV of the SFO. As of December 31,
2018, 2,236,823 Shares are registered under the name of ESOP
Holdings, the issued share capital of which is owned as to 100% by
Evan Global. Evan Global is wholly-owned by Mr. Yang. Accordingly,
Mr. Yang is deemed to be interested in all the Shares held by ESOP
Holdings for the purpose of Part XV of the SFO.

(4) Mr. Huang Kewang is interested in 172,526 RSUs representing
16,214,269 underlying Shares granted to him under the RSU Scheme
subject to vesting.

EEERNEERSE BRBED
737,771,914 32.08%
210,219,991 9.14%

16,214,269 0.70%

Hrat

(1) FAIREZmBREE -

(2) ERAESgREBHEBHITHRMOLHK
2,300,000,000 f& &t & -

(3) #&% ZF M) LAEvan Global®) % % & i © M Evan
Global I = MEHITR ARG EERS - Bt
MEHFRPEHEAEXNVHME  BEERRA
M Evan Global#FHBEHMBERMH P HEEER - I
20184 12 A31H » 2,236,823 % % 15 MAESOP
Holdings #) & #& &7 + M ESOP Holdings &) & &8
B2 {TIEANH Evan Global & ° Evan Global i
BhRE2ERS - At - REFRBAEIEHE XV
ME @ BRAEHR AR ESOP Holdings AR FTA
My R A RS o

(4) HBRELEENREIZIREIROELCSRERELD
172,526 & 52 BR %l i 10 8 2 (F8 & 7 16,214,269 %
HERG )P EEER  EEFRE -
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INTERESTS OF THE SUBSTANTIAL
SHAREHOLDERS

So far as our Directors are aware, as of the date of this directors’
report, the following persons have interests or a short positions in
Shares or underlying Shares of our Company which will be required
to be disclosed to our Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or,
directly or indirectly, interested in 10% or more of the nominal
value of any class of share capital carrying rights to vote in all
circumstances at general meetings of our Company:

Name Nature of Interest
" EaME
Evan Global Beneficial owner
EmBAA
ESOP Holdings® Beneficial owner
EREAA
Mr. Yang Bin® Interest in a controlled corporation
Bt @ RiEEE R
BLUEFOCUS INTERNATIONAL Beneficial owner
EENFEEER EREEA
Blue Focus® Interest in a controlled corporation

EERED SR E

Chengdu Hongdao Beneficial owner

BEEEBA

Mr. Yang Zhenghong (15 IE%) ¥ Interest in a controlled corporation;
interest of a party to an agreement
regarding interest in the Company

BIERKEY R¥prE D BARAES AR RE
ER] 4 )7 #Ean

Hongdao Investment® interest of a party to an agreement
regarding interest in the Company

shiEfE @ HARRRIERE WO RENR LT R

Beijing Dongfang Hongdao interest of a party to an agreement

Assets Management Company regarding interest in the Company
Lumlted(it)?\i?i% BEERE
BREERAE)W

IRRALEEEEBEREMRE HARREZARNHRNINFERE

2Aa®

Summer Holdings Beneficial owner

EmBAA
Ms. Chen Xiaona® Interest in a controlled corporation
PR 47 22 = ©) LB R

Beneficial owner

DOUMOB EERIZERAT

FTERRBOES

REFHA  RAEFERERH - THALTR
RABIRG ARG A REES RAEE
B XV FBEE 2 & 30 BRI SRR AR &) KB 2
I BERERSAR  EEEEREAWAE
A EEEBER T ERRARNBRREAS HIRER
LT 4B RIAS AN TE B 10% B} A - R9HESS

Approximate
percentage of the

Number of ordinary Company’s issued
shares interested'” share capital®”
HARAT B BT

EEEZNETEREA " BAEAT DO
737,771,914 32.08%
210,219,991 9.14%
947,991,905 41.22%
328,629,450 14.29%
328,629,450 14.29%
207,618,771 9.03%
207,618,771 9.03%
207,618,771 9.03%
207,618,771 9.03%
151,797,422 6.60%
151,797,422 6.60%
40,189,334 1.75%
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its holding company, or any of its subsidiaries, a party to any

arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of

Notes: Htat -

(1) All interests stated are long positions. (1)  FrEmHRITE -

(2)  The entire issued share capital of Evan Global is directly owned by (2) HBEEEEHESEvaAn Global 23 B #HTRA -
Mr. Yang. Accordingly, Mr. Yang is deemed to be interested in such It 15 % 4 18 B M Evan GlobaliB B8 A
number of Shares held by Evan Global. The entire issued share capital BB B PG # - Evan Global EEEH
of ESOP Holdings is directly owned by Evan Global which in turn is ESOP Holdings 2 # B #1TlRA - MG EEE
directly owned by Mr. Yang. Accordingly, Mr. Yang is deemed to be #A Evan Global ° B It » 155 & # R AR ESOP
interested in such number of Shares held by ESOP Holdings. Holdings BB B RRHEE PR ER -

(3)  The entire issued share capital of BLUEFOCUS INTERNATIONAL is (3) ECALFREEHRBECKLEEBREEMEHITRE
directly owned by Blue Focus. Accordingly, Blue Focus is deemed At EEXEHRARECKERBRFEN G
to be interested in such number of Shares held by BLUEFOCUS BB R AR -

INTERNATIONAL.

(4)  The entire issued share capital of Chengdu Hongdao is directly owned (4) 1BIERSLEEEH A Chengdu Hongdao 2 #E2
by Mr. Yang Zhenghong. Accordingly, Mr. Yang Zhenghong is deemed BATHRAR o Bk 15 1E R 58 £ #48 A 5 Chengdu
to be interested in such number of Shares held by Chengdu Hongdao. Hongdao B M AMRME B R B #ER © I -
In addition, pursuant to an agreement dated May 2, 2018 between BIEIG E R AE ML BIREFTV A A 201845 A
Mr. Yang Zhenghong and Hongdao Investment, Mr. Yang Zhenghong 2 B R - 1B IE &R L £ B ¥ Chengdu Hongdao
made entrustment arrangements with Hongdao Investment regarding AR R PR 9.88% AR 4 B A 1) A3 17 9 B 82
the distribution of the profits generated from the 9.88% of the equity SABREFIVRELHE - AL SABREWE AR
interest that Chengdu Hongdao holds in our Company. Accordingly, Chengdu Hongdao#EMABMRMHEE R A #
Hongdao Investment is deemed to be interested in such number of @ o IS  SABRERBFEEERLIRTFERE
Shares held by Chengdu Hongdao. Furthermore, Hongdao Investment REBLE - SRR FLBEEEEERECTAR
is a limited liability partnership organized and existing under the laws BOAERENEBABA BEERALEERESI
of the PRC. The general partner of Hongdao Investment is Beijing RRALBEETEEREMTARI1.25% K4 -
Dongfang Hongdao Assets Management Company Limited (1b R 5 At - SRR FLEEEERAREE AR RIGE
LBEEETEAREEAT), which is owned directly as to 31.25% by RFEE B HE AR Chengdu HongdaoHAMA
Mr. Yang Zhenghong. Accordingly, each of Beijing Dongfang Hongdao FROE AR AR -

Assets Management Company Limited and Mr. Yang Zhenghong is
deemed to be interested in such number of Shares held by Chengdu
Hongdao.

(5)  The entire issued share capital of Summer Holdings is directly owned (5)  BREHEZ + E # % B Summer Holdings 2 & E
by Ms. Chen Xiaona. Accordingly, Ms. Chen Xiaona is deemed to be AT AR o B - PR R 4B A 4 4 4R B B Summer
interested in such number of Shares held by Summer Holdings. Ms. Holdings i AWM B BRMHEE A EE - &R
Chen Xiaona is interested in 427,630 RSUs (representing 40,189,334 BB TR IBEZREIRO BEAAEREARESD
underlying Shares) granted to her under the RSU Scheme subject to 427,630 18 BR il B 10 B fiz (A8 & 1% 40,189,334 i
vesting. R M) P AEE  EBHES -

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR BEROIEERZH

DEBENTURES

At no time during the year under review was the Company, AT~ BB AR S E AR B AR ERE

BEREEAEMILEALSE  BEESTER
BEARRBSREMEMEA BB HERES
(BiEERER)MER -

the acquisition of Shares in, or debt securities including debentures

of, the Company or any other body corporate.
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MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

In the year under review, the Group’s largest customer accounted
for 11.8% of the Group’s total revenue. The Group’s five largest

customers accounted for 42.6% of the Group’s total revenue.

In the year under review, the Group’s largest supplier accounted
for 8.2% of the Group’s total purchase. The Group’s five largest

suppliers accounted for 21.2% of the Group’s total purchase.

None of the Directors or any of their close associates (as defined
under the Listing Rules) or any Shareholders (which, to the best
knowledge of the Directors, owns more than 5% of the Company’s
issued share capital) has any beneficial interest in the Group’s five

largest suppliers or the Group’s five largest customers.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION OF HOLDERS OF
LISTED SECURITIES

The Company is not aware of any tax relief or exemption available
to the Shareholders of the Company by reason of their holding of

the Company’s securities.

HUMAN RESOURCES

As at December 31, 2019, the Group had 113 employees, 38 of
which were responsible for product development, 21 were for
sales and marketing, 21 were for operations, 9 for media publisher
development and 24 were for administrative. The Group enters into
employment contracts with its employees to cover matters such
as position, term of employment, wage, employee benefits and

liabilities for breaches and grounds for termination.

Remuneration of the Group’s employees includes basic salaries,
allowances, bonus, share options and other employee benefits,
and is determined with reference to their experience, qualifications
and general market conditions. The emolument policy for the
employees of the Group is set up by the Board on the basis of their
merit, qualification and competence. We provide regular training
to our employees in order to improve their skills and knowledge.
The training courses range from further educational studies to skill
training to professional development courses for management

personnel.

DOUMOB EERIZERAT

FTEHEBREF

REBEFER  AEENRARFHAEERE
HHEE11.8% - AEBWMAAELEAERKZR
FE42.6% °

REBEFEAN  AEBNSAEEEEAEER
BaEE8.2% c AEEMARHERHAEER
FE4ARE21.2% °

BMEEEIHEANERHEA(EER LR
B SRR E SRR A QBB EITRA
ZR5%HRENAEEMN A AEED AL
AARBRFHBEAERZELZ -

tTREFEANREEIZIRE

ARBETHEARRBREFZEARBESM
AESEANBEERMR

ABEIR

M2019F12A31H - K& B E BE113% E
CHAPBFREEERMAE  21RBHEBEER
BEONZABREY ORBEEBREMER
% M24ZAETH - ASEEEBTIER
EH  FTABL - BREFH - IE - EEBA -
BHOBARKRIIERESEE -

> )ﬂ]]l]

FEBEREENTFHEEELRT S 28 B4
BERELHMEBRN  UWRERZ2LH &
& R — RIS N ETE o AR EE B 895 IR
HEZERBEENRRE BEREREEHMEIE
BPmEERETEHEI - kB EKT RA
F o BIIRBRERELRELEBEREIR - A
RERABRHEEEERRE -
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RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME

The employees of the PRC subsidiaries are members of the
state-managed retirement benefits scheme operated by the PRC
government. The employees of the PRC subsidiaries are required
to contribute a certain percentage of their payroll to the retirement
benefits scheme to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the
Group with respect to this retirement benefits scheme is to make the

required contributions under the scheme.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
NON-EXEMPT CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
Contractual Arrangements

On December 11, 2001, the State Council promulgated
the Regulations for the Administration of Foreign-Invested
Telecommunications Enterprises (the “FITE Regulations”), which
were amended on September 10, 2008 and February 6, 2016.
According to the FITE Regulations, foreign investors are not
allowed to hold more than 50% of the equity interests of a company
providing value-added telecommunications services, including
value-added telecommunication services. In addition, a foreign
investor who invests in a value-added telecommunications business
in the PRC must possess prior experience in operating value-
added telecommunications businesses and a proven track record of
business operations overseas (the “Qualification Requirements”).
Currently, none of the applicable PRC laws, regulations or rules
provided clear guidance or interpretation on the Qualification
Requirements. Therefore, in order for the Company to be able to
carry on its business in the PRC, the Group has entered into the
Contractual Arrangements to enable the Company to exercise
and maintain control over operations of the Consolidated Affiliated
Entities and to consolidate these companies’ financial results into
the Company’s results under HKFRS as if they are wholly-owned
subsidiaries of the Company. Despite the lack of clear guidance
or interpretation on the Qualification Requirements, we have taken
and plan to continue to take specific steps to comply with the
Qualification Requirements. After the Listing, the Company kept

implementing its expansion plan in target overseas markets.

RIKENETE

RN B ARMERS AT EBMEFENERE
PR EIKE - FEMEARNER AR
HEHMrE T B O L RRREAET IR - SAB
B B a F P /SRR o SR RAE MIET 81
5 AKENE-REREZEELRTED

HIK o

BEXS
TRRRGERERS
BRI LB

M2001 12 A11H - BB EBINERES
EREEERTIINEEELERE]) TR
20089 5108 M 2016256 HIEFT - 1R1E
INEBECERT  INEIREETERIRMHIEE
B ERE(BELEEEERBE)NARFEBRRB
50% IR HE o tboh - AR BIIRE I EEEEBD
SN E B NBRECEIESEERNBAL
B WHEABIINEBRENRTELR(EER
ER]) o W BEERPEDARE  JAHRSARA
HEBEZRELAMRIESIEE - it - /E
RARREHARN P ESITHER - ASEETVE
D& - (RIEARD TR STT I R A 53 O R T 8
EREL IS - WREE BV EREERF
ZERNRINMBEERARREBEEZAEANER
MFEEARARNEZENBLAR - BRELLEEK
BRZIEMIESIRE - RME I kTSI ER
BEABEHENETELER - LTk @ AQF#
BEBER B IREINTIHHERE -
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Up to the date of this directors’ report, there is no further update in

relation to the Qualification Requirement.

The Contractual Arrangements which were in place during the year

ended December 31, 2019 are as follows:

1. The voting rights proxy agreement dated August 22, 2018,
pursuant to which each of the Registered Shareholders
irrevocably appointed WFOE or its designated person, as
his attorney-in-fact to exercise such shareholder’s rights
in Doumob Technology (the “Shareholders’ Rights Proxy
Agreement”).

2. The exclusive option agreement dated August 22, 2018,
pursuant to which Registered Shareholders jointly and
severally granted irrevocably to WFOE the rights to require
the Registered Shareholders to transfer any or all their equity
interests and/or assets in Doumob Technology to WFOE and/
or a third party designated by it, in whole or in part at any
time and from time to time, at a minimum purchase price
permitted under PRC laws and regulations (the “Exclusive

Option Agreement”).

3. The equity pledge agreement dated August 22, 2018,
pursuant to which each of the Registered Shareholders agreed
to pledge all of their respective equity interests in Doumob
Technology to WFOE as a security interest to guarantee the
performance of contractual obligations and the payment of
outstanding debts under the Contractual Arrangements (the

“Equity Pledge Agreement”).

4. the exclusive management and consultation agreement dated
August 22, 2018, pursuant to which Doumob Technology
agreed to engage WFOE as its exclusive provider of provider
of technical support, consultation and other services and
Doumob Technology agreed to pay service fees to WFOE (the
“Exclusive Management Consultation Agreement”).

No service fee was paid by Doumob Technology to WFOE pursuant
to the Exclusive Management Consultation Agreement for the year
ended December 31, 2019.

DOUMOB ZEERIFZ AR A

BEAEZERERY  BEESMELZRME
—HEH -

BZE2019F 1231 R ILFEEMNE L H
wr

1. HEA2018F8A22AMEERZETH
o R SECRERAEE M E TS
HEECENHETALT  EAEERNRE
ATERARER T BRE AR ([RE
ERZETHE])

2. HHA2018F8A222HKNBREZ W
#F o Bt B R R AR A E
HWREGBE R EREEF - S HATRER
RIARERETRREMIEBEECER
FEEENE=F ' BPEEERERA
FHEEBEE2HAB I EREINRT R
R ER 2 RERSEE(BR
BEEBRE -

3. HEA2018F8A22H M Ik # L #
& Bt SEERRERERINEBEED
EEWMESER BRI EMEIRE - #F
ABERBBESANZHERBRITANECRE
HAEEEBNEREZ((REZRG
E AP

4, HHA2018F8A2HMBRE RS
RIS - Fit - TERRREZEIING
BECEAMARERMEE  HHRAKE
RN BERMEER BT ARERER
NEBECEINRBEE(BREEZN
RAH=E])
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The revenue and net loss of the Consolidated Affiliated Entities
subject to the Contractual Arrangements amounted to approximately
RMB1.0 million and RMB11.1 million for the year ended December
31, 2019, respectively. The total assets and total liabilities of
the Consolidated Affiliated Entities subject to the Contractual
Arrangements amounted to approximately RMB158.7 million and

RMB15.0 million as at December 31, 2019, respectively.
Risks associated with the Contractual Arrangements

For risks associated with the Contractual Arrangements, please
see the section headed “Risk Factors — Risks Relating to our

Contractual Arrangements” in the Prospectus for details.
Material change in relation to the Contractual Arrangements

During the year ended December 31, 2019, there is no material
change in the Contractual Arrangements and/or the circumstances

under which they were adopted.
Unwinding the Contractual Arrangements

The Company will unwind the Contractual Arrangements as soon as
the laws allows the business of the Consolidated Affiliated Entities
to be operated without the Contractual Arrangements. However,
for the year ended December 31, 2019, none of the Contractual
Arrangements had been unwound as none of the restrictions that
led to the adoption of the Contractual Arrangements had been

removed.
Waiver from the Stock Exchange

The Stock Exchange has granted a waiver to the Company from
strict compliance with the connected transactions requirements
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules in respect of the Contractual
Arrangements. For details, please refer to the section “Connected

Transactions” in the Prospectus.

Save as disclosed above, during the year ended December 31,
2019, the Group has not entered into any connected transaction
or continuing connected transaction which should be disclosed

pursuant to the requirements of Rule 14A.71 of the Listing Rules.
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Save as disclosed under the section headed “Related Party
Transactions” stated in note 31 to the consolidated financial
statements, no contract of significance in relation to the Group’s
business to which the Group was a party and in which a Director
had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted

during the year ended December 31, 2019.

Annual Review by the Independent Non-Executive Directors and
the Auditor

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the

Contractual Arrangements and confirmed that:

a) the transactions carried out during the Reporting Period had
been entered into accordance with the relevant provisions of

the Contractual Arrangements;

b) no dividends or other distributions had been made by the
Consolidated Affiliated Entities to the holders of its equity
interests which were not otherwise subsequently assigned or

transferred to the Group;

c) no new contracts had been entered into, renewed and/
or reproduced between the Group and the Consolidated

Affiliated Entities during the Reporting Period; and

d) the Contractual Arrangements had been entered into in the
ordinary and usual course of business of the Group, are on
normal commercial terms and are fair and reasonable in the

interest of the Group and the Shareholders as a whole.

The Auditor has reviewed and advised the Board in writing (with a
copy provided to the Stock Exchange) that the transactions carried
out pursuant to the Contractual Arrangements during the Reporting
Period has nothing come to their attention that causes them to
believe (i) the transactions have not been approved by the Board;
(i) the transactions had not been entered in accordance with the
relevant Contractual Arrangements, and (iii) that dividends or other
distributions had been made by the Consolidated Affiliated Entities
to the holders of the equity interests which were not otherwise

subsequently assigned or transferred to the Group
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions of the Group for the year
ended December 31, 2019 are set out in note 31 to the consolidated

financial statements contained herein.

None of the related party transactions constitutes a connected
transaction or continuing connected transaction subject to
independent Shareholders’ approval, annual review and all

disclosure requirements in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

According to the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Board, as at the date of
this directors’ report, the Company has maintained the public float

as required under the Listing Rules.

INDEMNITY OF DIRECTORS

A permitted indemnity provision (as defined in the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance) in relation to the director’s and officer’s
liability insurance is currently in force and was in force during the

Reporting Period.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company recognises the importance of good corporate
governance for enhancing the management of the Company as
well as preserving the interests of the Shareholders as a whole. The
Company has adopted the code provisions set out in the CG Code

as its own code to govern its corporate governance practices.

In the opinion of the Directors, the Company has complied with
the relevant code provisions contained in the CG Code during the
Period.

The Board will continue to review and monitor the practices of the
Company with an aim to maintaining a high standard of corporate

governance.

Information on the corporate governance practices adopted by the
Company is set out in the Corporate Governance Report on page 38

to 53 of this annual report.
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AUDITOR

There has been no change in auditors during the Reporting
Period. The consolidated financial statements for the year ended
December 31, 2019 have been audited by BDO Limited, Certified
Public Accountants, who are proposed for reappointment at the
forthcoming AGM.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

For the year ended 31 December 2019, the Company is in
compliance with the relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Yang Bin
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 30 March 2020
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|IBDO

55 ¢ +852 2218 8288
{8H : +852 2815 2239

Tel : +852 2218 8288
Fax: +852 2815 2239
www.bdo.com.hk

25™ Floor Wing On Centre
111 Connaught Road Central

www.bdo.com.hk

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
TO THE MEMBERS OF DOUMOB
(incorporated in Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Doumob
(the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) set out
on pages 83 to 184, which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 December 2019, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to
the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of

significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2019, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and
have been properly prepared in compliance with the Hong Kong

Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the “Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements” section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA’s “Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants” (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to

provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these

matters.

REVENUE RECOGNITION

Refer to summary of significant accounting policies in note 4,
accounting estimates and judgements in note 5 and disclosure
of revenue and segment information in note 6 to the consolidated

financial statements.

Revenue represents income from the provision of online advertising
services and online sales services sourced from Mainland China.
Revenue is recognised when the Group satisfies a performance
obligation by transferring the control of promised goods or services
to a customer in an amount that reflects the consideration to which
the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for that goods or

services.

The Group recognised revenue of approximately RMB189,450,000
from the provision of online advertising services and online sales

services during the year ended 31 December 2019.

We identified revenue recognition as a key audit matter because
revenue is one of the key performance indicators of the Group and
therefore there is an inherent risk of manipulation of the recognition

of revenue by management to meet specific targets or expectations.

OUR RESPONSE

Our procedures in relation to assess the recognition of revenue

included the following:

o Obtaining an understanding of and assessing the design,
implementation and operating effectiveness of key internal

controls which govern revenue recognition;
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o Inspecting agreements with advertisers and media publishers,
on a sample basis, to understand the terms of advertising and
sales service and assess whether management recognised
the related revenue in accordance with the Group’s
accounting policies, with reference to the requirements of the

prevailing accounting standards;

. Comparing sales records for a sample of sales transactions
recorded during the year with relevant underlying
documentation, which included sales invoices and monthly
customer statements with evidence of the customers’ receipt
of the service and the date of receipt of the service confirmed

by the customers;

o Comparing, on a sample basis, specific revenue transactions
recorded before and after the financial year end date with the
underlying agreements with advertisers and media publishers
and monthly customer statements to determine whether the
related revenue had been recognised in the appropriate

financial period;

o Scrutinising all journals affecting revenue raised during the
reporting period and comparing details of a sample of these
journal, which met certain risk-based criteria, with relevant

underlying documentation.

IMPAIRMENT ASSESSMENT ON CONTRACT
ASSETS AND TRADE RECEIVABLES

Refer to summary of significant accounting policies in note 4,
accounting estimates and judgements in note 5, disclosure of
trade receivables in note 18 and contract assets in note 19 to the

consolidated financial statements.

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had net trade receivables
amounting to approximately RMB12,774,000 and net contract
assets amounting to approximately RMB60,237,000 after making
loss allowance of approximately RMB1,536,000 and RMB15,865,000
respectively. Trade receivables and contract assets represented
3.9% and 18.4% respectively of the total assets of the Group and is

considered quantitatively significant to the Group.
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The Group’s loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to
lifetime expected credit loss (“ECL”) based on management’s
estimated loss rates for each category of contract assets and
trade receivables. The estimated loss rates take into account the
credit history including default or delay in payments, settlement
records, subsequent settlements and ageing analysis of individual
customers. The directors of the Company also evaluated the
Group’s ability to issue invoice and recoverability of the contract
assets balances based on the invoice issuance forecast prepared
by the management, which take into account of the advice from
local tax authority regarding the invoice issuance status of the
Group.

We have identified impairment assessment on contract assets
and trade receivables as a key audit matter due to considerable
amount of judgement and estimates being required in conducting
impairment assessment as mentioned in the forgoing paragraph.

OUR RESPONSE

Our procedures in relation to management’s impairment assessment
on contract assets and trade receivables included the following:

o Obtaining an understanding of and assessing the design,
implementation and operating effectiveness of key internal
controls relating to credit control, debt collection and the
calculation of the ECLs;

o Scrutinising the source documents throughout the year to
understand the invoice issuance and settlement patterns by

major customers;

o Testing the ageing analysis of the contract assets and trade
receivables, on a sample basis, to the source documents;

o Assessing the reasonableness of recoverability of contract
assets and trade receivables with reference to the credit
history including default or delay in payments, settlement
records, subsequent settlements and ageing analysis of
individual customers;

o Evaluating whether the historical loss rates are appropriately
adjusted based on current economic conditions and forward-

looking information; and

o Assessing the reasonableness of the invoice issuance
forecast prepared by the management with reference to the
subsequent issuance of invoice and advice regarding the
invoice issuance status of the Group.
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IMPAIRMENT OF INTANGIBLE ASSETS RELATED
TO SUBSCRIPTION ACCOUNTS

Refer to summary of significant accounting policies in note 4,
accounting estimates and judgements in note 5 and disclosure of

intangible assets in note 15 to the consolidated financial statements.

We identified the impairment of intangible assets related to
subscription accounts as disclosed in note 15 to the consolidated
financial statements as a key audit matter due to significant
management judgement and complex estimation involved in
estimating the recoverable amount of these assets. As disclosed in
note 15 to the consolidated financial statements, the carrying value
of intangible assets related to subscription accounts amounted to
RMB32,043,000 as at 31 December 2019.

Determining whether these intangible assets are impaired requires
an estimation of the recoverable amount which is the higher of
the fair value less costs of disposal, or value in use of the cash
generating units (“CGU”) to which the intangible assets have been
allocated. The value in use calculation relies on the management’s
assumptions and estimates of future operating performance of these
subscription accounts and the key data and assumptions applied

by the management in the impairment review are:

. Discount rates;
. Expected revenue growth rate; and
o Estimated gross profit margin.
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OUR RESPONSE

Our procedures in relation to impairment of intangible assets related

to subscription accounts included the following:

Understanding and evaluating management’'s impairment

assessment on intangible assets;

Obtaining the valuation reports on the CGUs of these
subscription accounts prepared by management’s valuers
and evaluating the management’s valuers’ competence and

objectivity;

Discussing with the management’s valuers to understand and
evaluate the appropriateness of their valuation methodology to

determine the recoverable amount;

Checking the management’'s data and challenging the
assumptions used in the valuation report by 1) comparing the
inputs with the financial budget approved by the management;
2) assessing the discount rates applied with the support from
our internal valuations specialists and comparing the rates to
benchmark data; and 3) comparing expected revenue growth
rate and estimated gross profit margin to recent industry and

economic data and the Group’s specific information;

Engaging our internal valuation specialists to assist us
in evaluating management’s impairment assessment
methodology, the key assumptions applied and calculations
contained with reference to the requirements of the prevailing

accounting standards;

Assessing the independent valuer’s qualifications, experience
and expertise and considered their objectivity and

independence;

Comparing the compound annual growth rates and long term
growth rates adopted in the discounted cash flow forecasts

with historical performance;

Comparing the revenue and operating costs included in the
prior year's discounted cash flow forecasts with the current
year’'s performance to assess the historical accuracy of
management’s forecasting process and considering the nature

of any significant differences; and
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o Performing sensitivity analysis of the key assumptions adopted
in the discounted cash flow forecasts and assessing the
impact of changes in the key assumptions on the conclusions
reached by management and whether there were any
indicators of management bias.

OTHER INFORMATION IN THE ANNUAL REPORT

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises the information included in the Company’s
annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the
HKICPA and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable
the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations,
or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are also responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process. The Audit Committee assists the
directors in discharging their responsibility in this regard.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This report is made
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 405 of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for no other purpose. We
do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other

person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of

these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism

throughout the audit. We also:

o identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,

or the override of internal control.

o obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an

opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

o evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related

disclosures made by the directors.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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o conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’'s report. However, future events or conditions may

cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

o evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that

achieves fair presentation.

o obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely

responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal

control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our

independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.
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From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such

communication.

BDO Limited

Certified Public Accountants
Wan Che Bun

Practising Certificate no. P05804

Hong Kong, 30 March 2020
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

meEBERkREMEERER

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & ZE 20194 12 A 31 HILFE

2019 2018
2019 fF 2018 &
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Bt AREFT AREFIT
Revenue g 6 189,450 352,611
Cost of sales SHEK A (137,144) (269,026)
Gross profit EF 52,306 83,585
Other income and other net gains/ Hapl A R Emukzs
(losses) (E518) %8 7 8,089 1,067
Change in fair value of: AR EER AR EEE -
— financial assets at fair value — RAREF ABED
through profit or loss Mg EE 16 700 1,613
Selling and distribution expenses HE R DR (10,730) (8,070)
Administrative expenses TR 2 (39,719) (35,329)
Finance costs BhE Ak A 8 (45) —
Profit before income tax credit BT B IE R AR 9 10,601 42,866
Income tax credit s i & 10 314 297
Profit and total comprehensive FRBMNREEKELRE
income for the year 10,915 43,163
Profit and total comprehensive AT ATEEFERERR
income for the year ZHEKNEAEE -
attributable to:
Owners of the Company AREHEB A 10,917 43,219
Non-controlling interests FEiE R HE RS (2) (56)
10,915 43,163
Earnings per share for the profit AARHEE AEEBERE
attributable to the owners of SRER :
the Company:
Basic E- N RMBO0.005 RMBO0.021
12(a) AR #0.005 7T AR¥0.0217C
Diluted i3 RMBO0.005 RMB0.021
12(b) AR%0.005 T ARM0.021 7T
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
mEMBRR R

As at 31 December 2019 20194 12 A 31 H

2019 2018
2019 £ 2018 &
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
iz AR¥FIT AREFT
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERAE
Non-current assets FREBEE
Property, plant and equipment M - BB &R 14 612 500
Intangible assets EEAE 15 57,175 24,106
Financial assets at fair value BRAREF AR
through profit or loss BT EE 16 8,500 —
Deferred tax assets EERIEE E 17 842 370
67,129 24,976
Current assets REEE
Trade receivables H 5 W sRIE 18 12,774 14,706
Contract assets BHEE 19 60,237 121,376
Deposits, prepayments and other Ee - BAREREM
receivables A& 20 20,848 17,441
Amounts due from shareholders FE UL R SR R TE 21 200 188
Amounts due from non-controlling FENR FEVE AR HE 2 5K IE
interests 21 980 980
Time deposits with original maturity FRZ| 5 B #8838 A 1
over 3 months TEHATE R 22 47,017 —
Cash and cash equivalents HERBREEEY 22 118,915 132,912
260,971 287,603
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade payables Z SRt 3kE 23 11,743 44,459
Contract liabilities BHEE 6 4,943 4,498
Accruals and other payables FEET 2 A R H P A< 5KI8 24 10,076 22,763
Income tax payable FERFTSHE 993 865
27,755 72,585
Net current assets REBEEFRE 233,216 215,018
Net assets EEFE 300,345 239,994
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
mEMBRR R

As at 31 December 2019 20194 12 A 31 H

2019 2018
2019 F 2018 &

Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
H et AR¥FT ARKTFT
EQUITY Em
Capital and reserves EXR#EE
Capital B 215 1,967 195
Reserves (0] 25 297,145 238,563
Equity attributable to owners of AAREE AEMGER
the Company 299,112 238,758
Non-controlling interests RS 1,233 1,236
Total equity AR 300,345 239,994
On behalf of the directors REES
Director Director
EE EE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
REEmSBR

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZE2019F 12 A31 HIEFE

Non-
Share Capital  Statutory  Retained controlling Total
Capital premium*  reserve*  reserve* profits*  Sub-total interests equity

Bx  RtEE* EFRE  iERRT  REER hat FEREE  RRAE
RMB000 ~ AMB'000  AMB000  AMB000  RMB000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ANERTT ARETT ANEETT ARETFT ARETT AEKTT ARETT ARETT

(Note a) (Note b)
(Hia) (HiZb)

At 1 January 2018 ®2018%1A1A — — 64,951 6,997 53,000 124,948 2704 127,652
Profit and total comprehensive ERaNREENEEE

income for the year — — — — 43,219 43,219 (56) 43,163
Capital contribution by equity WBAREEHEATE

holder of subsidiary = = 70,001 = = 70,001 = 70,001
Issue of shares Bki 195 — 378 — = 573 = 573
Disposal of subsidiary HERBAR — — — = = = (1,395) (1,395)
Appropriation to statutory reserves  EEZEETEHE = = = 397 (380) 17 (17) —
At 31 December 2018 and R2018 51231 AR

1 January 2019 201951818 195 — 135,330 7,394 95,839 238,758 1,236 239,994
Initial application of HKFRS 16 ERERARMBREE

(Note 2(a)(i) E16R (K2 2a)() - - - . 115 115 (1) 114
Restated balance at 1 January M201961 A1AH

2019 FERFe: 195 — 135,330 7,394 95,954 238,873 1,235 240,108
Profit and total comprehensive FREFREANRES

income for the year — — — — 10,917 10,917 (2) 10,915
Shares issued pursuant to the REERMCETMETN

capitalisation issue fxfn 1,604 (1,604) — — — — — —
Shares issued pursuant to the REARZEER

public offering and placing REMRETHREA 168 69,061 — - — 69,229 = 69,229
Transaction costs attributable to the  AR%E RE £~

public offering and placing REHKA —  (19,907) = = —  (19,907) —  (19,907)
At 31 December 2019 R2019512A318 1,967 47,550 135,330 7,394 106,871 299,112 1,233 300,345
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
mEEREER

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z= 20194 12 A 31 HILFE

* The total of these amounts as at the reporting dates represents * RpE R ZSELENEEREATBRARSD
“Reserves” in the consolidated statement of financial position. Bl

Notes: e

(a)  Share premium account of the Company represents the excess of the () AAFAMERDEEREDBRATHKEBLEARRR
proceeds received over the nominal value of the Company’s share. NEENEE -

(b)  Statutory reserve represented the amount transferred from net profit (b) CERERBEREAETEERZETEKIMEAR
for the year of the subsidiaries established in the PRC (based on the M FRAER GRIRHR B R RN HEEEM B RK)#E
subsidiaries PRC statutory financial statements) in accordance with HEEHE  EEAERKEERZFMNEAREME
the relevant PRC laws until the statutory reserve reach 50% of the AHI50% 73 1E © BR IF AR 50 R 5B 18 5k 3 N &
registered capital of the subsidiaries. The statutory reserve cannot A & RIS HURUE E i

be reduced except either in setting off the accumulated losses or
increasing capital.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

RERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZE2019F 12 A31 HIEFE

2019 2018
2019 2018 4
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARB¥TFTT AREFr
Cash flows from operating activities RETHMEBRERE
Profit before income tax credit B BT 45 4 4 42 BT Vg 7 10,601 42,866
Adjustments for: PA TS IEIEL FHEE -
Change in fair value of financial assets at ZAREFF ABENMIEEER
fair value through profit or loss NREEE (700) (1,613)
Amortisation of intangible assets A EE 15,520 5,907
Depreciation of property, plant and M - BERERETE
equipment 1,490 126
Provision for impairment loss on trade B 5 W IB R E &R
receivables Bt 1,086 235
Provision for impairment loss on contract & )& R (B 18 &
assets 8,611 4,482
Loss on disposal of property, plant and HEWE - BERRENER
equipment 4 209
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries, net tH & B B A R Y ES 18 F B — 110
Interest expense B 45 —
Interest income FBEWA (5,052) (694)
Net foreign exchange gain P 5 Y o F 2R (2,424) —
Operating profit before working capital EiEE ¢ BRI L 5T
changes 29,181 51,628
Decrease/(increase) in trade receivables & 5 REUWFIER L (1#0) 846 (25,296)
Decrease/(increase) in contract assets AHWEERD (8M) 52,528 (56,859)
Increase in deposits, prepayments and Be  FENFE K H A e W G0E
other receivables 0 (3,252) (8,722)
Decrease in financial assets at fair value  ZARBEFABZNBBKEE
through profit or loss > — 37,671
Decrease in amount due from non- JE U SE PR AR M 25k
controlling interests —_ 640
Increase in inventories FEEM — (67)
(Decrease)/increase in trade payables B SRMNKRBECRD) /1 m (32,716) 35,953
Increase in contract liabilities AREEEMN 445 878
(Decrease)/increase in accruals and FEET B B R H M RIBOR L)
other payables e pli (12,702) 28,432
Cash generated from operations KEEEERS 34,330 64,258
Income tax paid ETATEH (18) (143)
Net cash generated from KEREI TSR € 55
operating activities 34,312 64,115
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

RERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZ2019F 12 A31 HIEFE

2019 2018
2019 2018 4
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FT AREFor
Cash flows from investing activities RETEBEBREKE
Disposal of subsidiary, net of cash HEWNBAR - HIKRAERS
disposed — (2,471)
Purchases of intangible assets BEEVEE (39,860) (16,524)
Payment of development cost for S EFEENFRAERAR
intangible assets (8,729) (4,439)
Increase in financial asset at fair value BARBEABSNIBEE
through profit or loss 0 (7,800) —
Purchases of property, plant and BEME  BERERE
equipment — (245)
Payment of time deposit in bank SATERITE BIE R (50,581) —
Redemption of time deposit in bank & B R 17 7€ HA 17 3K 7,042 —
Proceed from disposal of property, plant  HE¥E « BE LR EERIE
and equipment — 21
Interest income received B U F B U A 3,833 694
Net cash used in investing activities WEEBAREFE (96,095) (22,964)
Cash flows from financing activities BB RBFBHREeME
Proceed from issuance of share FTRMD S KIE 49,322 573
Proceed from capital contribution by MEARERFFE ATED
equity holder of subsidiary Fri§ 518 — 70,001
Increase in amounts due from JE AT R B R TR 1 AN
shareholders — (188)
Payment for lease liabilities XNHEERE (1,536) —
Net cash generated from financing BB EBIFTSIR SR
activities 47,786 70,386
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and RERBRSEBWORLD),En
cash equivalents R (13,997) 111,537
Cash and cash equivalents at FUHeRREEEY
beginning of the year 132,912 21,375
Cash and cash equivalents at end of FRRERREEFEY
the year 118,915 132,912
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GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 26
March 2018 as an exempted company with limited liability
under the Companies laws Chapter 22 of the Cayman Islands.
The Company was listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited on 14 March 2019. The addresses of Company’s
registered office is located at the office of Walkers Corporate
Limited, Cayman Corporate Centre, 27 Hospital Road, George
Town, Grand Cayman KY1-9008, Cayman Islands. The
Company’s principal place of business is located in the PRC.

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding
and the principal activities of its subsidiaries (together with the
Company collectively refer to as the “Group”) are provision of

online advertising services and online sales services.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”)

a) Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs - effective 1
January 2019

The Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”) has issued a number of new or amended
HKFRSs that are first effective for the current accounting

period of the Group:

o HKFRS 16, Leases

o HK(IFRIC)-Int 23, Uncertainty over Income Tax

Treatments

o Amendments to HKFRS 9, Prepayment Features

and Negative Compensation

DOUMOB ZEERIFZ AR LA

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RN R R E R

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZE2019F 12 A31 HIEFE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZ2019F 12 A31 HIEFE

o Amendments to HKAS 19, Plan Amendment,
Curtailment or Settlement

o Amendments to HKAS 28, Long-term Interests in
Associates and Joint Ventures

. Amendments to HKFRS 3, HKFRS 11, HKAS 12
and HKAS 23 included in Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2015-2017 Cycle

The impact of the adoption of HKFRS 16 Leases have
been summarised in below. The other new or amended
HKFRSs that are effective from 1 January 2019 did not
have any significant impact on the Group’s accounting
policies.

HKFRS 16, Leases

() Impact of the adoption of HKFRS 16

HKFRS 16 brings significant changes in
accounting treatment for lease accounting,
primarily for accounting for lessees. It replaces
HKAS 17 Leases (“HKAS 17”), HK(IFRIC)-Int 4
Determining whether an Arrangement contains
a Lease, HK(SIC)-Int 15 Operating Leases-
Incentives and HK(SIC)-Int 27 Evaluating the
Substance of Transactions Involving the Legal
Form of a Lease. From a lessee’s perspective,
almost all leases are recognised in the statement
of financial position as right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities, with the narrow exception to this
principle for leases which the underlying assets
are of low-value or are determined as short-
term leases. From a lessor’'s perspective, the
accounting treatment is substantially unchanged
from HKAS 17. For details of HKFRS 16 regarding
its new definition of a lease, its impact on the
Group’s accounting policies and the transition
method adopted by the Group as allowed under
HKFRS 16, please refer to section (ii) to (iv) of this
note.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RN R R E R

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZE2019F 12 A31 HIEFE

DOUMOB

The Group has applied HKFRS 16 using the
cumulative effect approach and recognised all the
cumulative effect of initially applying HKFRS 16 as
an adjustment to the opening balance of reserves
at the date of initial application. The comparative
information presented in 2018 has not been
restated and continues to be reported under
HKAS 17 and related interpretations as allowed by
the transition provision in HKFRS 16.

The following tables summarised the impact of
transition to HKFRS 16 on statement of financial
position as of 31 December 2018 to that of 1

January 2019 as follows (increase/(decrease)):

REBEEERARGHEEER
BAEMBHREERE165
I 1 B R FE R A B s S 2
Al 16T A Rt &
RAE R E X ER B HRF )
FEEE R E - RN20184F
SYMLEREARITEEL - W
BERBE S S ERE7
SERBSMGRELENE16
SRR R SCRT 72 BT RO R 2 12
23 -
TRV BE =B SR
HAHERFE 16 5% LB E 2018 F
12A31 B Z& E 201941 A
1HHPHBRARNZENT

(3, Cd)) -

Statement of financial position as at R2019F 1 A1H#H RMB’000
1 January 2019 BB IR ARMTF T
Right-of-use assets presented R - BB RFZENZ5H

in property, plant and equipment ERAEEE 1,819
Lease liabilities (current) HEBE(RE) 1,704
Retained earnings REEZ&F 115
Non-controlling interests IR (1)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M |RMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZ2019F 12 A31 HIEFE

The following reconciliation explains how the
operating lease commitments disclosed applying
HKAS 17 at the end of 31 December 2018 could
be reconciled to the lease liabilities at the date of

LA # BR B sl 8 2018 £ 12 A
31 BAERKEAE SR
FITHRBEENKLEHERAE
B 20194F 1 A 1 B M98 %k
MR FTRERN B X ERA B B

(ii)

initial application recognised in the statement of

financial position as at 1 January 2019: HEAENEEREN
Reconciliation of operating lease REHEREHTAEE FAY RMB’'000
commitment to lease liabilities Ea3 AR#HTFT
Operating lease commitment as of H=2018F 12 A31 HAY
31 December 2018 4T E AR 56

Add: lease payments relating to renewal a0 201844 12 A 31 H

periods not included in operating AW AT AL S EAER

lease commitments as at BEMAEENRK

31 December 2018 1,773
Less: short term leases for which J ¢ TAHAR 2019F 12 A

lease terms end before 31 HATE MM HAEE

31 December 2019 (76)
Less: future interest expenses B ARIRA SR 2 (49)
Total lease liabilities as of 1 January 2019 & ZE 201941 A1 HNHEAEERE 1,704

The weighted average lessee’s incremental
borrowing rate applied to lease liabilities

recognised in the statement of financial position

as at 1 January 2019 is 4.9%.

The new definition of a lease

Under HKFRS 16, a lease is defined as a contract,
or part of a contract, that conveys the right to use
an asset (the underlying asset) for a period of time
in exchange for consideration. A contract conveys
the right to control the use of an identified asset
for a period of time when the customer, throughout

the period of use, has both: (a) the right to obtain

R2019F1 A 18 8 7 #k R
FERNEE S EFTE AN
AR AEEEEF XA

4.9% °

(i) HEAHEZE

REFEMBHRELELE 16
% HENEERE TR K
RHRAEREERBEE)N
BN AMEAERN —IHE KX
BHAN—ED - BEPREE
% A BB RE : (a) 5 HE &
EAEBAEETRNEBAA

substantially all of the economic benefits from use DEEF =R (b)BEIERE
of the identified asset and (b) the right to direct HREENAER  AABT

the use of the identified asset.

REF AR — BRI R U HE Il 2 38k
MEENRE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RN R R E R

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZE2019F 12 A31 HIEFE

DOUMOB

(iii)

For a contract that contains a lease component
and one or more additional lease or non-
lease components, a lessee shall allocate the
consideration in the contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-
alone price of the lease component and the
aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease
components, unless the lessee apply the practical
expedient which allows the lessee to elect, by
class of underlying asset, not to separate non-
lease components from lease components, and
instead account for each lease component and
any associated non-lease components as a single

lease component.

The Group has elected not to separate non-
lease components and account for all each
lease component and any associated non-lease
components as a single lease component for all

leases.
Accounting as a lessee

Under HKAS 17, a lessee has to classify a lease
as an operating lease or a finance lease based on
the extent to which risks and rewards incidental
to ownership of a lease asset lie with the lessor
or the lessee. If a lease is determined as an
operating lease, the lessee would recognise the
lease payments under the operating lease as an
expense over the lease term. The asset under the
lease would not be recognised in the statement of

financial position of the lessee.

TEMRARAE

(iii)

HESHEAKRED K —HX
ZIRFEIMEE HIFE EAMKED
AHERME - AEAEKE
HREDEZESHESEKI
5 EEREEAEKE DK
B ERMIFHERAKES
BB ERAARE - BRIEATEA
ERBERERTAERARAR
REEEERNEETEEE
ARCED D B 0 JEFH B AE AP
7 MeEfSEEERs X
ETHERAZE R SRR D AR
FIVEE —HEEKED °

rEBEEEETESIEER
KREBD YA ERERSHE
HRER D KRR FETHE A
RER D 2B ARRSIEE —HE
HRERD ©

(ERATAN B 25T e FE

RIBFFESLERNE175E
EBEABARBEHEEEMBE
B 7 B0 [ B K [ 3R £ 1 AR A 3K
AEANEBREESEEDE
RCEHELRMENRE - Wil
EETREERE  AEAR
REHAKEEEERTHHE
ENFER R - HEET
B E/ TS NEABEANTT
IR P HERR ©
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZ2019F 12 A31 HIEFE

Under HKFRS 16, all leases are required to be
capitalised in the statement of financial position
as right-of-use assets and lease liabilities, but
HKFRS 16 provides accounting policy choices
for an entity to choose not to capitalise (i) leases
which are short-term leases and/or (ii) leases for
which the underlying asset is of low-value. The
Group has elected not to recognise right-of-use
assets and lease liabilities for low-value assets
and leases for which at the commencement date
have a lease term less than 12 months. The lease
payments associated with those leases have been
expensed on straight-line basis over the lease

term.

The Group recognised a right-of-use asset and
a lease liability at the commencement date of a

lease.
Right-of-use asset

The Group recognises right-of-use assets at the
commencement date of the lease (i.e., the date
the underlying asset is available for use). Right-
of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses,
and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease
liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes
the amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial
direct costs incurred, and lease payments made
at or before the commencement date less any
lease incentives received. Unless the Group is
reasonably certain to obtain ownership of the
leased asset at the end of the lease term, the
recognised right-of-use assets are depreciated
on a straight-line basis over the shorter of its
estimated useful life and the lease term. Right-of-

use assets are subject to impairment.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZE2019F 12 A31 HIEFE

DOUMOB

Lease liability

The lease liability should be recognised at the
present value of the lease payments that are not
paid at the date of commencement of the lease.
The lease payments shall be discounted using
the interest rate implicit in the lease, if that rate
can be readily determined. If that rate cannot
be readily determined, the Group shall use the

Group’s incremental borrowing rate.

The following payments for the right-to-use the
underlying asset during the lease term that are
not paid at the commencement date of the lease
are considered to be lease payments: (i) fixed
payments less any lease incentives receivable; (ii)
variable lease payments that depend on an index
or a rate, initially measured using the index or rate
as at commencement date; (iii) amounts expected
to be payable by the lessee under residual value
guarantees; (iv) the exercise price of a purchase
option if the lessee is reasonably certain to
exercise that option and (v) payments of penalties
for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects
the lessee exercising an option to terminate the

lease.

Subsequent to the commencement date, a lessee
shall measure the lease liability by: (i) increasing
the carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease
liability; (ii) reducing the carrying amount to reflect
the lease payments made; and (iii) remeasuring
the carrying amount to reflect any reassessment
or lease modifications, e.g., a change in future
lease payments arising from change in an index or
rate, a change in the lease term, a change in the
in substance fixed lease payments or a change in

assessment to purchase the underlying asset.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZ2019F 12 A31 HIEFE

(iv)

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease
recognition exemption to its short-term leases of
office premises and equipment (i.e., those leases
that have a lease term of 12 months or less from
the commencement date and do not contain a
purchase option). It also applies the lease of low-
value assets recognition exemption to leases of
office equipment that are considered of low value
(i.e., below USD5,000). Lease payments on short-
term leases and leases of low-value assets are
recognised as expense on a straight-line basis

over the lease term.
Transition

As mentioned above, the Group has applied
HKFRS 16 using the cumulative effect approach
and recognised all the cumulative effect of
initially applying HKFRS 16 as an adjustment to
the opening balance of retained earnings at the
date of initial application (1 January 2019). The
comparative information presented in 2018 has not
been restated and continues to be reported under
HKAS 17 and related interpretations as allowed by
the transition provision in HKFRS 16.

The Group has recognised the lease liabilities at
the date of 1 January 2019 for leases previously
classified as operating leases applying HKAS 17
and measured those lease liabilities at the present
value of the remaining lease payments, discounted
using the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate at 1
January 2019.

(iv)
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZE2019F 12 A31 HIEFE

DOUMOB

The Group has elected to recognise all of the
right-of-use assets at 1 January 2019 for leases
previously classified operating leases under HKAS
17 as if HKFRS 16 had been applied since the
commencement date, but discounted using the
lessee’s incremental borrowing rate at the date of
initial application. For all these right-of-use assets,
the Group has applied HKAS 36 Impairment of
Assets at 1 January 2019 to assess if there was

any impairment as on that date.

The Group has also applied the follow practical
expedients: (i) applied a single discount rate
to a portfolio of leases with reasonably similar
characteristics; (ii) applied the exemption of not to
recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities
for leases with term that will end within 12 months
of the date of initial application (1 January 2019)
and accounted for those leases as short-term
leases; and (iii) exclude the initial direct costs
from the measurement of the right-of-use asset at
1 January 2019.

In addition, the Group has also applied the
practical expedients such that: (i) HKFRS 16 is
applied to all of the Group’s lease contracts that
were previously identified as leases applying
HKAS 17 and HK(IFRIC)-Int 4 Determining whether
an Arrangement contains a Lease and (ii) not
to apply HKFRS 16 to contracts that were not
previously identified as containing a lease under
HKAS 17 and HK(IFRIC)-Int 4.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZ2019F 12 A31 HIEFE

(v)

Amounts recognised in the consolidated statement
of financial position and consolidated statement of

profit or loss and other comprehensive income

The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use
assets presented in property, plant and equipment

and lease liabilities and the movements during the

(v) REEHMBRIRUARGER
an R E M 2 [ Wk KRR £
B

FAXEERYE  BE kR
BR2IMEREEEREE
BENREEARESHHSIWN

year are set out below: T :
Right-of-use Lease
assets liabilities
ERREEE HESE
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®FT AR®FT
As at 1 January 2019 M2019%1 H1H 1,819 1,704
Depreciation expense EMAX (1,321) —
Interest expense BRI — 46
Payments 3R == (1,537)
Effect of lease modification HEBFTTHTE (213) (213)
As at 31 December 2019 201912 A31H 285 —
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZE2019F 12 A31 HIEFE

DOUMOB

HK(IFRIC)-Int 23 — Uncertainty over Income Tax
Treatments

The Interpretation supports the requirements of HKAS
12, Income Taxes, by providing guidance over how
to reflect the effects of uncertainty in accounting for
income taxes. Under the Interpretation, the entity
shall determine whether to consider each uncertain
tax treatment separately or together based on
which approach better predicts the resolution of
the uncertainty. The entity shall also assume the tax
authority will examine amounts that it has a right
to examine and have full knowledge of all related
information when making those examinations. If the
entity determines it is probable that the tax authority
will accept an uncertain tax treatment, then the entity
should measure current and deferred tax in line with
its tax filings. If the entity determines it is not probable,
then the uncertainty in the determination of tax is
reflected using either the “most likely amount” or the
“expected value” approach, whichever better predicts

the resolution of the uncertainty.

Amendments to HKAS 19 — Plan amendments,

curtailment or settlement

The amendments clarify that on amendment, curtailment
or settlement of a defined benefit plan, a company
should use updated actuarial assumptions to determine
its current service cost and net interest for the
period. Additionally, the effect of the asset ceiling is
disregarded when calculating the gain or loss on any
settlement of the plan and is dealt with separately in

other comprehensive income.

Amendments to HKFRS 9 — Prepayment Features

with Negative Compensation

The amendments clarify that prepayable financial
assets with negative compensation can be measured
at amortised cost or at fair value through other
comprehensive income if specified conditions are met —

instead of at fair value through profit or loss.
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Amendments to HKAS 28 — Long-term Interests in
Associates and Joint Ventures

The amendment clarifies that HKFRS 9 applies to long-
term interests (“LTI”) in associates or joint ventures
which form part of the net investment in the associates
or joint ventures and stipulates that HKFRS 9 is applied
to these LTI before the impairment losses guidance
within HKAS 28.

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2015-2018 Cycle —

Amendments to HKFRS 3, Business Combinations

The amendments issued under the annual improvements
process make small, non-urgent changes to standards
where they are currently unclear. They include
amendments to HKFRS 3 which clarifies that when a
joint operator of a business obtains control over a joint
operation, this is a business combination achieved in
stages and the previously held equity interest should
therefore be remeasured to its acquisition date fair

value.

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2015-2018 Cycle —
Amendments to HKFRS 11, Joint Arrangements

The amendments issued under the annual improvements
process make small, non-urgent changes to standards
where they are currently unclear. They include
amendments to HKFRS 11 which clarify that when
a party that participates in, but does not have joint
control of, a joint operation which is a business and
subsequently obtains joint control of the joint operation,
the previously held equity interest should not be

remeasured to its acquisition date fair value.
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DOUMOB

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2015-2018 Cycle —
Amendments to HKAS 12, Income Taxes

The amendments issued under the annual improvements
process make small, non-urgent changes to standards
where they are currently unclear. They include
amendments to HKAS 12 which clarify that all income
tax consequences of dividends are recognised
consistently with the transactions that generated
the distributable profits, either in profit or loss, other

comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2015-2018 Cycle —
Amendments to HKAS 23, Borrowing Costs

The amendments issued under the annual improvements
process make small, non-urgent changes to standards
where they are currently unclear. They include
amendments to HKAS 23 which clarifies that a borrowing
made specifically to obtain a qualifying asset which
remains outstanding after the related qualifying asset
is ready for its intended use or sale would become part
of the funds an entity borrows generally and therefore

included in the general pool.
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b)

New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued but are

not yet effective

The following new/revised HKFRSs, potentially relevant

to the Group’s financial statements, have been issued,

but are not yet effective and have not been early

adopted by the Group. The Group’s current intention

is to apply these changes on the date they become

effective.

Amendments to
HKFRS 3
Amendments to HKAS 1
and HKAS 8

Amendments to HKFRS 9,

HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7

HKFRS 17

Amendments to
HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

January 2020

January 2021

Definition of a business'

Definition of material’

Interest Rate Benchmark

Reform’

Insurance Contracts?

Sale or Contribution
of Assets between
an Investor and its
Associate or Joint

Venture®

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1

The amendments were originally intended to be effective

for periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018. The

effective date has now been deferred/removed. Early

application of the amendments of the amendments

continue to be permitted.
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DOUMOB

Amendments to HKFRS 3 — Definition of a business

The amendments clarify that a business must include,
as a minimum, an input and a substantive process that
together significantly contribute to the ability to create
outputs, together with providing extensive guidance on

what is meant by a “substantive process”.

Additionally, the amendments remove the assessment
of whether market participants are capable of replacing
any missing inputs or processes and continuing to
produce outputs, whilst narrowing the definition of
“outputs” and a “business” to focus on returns from
selling goods and services to customers, rather than on

cost reductions.

An optional concentration test has also been added that
permits a simplified assessment of whether an acquired

set of activities and assets is not a business.

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 — Definition of

material

The amendments clarify the definition and explanation
of “material”, aligning the definition across all HKFRS
Standards and the Conceptual Framework, and
incorporating supporting requirements in HKAS 1 into

the definition.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZ2019F 12 A31 HIEFE

Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7 —
Interest Rate Benchmark Reforrm

The amendments modify some specific hedge
accounting requirements to provide relief from potential
effects of the uncertainties caused by interest rate
benchmark reform. In addition, the amendments require
companies to provide additional information to investors
about their hedging relationships which are directly

affected by these uncertainties.

HKFRS 17 — Insurance Contracts

HKFRS 17 will replace HKFRS 4 as a single principle-
based standard for the recognition, measurement,
presentation and disclosure of insurance contracts
in the financial statements of the issuers of those

contracts.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 — Sale or
Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its

Associate or Joint Venture

The amendments clarify the extent of gains or losses to
be recognised when an entity sells or contributes assets
to its associate or joint venture. When the transaction
involves a business the gain or loss is recognised in full,
conversely when the transaction involves assets that do
not constitute a business the gain or loss is recognised
only to the extent of the unrelated investors’ interests in

the joint venture or associate.

The Group is not yet in a position to state whether these
new pronouncements will result in substantial changes
to the Group’s accounting policies and financial

statements.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION

3.1

3.2

3.3

DOUMOB

Statement of compliance

The financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with all applicable HKFRSs, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations
(hereinafter collectively referred to as the “HKFRS”)
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
In addition, the financial statements include applicable
disclosure required by the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited.

Basis of measurement

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared under the historical cost basis, unless

otherwise indicated.
Functional and presentation currency

The functional currency of the Company is Renminbi
(“RMB”), which is same as the presentation currency of

the consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A MR R R

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZ2019F 12 A31 HIEFE

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

4.1

Business combination and basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise
the financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries (“the Group”). Inter-company transactions
and balances between group companies together with
unrealised profits are eliminated in full in preparing the
consolidated financial statements. Unrealised losses are
also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence
of impairment on the asset transferred, in which case

the loss is recognised in profit or loss.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed
of during the year are included in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income from the dates
of acquisition or up to the dates of disposal, as
appropriate. Where necessary, adjustments are made
to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their
accounting policies into line with those used by other

members of the Group.

Acquisition of subsidiaries or businesses is accounted
for using the acquisition method. The cost of an
acquisition is measured at the aggregate of the
acquisition-date fair value of assets transferred,
liabilities incurred and equity interests issued by the
Group, as the acquirer. The identifiable assets acquired
and liabilities assumed are principally measured at
acquisition-date fair value. The Group’s previously
held equity interest in the acquiree is re-measured
at acquisition-date fair value and the resulting gains
or losses are recognised in profit or loss. The Group
may elect, on a transaction-by-transaction basis, to
measure the non-controlling interests that represent
present ownership interests in the subsidiary either at
fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s
identifiable net assets. All other non-controlling interests
are measured at fair value unless another measurement
basis is required by HKFRSs. Acquisition-related costs
incurred are expensed unless they are incurred in
issuing equity instruments in which case the costs are

deducted from equity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RN R R E R

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZE2019F 12 A31 HIEFE

4.2

DOUMOB

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by
the acquirer is recognised at acquisition-date fair
value. Subsequent adjustments to consideration are
recognised against goodwill only to the extent that
they arise from new information obtained within the
measurement period (a maximum of 12 months from the
acquisition date) about the fair value at the acquisition
date. All other subsequent adjustments to contingent
consideration classified as an asset or a liability are

recognised in profit or loss.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the profit
or loss on disposal is calculated as the difference
between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the
consideration received and the fair value of any
retained interest and (ii) the previous carrying amount
of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the
subsidiary and any non-controlling interest. Amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive income in
relation to the subsidiary are accounted for in the same
manner as would be required if the relevant assets or

liabilities were disposed of.

Subsequent to acquisition, the carrying amount of non-
controlling interests that represent present ownership
interests in the subsidiary is the amount of those
interests at initial recognition plus such non-controlling
interest’s share of subsequent changes in equity.
Total comprehensive income is attributed to such non-
controlling interests even if this results in those non-

controlling interests having a deficit balance.
Subsidiary

A subsidiary is an investee over which the Company
is able to exercise control. The Company controls
an investee if all three of the following elements are
present: power over the investee, exposure, or rights,
to variable returns from the investee, and the ability to
use its power to affect those variable returns. Control is
reassessed whenever facts and circumstances indicate
that there may be a change in any of these elements of

control.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A MR R R

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZ2019F 12 A31 HIEFE

4.3

De-facto control exists in situations where the Company
has the practical ability to direct the relevant activities
of the investee without holding the majority of the
voting rights. In determining whether de-facto control
exists the Company considers all relevant facts and

circumstances, including:

. The size of the Company’s voting rights relative to
both the size and dispersion of other parties who
hold voting rights;

o Substantive potential voting rights held by the

Company and other parties who hold voting rights;
. Other contractual arrangements; and
o Historic patterns in voting attendance.

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less
impairment loss, if any. The results of subsidiaries are
accounted for by the Company on the basis of dividend

received and receivable.
Goodwill

Where the fair value of identifiable assets and liabilities
exceed the aggregate of the fair value of consideration
paid, the amount of any non-controlling interest in
the acquiree and the acquisition date fair value of
the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the
acquiree, the excess is recognised in profit or loss on

the acquisition date, after re-assessment.

Goodwill is measured at cost less impairment losses. For
the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill arising from
an acquisition is allocated to each of the relevant cash-
generating units that are expected to benefit from the
synergies of the acquisition. A cash-generating unit is
the smallest identifiable group of assets that generates
cash inflows that are largely independent of the cash
inflows from other assets or groups of assets. A cash-
generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated
is tested for impairment annually, by comparing its
carrying amount with its recoverable amount (see note
4.15), and whenever there is an indication that the unit

may be impaired.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RN R R E R

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZE2019F 12 A31 HIEFE

4.4

DOUMOB

For goodwill arising on an acquisition in a financial year,
the cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been
allocated is tested for impairment before the end of
that financial year. When the recoverable amount of the
cash-generating unit is less than the carrying amount of
the unit, the impairment loss is allocated to reduce the
carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit
first, and then to the other assets of the unit pro-rata on
the basis of the carrying amount to each asset in the
unit. However, the loss allocated to each asset will not
reduce the individual asset’s carrying amount to below
its fair value less cost of disposal (if measurable) or its
value in use (if determinable), whichever is the higher.
Any impairment loss for goodwill is recognised in profit

or loss and is not reversed in subsequent periods.
Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment including buildings
held for use in the production or supply of goods, or
for administrative purposes as described below, other
than construction in progress, are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment

losses, if any.
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The cost of property, plant and equipment includes its
purchase price and the costs directly attributable to the

acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s
carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset,
as appropriate, only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will flow to
the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is
derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are
recognised as an expense in profit or loss during the

financial period in which they are incurred.

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated so as to
write off their cost or valuation net of expected residual
value over their estimated useful lives on a straight-line
basis. The useful lives, residual value and depreciation
method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at

the end of each reporting period. The useful lives are as

follows:

Leasehold Over the remaining life of the
improvements leases but not exceeding 5

years

Furniture, fixtures 3 — 5 years
and office
equipment

Motor vehicles 5 years

Computers 3 years

An asset is written down immediately to its recoverable
amount if its carrying amount is higher than the asset’s

estimated recoverable amount.

Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over
their expected useful lives on the same basis as owned

assets, or where shorter, the term of the relevant lease.

The gain or loss on disposal of an item of property, plant
and equipment is the difference between the net sale
proceeds and its carrying amount, and is recognised in

profit or loss on disposal.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RN R R E R

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZE2019F 12 A31 HIEFE

4.5

DOUMOB

Leasing (accounting policies applied from 1 January
2019)

All leases (irrespective of they are operating leases or
finance leases) are required to be capitalised in the
statement of financial position as right-of-use assets
and lease liabilities, but accounting policy choices
exist for an entity to choose not to capitalise (i) leases
which are short-term leases and/or (ii) leases for which
the underlying asset is of low-value. The Group has
elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities for low-value assets and leases for which at
the commencement date have a lease term less than
12 months. The lease payments associated with those
leases have been expensed on straight-line basis over

the lease term.
Right-of-use asset

The right-of-use asset should be recognised at cost
and would comprise: (i) the amount of the initial
measurement of the lease liability (see below for the
accounting policy to account for lease liability); (ii) any
lease payments made at or before the commencement
date, less any lease incentives received; (iii) any initial
direct costs incurred by the lessee and (iv) an estimate
of costs to be incurred by the lessee in dismantling and
removing the underlying asset to the condition required
by the terms and conditions of the lease, unless those
costs are incurred to produce inventories. The Group
measures the right-of-use assets applying a cost model.
Under the cost model, the Group measures the right-to-
use at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and any
impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement

of lease liability.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A MR R R

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZ2019F 12 A31 HIEFE

The Group has leased a number of properties under
tenancy agreements. The right-of-use asset arising from
the properties under tenancy agreements are carried at

depreciated cost.
Lease liability

The lease liability is recognised at the present value
of the lease payments that are not paid at the date of
commencement of the lease. The lease payments are
discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease, if
that rate can be readily determined. If that rate cannot
be readily determined, the Group uses the Group’s

incremental borrowing rate.

The following payments for the right-to-use the
underlying asset during the lease term that are not paid
at the commencement date of the lease are considered
to be lease payments: (i) fixed payments less any lease
incentives receivable: (ii) variable lease payments
that depend on an index or a rate, initially measured
using the index or rate as at commencement date; (iii)
amounts expected to be payable by the lessee under
residual value guarantees; (iv) the exercise price of
a purchase option if the lessee is reasonably certain
to exercise that option and (v) payments of penalties
for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the

lessee exercising an option to terminate the lease.

Subsequent to the commencement date, the Group
measures the lease liability by: (i) increasing the
carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease
liability; (ii) reducing the carrying amount to reflect
the lease payments made; and (iii) remeasuring the
carrying amount to reflect any reassessment or lease
modifications, e.g., a change in future lease payments
arising from change in an index or rate, a change in the
lease term, a change in the in substance fixed lease
payments or a change in assessment to purchase the

underlying asset.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZE2019F 12 A31 HIEFE

4.6

4.7

DOUMOB

Leasing (accounting policies applied until 31
December 2018)

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the
terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership to lessee. All other leases are

classified as operating leases.
The Group as lessee

Assets held under finance leases are initially recognised
as assets at their fair value or, if lower, the present value
of the minimum lease payments. The corresponding
lease commitment is shown as a liability. Lease
payments are analysed between capital and interest.
The interest element is charged to profit or loss over
the period of the lease and is calculated so that it
represents a constant proportion of the lease liability.
The capital element reduces the balance owed to the

lessor.

The total rentals payable under the operating leases
are recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis
over the lease term. Lease incentives received are
recognised as an integrated part of the total rental

expense, over the term of the lease.

The land and buildings elements of property leases
are considered separately for the purposes of lease

classification.
Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are initially
recognised at cost. The cost of intangible assets
acquired in a business combination is fair value at the
date of acquisition. Subsequently, intangible assets with
finite useful lives are carried at cost less accumulated

amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZ2019F 12 A31 HIEFE

Amortisation is provided on a straight-line basis over

their useful lives as follows:

BENAERFHRRERETR
B BT

Software 3 years B 34
Subscription accounts 3 years HEES= 3F
Film script license right 5 years E5-7: PN 5%

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are carried
at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. The
amortisation expense is recognised in profit or loss and

included in administrative expenses.

Internally generated intangible assets (research and
development costs)

Expenditure on internally developed products is

capitalised if it can be demonstrated that:
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. it is technically feasible to develop the product for o By E R GRS A S LA EHE
it to be sold;
o adequate resources are available to complete the ° BEREE R

development;

. there is an intention to complete and sell the . BEEHR L IEEER
product;

. the Group is able to sell the product; . AEEERIEEER

. sale of the product will generate future economic . SHEE S 2 E £ R REHEF
benefits; and expenditure on the project can be W REERISEETEEHA S W o

measured reliably.

Capitalised development costs are amortised over
the periods the Group expects to benefit from selling
the products developed. The amortisation expense
is recognised in profit or loss and included in cost of

sales.

Development expenditure not satisfying the above
criteria and expenditure on the research phase of
internal projects are recognised in profit or loss as

incurred.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZE2019F 12 A31 HIEFE

4.8

DOUMOB

Impairment

Intangible assets with finite useful lives are tested for
impairment when there is an indication that an asset
may be impaired. Intangible assets with indefinite
useful lives and intangible assets not yet available for
use are tested for impairment annually, irrespective
of whether there is any indication that they may be
impaired. Intangible assets are tested for impairment by
comparing their carrying amounts with their recoverable

amounts (see note 4.15).

If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to be
less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the

asset is reduced to its recoverable amount.

An impairment loss is recognised as an expense
immediately, unless the relevant asset is carried at a
revalued amount, in which case the impairment loss
is treated as revaluation decrease to the extent of its

revaluation surplus.
Financial Instruments
(i)  Financial assets

A financial asset (unless it is a trade receivable
without a significant financing component) is
initially measured at fair value plus, for an item
not at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL"),
transaction costs that are directly attributable to
its acquisition or issue. A trade receivable without
a significant financing component is initially

measured at the transaction price.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial
assets are recognised on the trade date, that is,
the date that the Group commits to purchase or
sell the asset. Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the period generally
established by regulation or convention in the

market place.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZ2019F 12 A31 HIEFE

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are
considered in their entirely when determining
whether their cash flows are solely payment of

principal and interest.
Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments
depends on the Group’s business model
for managing the asset and the cash flow
characteristics of the asset. There are three
measurement categories into which the Group

classifies its debt instruments:

Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection
of contractual cash flows where those cash flows
represent solely payments of principal and interest
are measured at amortised cost. Financial assets
at amortised cost are subsequently measured
using the effective interest rate method. Interest
income, foreign exchange gains and losses and
impairment are recognised in profit or loss. Any
gain on derecognition is recognised in profit or

loss.

Fair value through other comprehensive income
(“FVOCI”): Assets that are held for collection
of contractual cash flows and for selling the
financial assets, where the assets’ cash flows
represent solely payments of principal and
interest, are measured at fair value through
OCI. Debt investments at fair value through
other comprehensive income are subsequently
measured at fair value. Interest income calculated
using the effective interest rate method, foreign
exchange gains and losses and impairment are
recognised in profit or loss. Other net gains and
losses are recognised in other comprehensive
income. On derecognition, gains and losses
accumulated in other comprehensive income are

reclassified to profit or loss.
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Fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”):
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
include financial assets held for trading, financial
assets designated upon initial recognition at fair
value through profit or loss, or financial assets
mandatorily required to be measured at fair value.
Financial assets are classified as held for trading
if they are acquired for the purpose of selling
or repurchasing in the near term. Derivatives,
including separated embedded derivatives, are
also classified as held for trading unless they
are designated as effective hedging instruments.
Financial assets with cash flows that are not
solely payments of principal and interest are
classified and measured at fair value through
profit or loss, irrespective of the business model.
Notwithstanding the criteria for debt instruments
to be classified at amortised cost or at fair
value through other comprehensive income,
as described above, debt instruments may be
designated at fair value through profit or loss
on initial recognition if doing so eliminates, or

significantly reduces, an accounting mismatch.

The Group has certain investments in film
projects which entitle the Group to receive a fixed
and/ or variable income based on the Group’s
investment amount and/ or expected rate of return
as specified in the respective film investment
agreements. All film investments which give rise
to cash flows that are not solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding are stated at fair value through profit

or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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(i)

Equity instruments

On initial recognition of an equity investment that
is not held for trading, the Group could irrevocably
elect to present subsequent changes in the
investment’s fair value in other comprehensive
income. This election is made on an investment-
by-investment basis. Equity investments at fair
value through other comprehensive income are
measured at fair value. Dividend income are
recognised in profit or loss unless the dividend
income clearly represents a recovery of part of
the cost of the investments. Other net gains and
losses are recognised in other comprehensive
income and are not reclassified to profit or loss.
All other equity instruments are classified as
FVTPL, whereby changes in fair value, dividends
and interest income are recognised in profit or

loss.
Impairment loss on financial assets

The Group recognises loss allowances for
expected credit loss (“ECL”) on trade receivables,
contract assets, financial assets measured at
amortised cost and debt investments measured at
FVOCI. The ECLs are measured on either of the
following bases: (1) 12 months ECLs: these are
the ECLs that result from possible default events
within the 12 months after the reporting date: and
(2) lifetime ECLs: these are ECLs that result from
all possible default events over the expected life
of a financial instrument. The maximum period
considered when estimating ECLs is the maximum
contractual period over which the Group is

exposed to credit risk.

(i)
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ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of
credit losses. Credit losses are measured as
the difference between all contractual cash
flows that are due to the Group in accordance
with the contract and all the cash flows that the
Group expects to receive. The shortfall is then
discounted at an approximation to the assets’

original effective interest rate.

The Group has elected to measure loss
allowances for trade receivables and contract
assets using HKFRS 9 simplified approach and
has calculated ECLs based on lifetime ECLs.
The Group has established a provision matrix
that is based on the Group’s historical credit
loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking
factors specific to the debtors and the economic

environment.

For other debt financial assets, the ECLs are
based on the 12-month ECLs. However, when
there has been a significant increase in credit risk
since origination, the allowance will be based on
the lifetime ECLs.

When determining whether the credit risk of a
financial asset has increased significantly since
initial recognition and when estimating ECL, the
Group considers reasonable and supportable
information that is relevant and available
without undue cost or effort. This includes both
quantitative and qualitative information analysis,
based on the Group’s historical experience
and informed credit assessment and including

forward-looking information.

The Group assumes that the credit risk on a
financial asset has increased significantly if it is
more than 30 days past due unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information that

demonstrate otherwise.
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A MR R R

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZ2019F 12 A31 HIEFE

(iii)

The Group considers a financial asset to be credit-
impaired when: (1) the borrower is unlikely to pay
its credit obligations to the Group in full, without
recourse by the Group to actions such as realising
security (if any is held); or (2) the financial asset
is more than 90 days past due unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information to
demonstrate that a more lagging default criteria is

more appropriate.

Interest income on credit-impaired financial assets
is calculated based on the amortised cost (i.e. the
gross carrying amount less loss allowance) of the
financial asset. For non credit-impaired financial
assets interest income is calculated based on the

gross carrying amount.
Financial liabilities

The Group classifies its financial liabilities,
depending on the purpose for which the liabilities
were incurred. Financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss are initially measured at fair
value and financial liabilities at amortised costs
are initially measured at fair value, net of directly

attributable costs incurred.

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or

loss

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or
loss include financial liabilities held for trading
and financial liabilities designated upon initial

recognition as at fair value through profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are classified as held for
trading if they are acquired for the purpose of sale
in the near term. Derivatives, including separated
embedded derivatives, are also classified as held
for trading unless they are designated as effective
hedging instruments. Gains or losses on liabilities

held for trading are recognised in profit or loss.

(iii)
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Where a contract contains one or more embedded
derivatives, the entire hybrid contract may
be designated as a financial liability at fair
value through profit or loss, except where the
embedded derivative does not significantly modify
the cash flows or it is clear that separation of the

embedded derivative is prohibited.

Financial liabilities may be designated upon
initial recognition as at fair value through profit
or loss if the following criteria are met: (i) the
designation eliminates or significantly reduces the
inconsistent treatment that would otherwise arise
from measuring the liabilities or recognising gains
or losses on them on a different basis; (ii) the
liabilities are part of a group of financial liabilities
which are managed and their performance
evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance
with a documented risk management strategy; or
(iii) the financial liability contains an embedded
derivative that would need to be separately

recorded.

Subsequent to initial recognition, financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are
measured at fair value, with changes in fair
value recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they arise, except for the gains and losses
arising from the Group’s own credit risk which are
presented in other comprehensive income with
no subsequent reclassification to the statement
of profit or loss. The net fair value gain or loss
recognised in the statement of profit or loss does
not include any interest charged on these financial

liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZ2019F 12 A31 HIEFE

(iv)

(v)

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities at amortised cost including
trade and other payables, borrowings, certain
preference shares and the debt element of
convertible loan note issued by the Group are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using
the effective interest method. The related interest

expense is recognised in profit or loss.

Gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss
when the liabilities are derecognised as well as

through the amortisation process.
Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset
or financial liability and of allocating interest
income or interest expense over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
or payments through the expected life of the
financial asset or liability, or where appropriate, a

shorter period.
Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are
recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct

issue costs.

The Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, Cap. 622,
came into operation on 3 March 2014. Under
the Ordinance shares of the Company do not
have a nominal value. Consideration received
or receivable for the issue of shares on or after
3 March 2014 is credited to share capital.
Commissions and expenses are allowed to be
deducted from share capital under s. 148 and s.
149 of the Ordinance.

(iv)

(v)
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(vi)

(vii)

Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that
requires the issuer to make specified payments to
reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because
a specified debtor fails to make payment when
due in accordance with the original or modified
terms of a debt instrument. A financial guarantee
contract issued by the Group and not designated
as at fair value through profit or loss is recognised
initially at its fair value less transaction costs
that are directly attributable to the issue of the
financial guarantee contract. Subsequent to initial
recognition, the Group measures the financial
guarantee contact at the higher of: (i) the amount
of the loss allowance, being the ECL provision
measured in accordance with principles of the
accounting policy set out in note 4.8(ii); and
(ii) the amount initially recognised less, when
appropriate, cumulative amortisation recognised

in accordance with the principles of HKFRS 15.
Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset when
the contractual rights to the future cash flows
in relation to the financial asset expire or when
the financial asset has been transferred and the
transfer meets the criteria for derecognition in
accordance with HKFRS 9.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the
obligation specified in the relevant contract is

discharged, cancelled or expires.
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A MR R R

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZ2019F 12 A31 HIEFE

4.9

Where the Group issues its own equity instruments
to a creditor to settle a financial liability in whole
or in part as a result of renegotiating the terms
of that liability, the equity instruments issued
are the consideration paid and are recognised
initially and measured at their fair value on
the date the financial liability or part thereof
is extinguished. If the fair value of the equity
instruments issued cannot be reliably measured,
the equity instruments are measured to reflect the
fair value of the financial liability extinguished. The
difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability or part thereof extinguished and
the consideration paid is recognised in profit or

loss for the year.
Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised
when control of goods or services is transferred to the
customers at an amount that reflects the consideration
to which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange
for those goods or services, excluding those amounts
collected on behalf of third parties. Revenue excludes
value added tax or other sales taxes and is after

deduction of any trade discounts.

Depending on the terms of the contract and the laws
that apply to the contract, control of the goods or
service may be transferred over time or at a point in
time. Control of the goods or service is transferred over

time if the Group’s performance:

o provides all of the benefits received and

consumed simultaneously by the customer;

o creates or enhances an asset that the customer

controls as the Group performs; or

o does not create an asset with an alternative use to
the Group and the Group has an enforceable right

to payment for performance completed to date.
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If control of the goods or services transfers over time,
revenue is recognised over the period of the contract by
reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction
of that performance obligation. Otherwise, revenue is
recognised at a point in time when the customer obtains

control of the goods or service.

When the contract contains a financing component
which provides the customer a significant benefit
of financing the transfer of goods or services to the
customer for more than one year, revenue is measured
at the present value of the amounts receivable,
discounted using the discount rate that would be
reflected in a separate financing transaction between
the Group and the customer at contract inception.
Where the contract contains a financing component
which provides a significant financing benefit to the
Group, revenue recognised under that contract includes
the interest expense accreted on the contract liability
under the effective interest method. For contracts where
the period between the payment and the transfer of
the promised goods or services is one year or less,
the transaction price is not adjusted for the effects of
a significant financing component, using the practical
expedient in HKFRS 15.

(i)  Provision of online advertising services

The Group’s principal services are the provision
of online advertising services. The Group utilises
a combination of pricing models and revenue
is recognised when the related services are
delivered based on the specific terms of the

contract, which are commonly based on:

(a) Specified actions (i.e. cost per action
(“CPA”) and related campaign budgets,
depending on the advertisers’ preferences

and their campaigns launched), or

(b) Agreed rebates to be earned from certain

media publishers.
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The amount of revenue the Group recognises from
the provision of advertising services is affected
by the Group’s role under each particular contract
with customers. For contracts where the Group
acts as principal, the Group recognises revenue
on a gross basis while for contracts where the
Group acts as agent, the Group recognises
revenue on a net basis. For further details on
the Group’s revenue recognition policy in this
respect, see “Critical Accounting Estimates and
Judgements — Critical judgements in applying
accounting policies”. The combination of the
Group’s revenue from the provision of advertising
services measured by the portion of revenue
recognised on a gross basis and net basis, does
not impact the Group’s gross and net profit but
will affect the Group’s gross margin and net

margin.
Specified actions

The Group has determined that it acts as the
principal of these arrangements and therefore
recognised revenue earned and costs incurred
related to these transactions on a gross basis.
Revenue is recognised on a CPA basis once
agreed actions (download, activation, registration
and etc.) are performed. While none of the factors
individually are considered presumptive or
determinative, because the Group is the primary
obligor and are responsible for (1) identifying and
contracting with third-party advertisers which the
Group views as customers; (2) identifying media
publishers to provide online advertising spaces
where the Group views the media publishers as
suppliers; (3) establishing the selling prices of
CPA pricing model; (4) performing all billing and
collection activities, including retaining credit risk;
and (5) bearing sole responsibility for fulfillment
of the advertising. Under this arrangement, the
Group records the rebates earned from the
media publishers as a reduction of cost of sales.
Revenue is recognised at a point in time basis

when the customer obtains control of the services.
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(i)

(iii)

=B
X mm

Agreed rebates to be earned from certain media

publishers

In the arrangement with certain media publishers,
the Group acts as an agent, rather than a
principal for these media publishers by having
marketing clients market with this publisher.
Media publishers grant to the Group rebates in
the form of cash based on contractually stipulated
amounts once certain spending thresholds are
achieved. The Group considers these particular
media publishers as customers and reports
revenue earned and cost incurred related to these
transactions as a net basis, and recognises the
amount of rebates granted by media publishers
as revenue. Rebates from these media publishers
are calculated on a quarterly or an annual basis
in accordance with the terms as agreed in
arrangements. Revenue is recognised at a point
in time basis when the customer obtains control of

the services.
Provision of online sales services

Revenue from online sales services is recognised
at a point in time basis upon delivery of goods
sold which is based on agreed commission with

customers.
Interest income

Interest income is accrued on a time basis on the
principal outstanding at the applicable interest

rate.
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4.10 Government grants

Government grants are recognised in the statement
of financial position initially when there is reasonable
assurance that they will be received and that the Group
will comply with the conditions attaching to them. Grants
that compensate the Group for expenses incurred
are deducted in reporting the related expense or
recognised as income in profit or loss on a systematic
basis in the same periods in which the expenses are
incurred. Grants that compensate the Group for the cost
of an asset are deducted the grant in calculating the
carrying amount of the asset that is recognised in profit
or loss over the life of a depreciable asset as a reduced
depreciation expense. An unconditional government
grant is recognised in profit or loss as other revenue

when the grant becomes receivable.
Income tax

Income taxes for the year comprise current tax and

deferred tax.

Current tax is based on the profit or loss from ordinary
activities adjusted for items that are non-assessable or
disallowable for income tax purposes and is calculated
using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively

enacted at the end of reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary
differences between the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the
corresponding amounts used for tax purposes. Except
for goodwill and recognised assets and liabilities that
affect neither accounting nor taxable profits, deferred
tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are recognised to
the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will
be available against which deductible temporary
differences can be utilised. Deferred tax is measured
at the tax rates appropriate to the expected manner
in which the carrying amount of the asset or liability
is realised or settled and that have been enacted or

substantively enacted at the end of reporting period.
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Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences arising on investments in
subsidiaries, associates and jointly controlled entities,
except where the Group is able to control the reversal
of the temporary difference and it is probable that the
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable

future.

Income taxes are recognised in profit or loss except
when they relate to items recognised in other
comprehensive income in which case the taxes are also
recognised in other comprehensive income or when they
relate to items recognised directly in equity in which

case the taxes are also recognised directly in equity.

Foreign currency

Transactions entered into by the Company/ group
entities in currencies other than the currency of
the primary economic environment in which it/ they
operate(s) (the “functional currency”) are recorded at
the rates ruling when the transactions occur. Foreign
currency monetary assets and liabilities are translated
at the rates ruling at the end of reporting period.
Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was
determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in
terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not

retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the translation of monetary
items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period
in which they arise. Exchange differences arising on
the retranslation of non-monetary items carried at fair
value are included in profit or loss for the period except
for differences arising on the retranslation of non-
monetary items in respect of which gains and losses are
recognised in other comprehensive income, in which
case, the exchange differences are also recognised in

other comprehensive income.
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On consolidation, income and expense items of foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency
of the Group (i.e. Renminbi) at the average exchange
rates for the year, unless exchange rates fluctuate
significantly during the period, in which case, the rates
approximating to those ruling when the transactions
took place are used. All assets and liabilities of foreign
operations are translated at the rate ruling at the end
of reporting period. Exchange differences arising, if
any, are recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in equity as foreign exchange
reserve (attributed to minority interests as appropriate).
Exchange differences recognised in profit or loss of
group entities’ separate financial statements on the
translation of long-term monetary items forming part
of the Group’s net investment in the foreign operation
concerned are reclassified to other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity as foreign exchange

reserve.

On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative
exchange differences recognised in the foreign
exchange reserve relating to that operation up to the
date of disposal are reclassified to profit or loss as part

of the profit or loss on disposal.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable
assets acquired arising on an acquisition of a foreign
operation on or after 1 January 2005 are treated as
assets and liabilities of that foreign operation and
translated at the rate of exchange prevailing at the end
of reporting period. Exchange differences arising are

recognised in the foreign exchange reserve.
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4.13 Employee benefits

DOUMOB

(a)

(b)

(c)

Short-term employee benefits

Short term employee benefits are employee
benefits (other than termination benefits) that
are expected to be settled wholly before twelve
months after the end of the annual reporting
period in which the employees render the
related service. Short term employee benefits
are recognised in the year when the employees
render the related service.

Defined contribution retirement plan

Pursuant to the relevant regulations of the
PRC government, the Group participates in a
central pension scheme operated by the local
municipal government (the “Scheme”), whereby
the subsidiary of the Company in the PRC is
required to contribute a certain percentage of the
basic salaries of its employees to the Scheme
to fund their retirement benefits. The local
municipal government undertakes to assume
the retirement benefits obligations of all existing
and future retired employees of the subsidiary
of the Company. The only obligation of the
Group with respect to the Scheme is to pay the
ongoing required contributions under the Scheme.
Contributions under the Scheme are charged to
profit or loss as incurred. There are no provisions
under the Scheme whereby forfeited contributions
may be used to reduce future contributions.

Housing funds, medical insurances and other
social insurances

Employees of the Group in the PRC are entitled
to participate in various government-supervised
housing funds, medical insurances and other
social insurance plan. The Group contributes on
a monthly basis to these funds based on certain
percentages of the salaries of the employees,
subject to certain ceiling. The Group’s liability
in respect of these funds is limited to the
contributions payable in each year. Contributions
to the housing funds, medical insurances and
other social insurances are expensed as incurred.
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(d) Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised on the
earlier of when the Group can no longer withdraw
the offer of those benefits and when the Group
recognises restructuring costs involving the

payment of termination benefits.

4.14 Share-based payments

Where share options are awarded to employees and
others providing similar services, the fair value of the
services received is measured by reference to the fair
value of the options at the date of grant. Such fair value
is recognised in profit or loss over the vesting period
with a corresponding increase in the share option
reserve within equity. Non-market vesting conditions
are taken into account by adjusting the number of
equity instruments expected to vest at the end of each
reporting period so that, ultimately, the cumulative

amount recognised over the vesting period is based
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the options granted. As long as all non-market vesting
conditions are satisfied, a charge is made irrespective
of whether the market vesting conditions are satisfied.
The cumulative expense is not adjusted for failure to

achieve a market vesting condition.

Where the terms and conditions of options are modified
before they vest, the increase in the fair value of the
options, measured immediately before and after the
modification, is also recognised in profit or loss over the

remaining vesting period.
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4.15 Impairment of assets (other than financial assets)

DOUMOB

At the end of each reporting period, the Group
reviews the carrying amounts of the following assets
to determine whether there is any indication that
those assets have suffered an impairment loss or an
impairment loss previously recognised no longer exists

or may have decreased:

o property, plant and equipment under cost model;
o intangible assets;

o goodwill; and

o investments in subsidiaries (except for those

classified as held for sale or included in a

disposal group that is classified as held for sale)

If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated. In addition, for goodwill, intangible
assets that are not yet available for use and intangible
assets that have indefinite useful lives, the recoverable
amount is estimated annually whether or not there is any

indication of impairment.

If the recoverable amount (i.e. the greater of the fair
value less costs of disposal and value in use) of an
asset is estimated to be less than its carrying amount,
the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its
recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised
as an expense immediately, unless the relevant asset
is carried at a revalued amount under another HKFRS,
in which case the impairment loss is treated as a

revaluation decrease under that HKFRS.
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4.16

I 75 8 & Y &

mE R

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount, to the extent that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior
years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised as
income immediately, unless the relevant asset is carried
at a revalued amount under another HKFRS, in which
case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a

revaluation increase under that HKFRS.

Value in use is based on the estimated future cash
flows expected to be derived from the asset or cash
generating unit (see note 4.3), discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the asset or cash generating

unit.
Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain
timing or amount when the Group has a legal or
constructive obligation arising as a result of a past
event, which it is probable will result in an outflow of

economic benefits that can be reliably estimated.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow
of economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations,
the existence of which will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future
events, are also disclosed as contingent liabilities
unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits is

remote.

4.16

HREBELERED  AEEMNER
EE IS E BB A ATk E
TE EENMRNEEETSESR
BEFEZEEEL BB EE
ENBERATREEECHNREE - &
EEERED2NERER /KR - KR
FHEREERRBEMEBMER
SEAGFESHNERSREIER
FEUBERT - BEBERLEREZ
FRMHRELEARIEE (L INE
I o

EREENREEHRSFEEER
ReELrBEU(F2HME43) 06
AARARREREETE  EFERAR
REBFHSHEEEREEREE
3R & E L B R E R R ARG
BAIRAIR RN EHIRE -

BERIREE

EAKBRBEEHMARELE
EIHERME MZEERITELEEH
KBNS - BESHEERASE
st A REERFERE RN A
EFEREAE

fieh 48 B K| 25 N K AT BE RS SN » B
He @I Er Mt MEREE
SERAABERE  EHMEER
a1 SN RO AT BE M ARAE B 5 (R RIlER
RARELENEEMS  MKEE
EREN—HXZERREFNELE
ETBELEREEERSFE - A%
BETERERLARE  RIFL
7 25 SN B AT BE 1 AT 1K BRI S £ R

A
afg ©

2019 ANNUAL REPORT %R

135



136

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e

Bt 5 ¥ = MY &

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZE2019F 12 A31 HIEFE

4.17 Segment reporting

4.18

DOUMOB

The Group identifies operating segments and prepares
segment information based on the regular internal
financial information reported to the executive directors
for their decisions about resources allocation to the
Group’s business components and for their review of
the performance of those components. The business
components in the internal financial information reported
to the executive directors are determined following the

Group’s major product lines.

For the purposes of assessing segment performance
and allocating resources between segments, the
directors assess segment profit or loss by gross profit

or loss as measured in HKFRSs financial statements.

For the purpose of presenting geographical location
of the Group’s revenue from external customers and
the Group’s non-current assets, country of domicile
is determined by reference to the country where the

majority of the Company’s subsidiaries operate.
Related parties

(a) A person or a close member of that person’s

family is related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of key management personnel

of the Group or the Company’s parent.

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the

following conditions apply:

(i) The entity and the Group are members of
the same group (which means that each
parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is

related to the others).
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(i)  One entity is an associate or joint venture (i —HEBAEES —EBHN
of the other entity (or an associate or joint L NCIER e
venture of a member of a group of which the S—ERAEKERAZ
other entity is @ member). SBEETKE QR 2B

EARIHAEDRE)

(iii)  Both entities are joint ventures of the same (iiy MEEBHAR—F=
third party. ARG SR -

(iv)  One entity is a joint venture of a third entity (iv) " HERBRE=7TE#
and the other entity is an associate of the MELELE mME—F
third entity. BAEZFE=HERENE

/NI

(v) The entity is a post-employment benefit (v) ZEBEBRAAREENEAR
plan for the benefit of the employees of the EEEMBEEERE
Group or an entity related to the Group. ERAMRBLAMBERER

AMETE -

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled (vi) ZEfEX(a)TEAIAL
by a person identified in (a). 128 | % 5% 2[R ZE ) o

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant (vii) (a)(i)® Fra4 Al A9 A %
influence over the entity or is a member of RERBBEATE N
key management personnel of the entity (or BxERE(HZEENT
of a parent of the entity). NGIDE3-:: YN =1

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of (viii) ZEBEXZERAE
which it is a part, provides key management DZEBFEMKE AT
personnel services to the Group or to the MAEBE KRR AIFA
Company’s parent. AIREEEEE A SR

% o
Close members of the family of a person are those E—ALTHABRKRBKEFRTEE A
family members who may be expected to influence, or HEZANTHERBETERIRNE
be influenced by, that person in their dealings with the ERSZATEENEBIRBEK
entity and include: 8 B
(i)  that person’s children and spouse or domestic (i) ZABAALHTLZEEBEE
partner; 18
(i)  children of that person’s spouse or domestic (i) ZBATHEBKREHSED
partner; and TRk
(i)  dependents of that person or that person’s spouse (i) mABATHZB AT S
or domestic partner. REMEHZHEA -
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, the
directors are required to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
The estimates and associated assumptions are based on
historical experience and other factors that are considered to

be relevant. Actual results differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period or in the period of the revision
and future periods if the revision affects both current and

future periods.
Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

The following is the critical judgements, apart from those
involving estimations (see below), that the directors of the
Company have made in the process of applying the Group’s
accounting policies and that have the most significant effect
on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial

statements.

(i) Principal versus agent considerations — revenue

from provision of online advertising services

In determining whether the Group is acting as a
principal or as an agent in the provision of online
advertising services requires judgements and
considerations of all relevant facts and circumstances.
The Group is a principal in a transaction if the Group
obtains control of services provided before they are
transferred to customers. If control is unclear, when the
Group is primarily obligated in a transaction, and has
latitude in establishing prices and selecting publishers,
or has several but not all of these indicators, the Group
records revenues on a gross basis. Otherwise, the
Group records the net amount earned as commissions

from services provided.
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Key sources of estimation uncertainty

()

(ii)

(i)

Depreciation and amortisation

The Group depreciates the property, plant and
equipment and amortises intangible assets in
accordance with the accounting policies stated in notes
4.4 and 4.7 respectively. The estimated useful lives
reflect the directors’ estimates of the periods that the
Group intends to derive future economic benefits from
the use of these assets. The management reassesses
the estimated useful lives at the end of each of the

reporting period.

Impairment of trade and other receivables and

contract assets

The impairment of trade and other receivables and
contract assets are based on assumptions about risk
of default and expected credit loss rates. The Group
adopts judgement in making these assumption and
selecting inputs for computing such impairment loss,
broadly based on the available customers’ historical
data, existing market conditions including forward

looking estimates at the end of each reporting period.

Where the expectation is different from the original
estimate, such difference will impact the carrying
amount of trade and other receivables, contract assets
and impairment losses in the periods in which such

estimate has been changed.
Estimates of current tax and deferred tax

Significant judgement is required in determining
the amount of the provision for tax and the timing of
payment of the related tax. Where the final tax outcomes
are different from the amounts that were initially
recorded, such differences will impact the income tax
and deferred tax provisions in the periods in which such

determination is made.
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RERVAEERBVIECHNESEA
PTHA - ZER BT EELZEE
HARI ) P AS A SR T A TR A ©
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZE2019F 12 A31 HIEFE

Impairment of non-financial assets

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators
of impairment for all non-financial assets at the end
of each reporting period. Non-financial assets are
tested for impairment when there are indicators that
the carrying amounts may not be recoverable. An
impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset or
a cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount,
which is the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal
and its value in use. The calculation of the fair value
less costs of disposal is based on available data from
binding sales transactions in an arm’s length transaction
of similar assets or observable market prices less
incremental costs for disposing of the asset. When value
in use calculations are undertaken, management must
estimate the expected future cash flows from the asset
of cash-generating unit and choose a suitable discount
rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash

flows.
Fair value measurement

The fair value measurement of the Group’s financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss utilises
market observable inputs and data as far as possible.
Inputs used in determining fair value measurements
are categorised into different levels based on how
observable the inputs used in the valuation technique

utilised are (the ‘fair value hierarchy’):

o Level 1: Quoted prices in active markets for

identical items (unadjusted);

o Level 2: Observable direct or indirect inputs other

than Level 1 inputs;

o Level 3: Unobservable inputs (i.e. not derived from

market data).

The classification of an item into the above levels is
based on the lowest level of the inputs used that has a
significant effect on the fair value measurement of the
item. Transfers of items between levels are recognised

in the period they occur.

TEMRARAE

(iv)

(v)

HHYBEERE

REBRESHR  AREFEAAFE
MBEESREEMRETR - &
B R KA AR LB O R E S 58
B JFM B EESETRERM
EEEYIRCELEUNKRE SR
BeETRESRBERRER
HEXRAREREEREFTNRS
)R AIFERE - ARERHBE
RARBEAFRAETABEHR
NOBUBEELEXRZAENEIE
EABENSERREHEEEN
BERAME - EtEERER
B EREEAMGABHERKRKEE
EFREELEMNEREESRE R
HEFEENURXATZERSE
MEMNRE -

AEBRAAEFABRZNTEE
EZARBEFERARERATSA
B \BBEMRE BEQAE
SREMERAZBABBRIDERGE
TARERBABENABER
EARTRNER(RAAESR]) :

e  F—f: HAREAERNEREMS
PrRfER (REFHE) -

s FA: BRBABENII
BEESER AR AR

s F=f  THEERHAHE
(BMErE M HBITE)

DR ERIA B TIER P E
RYZBBAREAEELERY
BIRESRBABEEE - F&
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

Management has determined the operating segments based
on the reports reviewed by chief operating decision maker.
The chief operating decision maker, who is responsible
for allocating resources and assessing performance of the
operating segment, has been identified as the executive

directors of the Company.

The Group is principally engaged in the provision of online
advertising services and online sales services in the PRC.
Management reviews the operating results of the business as
two operating segments to make decisions about resources to
be allocated. Therefore, the chief operating decision maker of
the Company regards that there are two segments which are

used to make strategic decisions.

The major operating entity of the Group is domiciled in the
PRC. Accordingly, all of the Group’s revenue were derived in
the PRC.

All of the non-current assets were located in the PRC.

The disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers
by the timing of revenue recognition during the reporting

period is as follows:

T 35 {1 5 P B

At a point in time

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R R R AR Y R

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZ2019F 12 A31 HIEFE

WK o EHER

EEECENIZRERKEFHNNRE
BERENH  T2RERRERENLR
BERNFEREDMOKRE  LSHWAE
RARBIMHITES -

AEETIZNTENEREP LESRE
MR ESHERT - BEEBRHEBLLEE
AR S EL AR 3 W {E 20 BB T 1 B R 99 BC Y
RTE © At - ARAMEBRLERKER
BB MIE D BB A RMEH RRSRE

AEBNTIZLEEERBUNTE - Fitt -
REBNB WS KEFE -

PrAERBEEDMARE -

RB|ERARRBSERFREEDNEF G
AW AHFR

>

2018

20184

RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT ABR%TFT
189,450 352,611
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Revenue mainly comprises of proceeds from online WHFTEREREHE FEERBE NG
advertising services and online sales services. An analysis ERBHMEEIE - REBBHZE2019F K&
of the Group’s revenue by category for the years ended 31 20184F 12 A 31 H It FE1Z R 8 2 KUk
December 2019 and 2018 was as follows: =AML :
2019 2018
2019 2018
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FTT ARBFr
Online advertising services WLESRS 188,327 350,183
Online sales services R EHER 1,123 2,428
189,450 352,611
PLRE] 2018
2019 2018 4
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR#¥FTT AREFIT
Online advertising services - E SRS
— Gross method — A 188,327 350,179
— Net method — FEA — 4
Online sales services R EHE RS 1,123 2,428
189,450 352,611
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The Group’s customer base is diversified and includes one AREBEEBLZTIELNEREE  MRE
Z2019F 12 ABIBLEFER —EEF

(20184 : BN FRABBAEE WD

customer with whom transactions have exceeded 10% of the

Group’s revenue for the year ended 31 December 2019 (2018:

Nil). Revenue from these customers are set out below.

10% ° REZFEFFPH AT

2019 2018
2019 2018 4
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FT AREFr
Customer A EFEA N/A*
22,433 iE A >
N/A*
22,433 TEMA*
* represents that the amount of revenue from that customer is less * HREBZBREFHBSEERZFEE R=R5E
than 10% of the total revenue of that year. #10% °
(a) Assets recognised from incremental costs to obtain (a) REMENFELEERFERN
a contract BE

HZE2019F & 2018412 A31 H 1k
FE BEREDRSAMEELEERN

During the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018,

there was no significant incremental costs to obtain a

contract. WERA o

(b) Details of contract liabilities (b) EHEEFHFE
The Group has recognised the following revenue-related AEBEBMRBUTEKZEBRNE
contract liabilities: HafE -

2018

2018 4F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥ETFT ANEEFT

Contract liabilities (Note) AHAaENE) 4,943 4,498

Note: The contract liabilities represented the aggregate amount

M : BHEBEIEEREHRRTKE
of the transaction price allocated to the performance HETNR 5B -
obligations that are unsatisfied as of the end of the

reporting period.
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(i)  Significant changes in contract liabilities (i) BHEEEAZLE
Contract liabilities of the Group mainly arise from AEENEHNEBBETIERER
the advance payments made by customers while FPHTEN ZHIE - MAAERG S
the underlying services are yet to be provided. R - ZFEEHEEAREE
Such liabilities increase as a result of the growth ERIER ML o
of the Group’s business.
The following table shows how much of the TRERANREBHAERHK
revenue recognised in the current reporting period mEE AN B ENSEE
carried-forward contract liabilities:
2019 2018
2019 2018 &
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETFTT AREFIT
Balance at 1 January A1 A1 BE&EER 4,498 3,620
Decrease in contract liabilities EF AR AFEYE LY
as a result of recognising BENREMERNE
revenue during the year that FOR=RE
was included in the contract
liabilities at the beginning of
the year (2,775) (3,162)
Increase in contract liabilities as  RTELE A L E S ES
a result of billing in advance AR B M S E A
of online advertising activities AHAEEM 3,220 4,040
Balance at 31 December R12 A 31 BB &E % 4,943 4,498
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OTHER INCOME AND OTHER NET GAINS/

Hitg AR H bzt (B518) B8

(LOSSES)
2019 2018
2019 2018 4
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT AEBFIT
Interest income FEWA 5,052 694
Government grants (Note i) BRAS B (ATt i) 687 695
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries, net HE M B A R R B R — (110)
Loss on disposal of property, HEME - BEREE
plant and equipment /518 (4) (209)
Net foreign exchange gain M 5 W ) 7R 2,424 —
Others A (70) (3)
8,089 1,067
Note (i): Government grants mainly represent tax subsidy on Mat() . BIN#EBEZRRFRESHEENHEN
various tax paid and industry incentive in the PRC. BIRH RS AT R 2R ©
8. FINANCE COSTS RE A
2019 2018
2019 2018 &
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFTT AREFIT
Interest on lease liabilities HEABENTE 46 —
Others Hib (1) —
45 _

2019 ANNUAL REPORT %%}

145



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RN R R E R

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZE2019F 12 A31 HIEFE

9. PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX CREDIT 9. BRFTBHRERARR
Profit before income tax credit is arrived at after charging the BRATSHE R AR NN HBR A T & IBES
following: i
2019 2018
2019F 2018 4F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBFT ARK T
Auditor’s remuneration Z AN & 1,770 500
Amortisation of intangible assets mEERE (M)
(Note i) 15,520 5,907
Research and development HEFZ
expenditure 1,215 886
Depreciation of property, plant and M - BERERETE
equipment 1,490 126
Provision for impairment loss on trade 2 5 & Uz I8 5 (B 65 18 7 5
receivables 1,086 235
Provision for impairment loss on AHEEREBERE
contract assets 8,611 4,482
Minimum lease payment under KETHEE T REEERNRK
operating leases — 1,862
Short term lease expenses EEEERSY 464 —
Listing expenses EWRAX 9,560 17,596
Staff costs (including directors’ BIRA
emoluments): (BRESFME) :
— Salaries, wages and other — & IEBR
benefits H ftb 42 A 22,110 14,370
— Retirement scheme contribution — RIRGTEI K 3,317 3,014
25,427 17,384
Note: Mt -
(i) Amortisation of intangible assets was included in “cost of sales” (i) ERAEBHEN REERREMEEKER
and “administrative expenses” on the face of the consolidated AEt ATSHER A | RI1TERAX ]

statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.
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10.

INCOME TAX CREDIT

10. FAIEHER

2019 2018
2019 fF 20184

RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMFT ARBFr
Current tax B HA B 18
Tax for the current year NEERIE 159 10
Deferred tax ELENIE
Credited to profit or loss FFAFERNER
for the year (473) (307)
(314) (297)

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman Islands,
the Group is not subject to any income tax in the Cayman

Islands.

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the BVI, the Group is

not subject to any income tax in the BVI.

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made as the
Group had no assessable profits arising in Hong Kong during
the year ended 31 December 2019 (2018: Nil).

Under the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law (the “CIT Law”),
which became effective on 1 January 2008, the Group’s PRC
entities are subject to income tax at a rate of 25%, unless

otherwise specified.

Income tax provision of the Group in respect of operations in
Mainland China has been calculated at the applicable tax rate
on the estimated assessable profits for the year, based on the
existing legislation, interpretations and practices in respect
thereof. The general corporate income tax rate in the PRC is
25%. A subsidiary of the Group in the PRC was approved as
High and New Technology Enterprise, and is subjected to a

preferential income tax rate of 15% in certain years.

5 years tax free period has been granted by local tax authority

to certain subsidiaries in the PRC since 2017.

RIEFSEENHRAIOER - AEBHA
BANF S RS ERMEHR -

RERBEZESHNRARER  AKH
BRBNEBRE LR BN ERMASEH o

AR AREEBREZE2019F 12 A31 B 15
EEEBLETMAERTOEF » I Et
RBBNERERE(2018F : &) -

RIER2008F 1 A1HEMH P B %
FTiSfiE([REMEBRIE]) - RAAERIHA
HN - ANEEE R B E RS AR R 25% BN
FTiS %t o

N6 B 3 B ) 3 S TS R AR RO P AS TR B
TRBBRITEN - ERAREBERERIER
EFFERTEMIZE AR KRAE - hEHE
—REXMEHER26% - REBEH —H
TENBARERNSRMRMEE 1
ETFEEAZEENE15% HMTEH -

ETHENE AR B 2017 F it 5 R8s
BRI 5 F R o
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The income tax credit for the year can be reconciled to the FRAESHEBERTELAGEG X EMER
profit before income tax credit per the consolidated statement Wz 5% A B B B 45 B 4K %2 B s ) 9 BR 40
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as follows: T
2019 2018
2019 2018 4
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMFT ARMFr
Profit before income tax credit KR 5 Bl K % Bl i 10,601 42,866
Tax calculated at the rates applicable ?EEF?%M‘%””%EW?E*‘J
to profits in the tax jurisdictions BANBEGENHIE
concerned 6,308 10,717
Tax effect of expenses not deductible SR HIFE R L A 75 2 &
for tax purposes 1,942 5,321
Tax effect of income not taxable for BARBIMANTBH 2
tax purposes (240) —
Tax effect of temporary difference EHRRAEREZENTBEE
recognised (473) (307)
Tax effect of tax losses not RNERTIEEENT S E
recognised 723 1,419
Tax effect of PRC preferential tax rate T EE B RMHETE (8,733) (17,447)
PRC withholding tax on interest A B A H B FE
income 159 —
Income tax credit FriSfiif e (314) (297)
11. DIVIDENDS 11. RE
The directors do not recommend or declare the payment of EETEBRNHETREE2019F12 5
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2019 (2018: Nil). 31 HILFERIRE (20184 : 4#) o
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12. EARNINGS PER SHARE

(a)

Basic

The calculation of basic earnings per share is based
on the profit attributable to the owners of the Company
of RMB10,917,000 and the weighted average of
2,260,974,000 ordinary shares in issue during the year
ended 31 December 2019, comprising:

(i) 22,368,231 ordinary shares in issue as at the

beginning of the year;

(i) 201,314,079 ordinary shares issued pursuant
to the share split on 24 February 2019 and
1,878,517,690 ordinary shares issued pursuant
to the capitalisation issue on the completion of
the initial public offering, as if the above total of
2,079,831,769 ordinary shares were outstanding
throughout the year ended 31 December 2019;
and

(iii) 197,800,000 ordinary shares issued on 14 March
2019 by initial public offering.

The basic earnings per share for the year ended
31 December 2018 is calculated based on the
profit attributable to the owners of the Company
of RMB43,219,000 and the weighted average of
2,094,753,000 ordinary shares, comprising:

(i) 10,000 ordinary shares issued upon incorporation
of the Company on 26 March 2018;

(i) 22,256,901 ordinary shares issued by allotment on
3 May 2018;

(iii) 11,330 ordinary shares issued by allotment on 9
August 2018; and

12. BRER

(a)

%N

BRERBFIBEARABEES A
JE 1555 A A =% 10,917,000 7T B A
HZE2019F12A31HIEFEE #
72,260,974,000 [i% & 38 A% 49 N4 F
HEGTE - LB T B eE

() FHE #17H22,368,231 &
LA

(iiy H2019F2 A 24 H R E I D
D HFFTETRI 201,314,079 iR
TR RN ERARBEETK
BBBEERNCBETRETH
1,878,517,690 8 & i Ak - 7%
an it & #£2,079,831,769 i
LR EE 20194 12 A 31
HIEBEFE—FBITEN
&

(iiiy M2019F3HA14HEBE X
~ % E M B TH
197,800,000 % & 3@A% ©

#H £2018F12A318 It & E 1
BREABFDREBEARARES A
FE 16 3% F A R % 43,219,000 7T &
2,094,753,000 % & i i &9 hnE 5
HETHE - ERBETEARERE
(i) ARRMK2018F 3 A26H E
itk B 37 B 2% 17 #9 10,000 A% &
AR
(i) 201845 A 3 HE BRI E
178 22,256,901 A% @A

(iiiy M 201848 H9HEBALAREE
TR 11,330 IR T A% - &
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(b)

DOUMOB

(iv) 90,000 ordinary shares issued pursuant to the
share split on 3 May 2018, 201,314,079 ordinary
shares issued pursuant to the share split on 24
February 2019 and 1,878,517,690 ordinary shares
issued pursuant to the capitalisation issue on
the completion of the initial public offering, as if
the above total of 2,079,921,769 ordinary shares
were outstanding throughout the year ended 31
December 2018.

Profit attributable to the owners of AR GIHEHE AFEEHF

the Company (RMB’000) (AR®TT)
Weighted average number B 81T E iR AR A Ik
of ordinary shares in issue EHE(FAR)

(thousand shares)

KREHEE AEEFRER
attributable to the owners of the B (FRARET)
Company (RMB per share)

Basic earnings per share

(iv)

20184 5 A 3 BIRIERD 5
PRATEE1THY 90,000 % B -
R 2019 2 A 24 B iR #& & 17
S I AT EE 1T H9 201,314,079 fi%
LTERENERARBEETK
BRIBEE RN BEITAEITH
1,878,517,690 A% I i@ A% M
n Eat A ££2,079,921,769 i
LB E = 2018 F 12 A 31
BIEREFE —BFEITEIN °

2019 2018
2019 20184
10,917 43,219

2,260,974 2,094,753

0.005 0.021

Diluted

Diluted earnings per share were the same as the basic
earnings per share as there is no dilutive potential
ordinary shares in existence during the years ended 31
December 2019 and 2018.

TEMRARAE

(b)

#E

R EZE 20194 K& 2018 4 12 A 31
BIEFETELBEESNENT
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13. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 13. EERFETBRAENMEREN
EMOLUMENTS AND THE FIVE HIGHEST PAID REHAL
INDIVIDUALS
(a) Directors’ emoluments (a) EE=Me
Details of directors’ emoluments for the years ended HZE2019F R2018F L FEES
2019 and 2018 are as follows: BesEBmT
Salaries,
allowance Retirement
and benefits-  Discretionary scheme
in-kind bonuses  contributions
e BER
EYHE MERL  BATEHER
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETFT AREFT AREFT AREFT ARBFT
Year ended 31 December 2019  EZ 20195
12N BLEE
Executive director HiTEF
Mr. Yang Bin (Note (ii)) BREEHE ) 84 709 - 82 875
Mr. Huang Kewang (Note (iii)) R LEWE (i) 44 565 - 77 686
Ms. ZHOU Zoe (Note (iv)) ZHOU Zoe &t
(Wit (iv) 35 365 - - 400
Ms. Chen Xiaona (Note (v)) BES L+ (H7v) 55 457 - 53 565
Mr. Zheng Shunqi (Note (v)) HIBE S (W2 (v) 55 307 - 37 399
Ms. Shi Hui (Note () BELL (W () 77 392 - 56 525
Non-executive director FHTEE
Ms. Wang Ge (Note (vii)) FRL (it (i) 17 - - - 17
Mr. Yang Zhenghong (Note (viii) 1 EZEE(H:E (viii) 10 - - - 10
Independent non-executive BUFHITEE
director
Mr. Chan Yiu Kwong RBN ST (B2 (ix))
(Note (ix)) 140 - - - 140
Mr. Liu Binghai (Note (ix)) BIREEEWE (ix) 140 - - - 140
Mr. Wang Yingzhe (Note (ix)) TREREWE (ix) 140 - - - 140
797 2,795 - 305 3,807
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DOUMOB

Salaries,
allowance Retirement
and benefits- Discretionary scheme
Fees in-kind bonuses contributions Total
e RER ]
ik EMFla BTt ft3x At
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
NRETFT ARETT ARETFT ANRETFT ANRETFT
Year ended 31 December 2018  HZF 2018 %
1231 AILEE
Executive director HiTEE
Mr. Yang Bin (Note (ii)) BREEME () = 264 244 114 622
Ms. Chen Xiaona (Note (v)) BRES L+ () - 445 244 91 780
Mr. Zheng Shunqi (Note (v)) BIBELE (s (v) — 212 244 72 588
Ms. Shi Hui (Note (vi)) WMELRL (M7 Vi) - 285 244 79 608
Non-executive director FHTEE
Ms. Wang Ge (Note (vii)) BTt (i) — — — = =
Mr. Yang Zhenghong (Note (viii) 1B IEZEE(H: (viii) — — — = =
Independent non-executive director BV H#HTEZE
Mr. Chan Yiu Kwong (Note (ix))  BRIBXE&E(H:E (ix) = = = — —
Mr. Liu Binghai (Note (ix)) BIRBLEH (ix) — — — = =
Mr. Wang Yingzhe (Note (ix)) FRERE W (ix) — = = — —
. 1,266 976 356 2,508
Notes: Hiet -

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

No directors received any emoluments from the Group
as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or
as compensation for loss of office during the year ended
31 December 2019 (2018: Nil). No directors waived or
agreed to waive any emoluments during the year ended
31 December 2019 (2018: Nil).

Mr. Yang Bin was appointed as executive director of the
Company on 26 March 2018.

Mr. Huang Kewang was appointed as executive director
of the Company on 12 September 2019.

Ms. ZHOU Zoe was appointed as executive director of
the Company on 12 September 2019.

Ms. Chen Xiaona and Mr. Zheng Shungi were appointed
as executive directors of the Company on 14 August
2018 and resigned on 12 September 2019.

Ms. Shi Hui was appointed as executive director of
the Company on 14 August 2018 and resigned on 6
December 2019.

Ms. Wang Ge was appointed as non-executive director of
the Company on 14 August 2018.

Mr. Yang Zhenghong was appointed as non-executive
director of the Company on 21 August 2018 and resigned
on 30 August 2019.

Mr. Chan Yiu Kwong, Mr. Liu Binghai and Mr. Wang
Yingzhe were appointed as the independent non-
executive directors of the Company on 20 February 2019.

TEMRARAE

(if)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

HZE2019F12A31B EFE - #
EEEWMAEEEMME - (EAM
AR S B Bk A0 A 7 5 [ B A 2
BB AE (20184 - &) - ElE 2019
F12A31BILEE  BMEEERE

=% A B M E R EER B S (2018 F -
&)

B EER 20183 A 26 A EE(E
RAREITES -

ERELEER2019F9 A 12BEZ
ERERABHITES -

ZHOU Zoezx +7 201949 A 12H
EZTAERRRINTESE -

R g 478 22 = Tk BB JIE i 5 £ 1A 2018 4F
B8R 14REBZERERAIMITES -
WER 201949 A 12 HEFHE -

FiZZ+M2018F8 A 14 HEL T
RADRBMITESE - WEN20194F
12 A 6 HEHE -

T LZ+R2018FE8 14 A EER(T
RARBIERITES ©

5 1IE &% £ R201848A21H &
ZERBARRRFENITES  WER
20194 8 A 30 HE T -

BB AL  BIMEEERTRE L

H£R2019F 220 A EZ T AAR
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(b) The five highest paid individuals

The five highest paid individuals of the Group are

analysed as follows:

(b) AfUBSHFAL

AEBRUERHFALNIIOT

2019 2018

2019 2018 4

Number of Number of

individuals individuals

A# AZ

Directors = 3 3
Non-directors, the highest paid BEeHEEEAL

individual 2 2

5 5

Details of the emoluments of the above non-directors,

the highest paid individual are as follows:

ERBEFFEEALOBME
mT

2019 2018

2019 20184

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥FT AREFT

Salaries and other emoluments e kHMME 1,332 808
Discretionary bonuses IBIEAL — 472
Retirement scheme contribution RIRET SR 138 171
1,470 1,451

The number of the highest paid non-directors fell within

MeENFUTHRENEHIFES

the following emolument bands are as follows: AT AT -
2019 2018
2019 2018 4
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
A& A&
Nil to HK$1,000,000 =% 1,000,0008 7T 1 2
HK$1,000,001 to 1,000,001 B LE
HK$1,500,000 1,500,000 7T 1 —
2 2
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14. W% - BERRE
Furniture,
fixtures and
office Motor Right-of-use
equipment Computers vehicles assets Total
REKER
WAZRE B nE ERAREE it
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREF ANEEFI AREFT AREFr ANEEFIT
CosT KA
At 1 January 2018 ®2018%1A1H 244 79 430 — 753
Additions e 178 67 — - 245
Disposal HE (251) = = = (251)
Disposal from disposal of subsidiaries K& L EHBAAMHE (18) (19) = = (37)
At 31 December 2018 as originally R 2018 £12 A 31 HE7]

stated 153 127 430 — 710

Initial application of HKFRS 16 BRERB ARG RS ER
165 - - — 4,107 4,107
Restated balance as at 1 January 20195151 BNEES]

2019 A 153 127 430 4,107 4,817
Disposal HE (62) (22) = — (84)
Effect of lease modification MEBIRNZ 2 — — — (551) (551)
At 31 December 2019 R2019%12A31H 91 105 430 3,556 4,182
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION 2t E
At 1 January 2018 R2018%1A1H 83 4 — — 124
Depreciation il 63 22 4 — 126
Disposal HE (21) = — = (21)
Disposal from disposal of subsidiaries K& HENBA A HE (11) 8) — - (19)
At 31 December 2018 as originally ~ R%R 2018512 831 B 27l

stated 114 55 4 — 210
Initial application of HKFRS 16 HRERB BN EREE

# 165 = — — 2,288 2,288
Restated balance as at 1 January ~ H2019%1 8 1B HEES

2019 &8 114 55 41 2,288 2,498
Depreciation ik 22 25 122 1,321 1,490
Disposal HE (59) (21) — — (80)
Effect of lease modification REEBTNFE — — = (338) (338)
At 31 December 2019 R2019E12831 8 7 59 163 3,271 3,570
NET BOOK VALUE EEFE
At 31 December 2019 R2019%12831H 14 46 267 285 612
At 31 December 2018 R2018 128318 39 72 389 — 500
The above items of property, plant and equipment are Ltz - BB R R B T R ETF
depreciated on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful HEERREGFAIERFHARERE
lives and after taking into account of their estimate resided e -
residual values.

No property, plant and equipment was pledged at 31 R2019F12A31R  BIEEREEAD
December 2019 (2018: Nil). ¥ BEREHE20184F  £) o
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INTANGIBLE ASSETS 15. B EE
Subscription Film script
Software accounts license right Total
E¥
B4 H LS Bl A Hi B
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT AREF AR¥F AR¥F
COST B
At 1 January 2018 R2018F1 818 5,895 4,271 — 10,166
Additions - internally developed RE — AHRE 4,439 — — 4,439
Additions - externally acquired RE — BEIR — 16,524 — 16,524
At 31 December 2018 and W2018F12A31 AR
1 January 2019 20195141H 10,334 20,795 — 31,129
Additions - internally developed RE — NHFE 8,729 — — 8,729
Additions — externally acquired RE — BEIR 6,604 26,011 7,245 39,860
At 31 December 2019 H2019%12831H 25,667 46,806 7,245 79,718
ACCUMULATED AMORTISATION EHE £
At 1 January 2018 W2018%181H 810 306 = 1,116
Charge for the year ER 2,303 3,604 — 5,907
At 31 December 2018 and H2018F12A31 AR
1 January 2019 2019F1A1H 3,113 3,910 — 7,023
Charge for the year ER 4,667 10,853 — 15,520
At 31 December 2019 R2019F 128311 7,780 14,763 — 22,543
NET BOOK VALUE RERE
At 31 December 2019 H2019512A31H 17,887 32,043 7,245 57,175
At 31 December 2018 R2018512A31H 7,221 16,885 — 24,106
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Amortisation of the Group’s intangible assets has been

recognised as follows:

REBETLEEMBIHERD T

2019 2018
2019 F 2018 4

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥FTT AREFT

Cost of sales SHE R AR 12,125 4,875
Administrative expenses GG 3,395 1,032
15,520 5,907

Development cost that does not meet the criteria in note
4.7 is recognised as an expense as incurred. Capitalised
development cost is recorded as intangible assets and
amortised from the point at which the asset is ready for use.
The self-developed software with development cost occurred
but not ready for use are recorded as development cost
and subject to impairment test at each year end. As of 31
December 2019, development cost of approximately RMB
2,029,000 (2018: RMB2,361,000) was incurred and met
the criteria in note 4.7, but not ready for use. Based on the
impairment assessment result, the directors of the Company
consider that no impairment charge was required as of 31
December 2019 (2018: Nil).

DOUMOB EEERIZ AR A F

TRAEMF47IIZENFREK AR E
ERERAFAX - BRAEANFAEK AT
BAEREE  BEENHRERA —ZBH#®
e BELARBERABRATRERNET
RSB EGEHEARERE  WREEFR
EITRER - 2019412 A31H © &
44 AR ¥ 2,029,000 7T(20184F : AR
k2,361,000 70) KA « I B &6 M5
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16.

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

Non-current FERED
— Investment fund — REHES
— Film investment — BERE

BAREBERARSNUBEE

2018
20184

RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR#FT AREFT
8,500 —

For the year ended 31 December 2018, the short-term
investment fund measured at fair value through profit or loss
were denominated in RMB, with expected rates of return
of 2% per annum. The returns of the investment on these
fund investment products were not guaranteed, hence their
contractual cash flows did not qualify for solely payments of
principal and interest. Therefore they were measured at fair
value through profit or loss. None of the investments were
past due.

On 23 August 2019, Doumob (Beijing) Technology Co., Ltd.
(“Doumob Technology”), an indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company, entered into a joint investment agreement of
interactive drama with Zhongyi Boyue Culture Media Limited
(“Zhongyi Boyue”), pursuant to which Doumob Technology
agreed to, together with Zhongyi Boyue, participate in the
investment of an interactive drama (“Interactive Drama”)
and Doumob Technnology shall contribute an amount of
RMB7,800,000. Doumob Technology was entitled to share
certain percentage of income to be generated from the
distribution of the Interactive Drama based on the proportion
of investment amount. The returns of the investment on these
film projects were not guaranteed. It was measured at fair
value through profit or loss as explained in note 4.8(i) and
note 33.

Reconciliation of the financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss as follow:

HZE2018FE 12 A31BIEFEE  HAAE
TABENEHREESRARKEE
FEHFERHE H2% - X EELKREER
IR E BRI ERE - EANBSREL
THEAREINAS RFIEMELR » i
BIEAREFABRNE - ZERERE

M20198 A23H S Bt R)RIER
MERAR(ZBERE] - AARIKEEE
ZEMBAR)EPEFHEUCEEFR
AR([FREFE DT EBBIH AR E R
& Bt SERREREHEREEHRS
BEHE([EFE ) MIKE - mME B
#EAARE 7,800,000 c SRS
BRI E SN H D5 8 B8 B2 1T
EEMBAZETESL - ZEEFEE
B LA B 3R EARTE o B a0PTFE4.8(1) &2
MIFE33 ATRITE - VIR AR ERFARBE ©

BA S ERT AB &M E E 5 R
T

2019 2018
2019 F 20184

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETFTT AREFIT

At 1 January ®n1A18 — 36,058
Addition NE 7,800 66,000
Disposal i == — (103,671)
Fair value gain for the year FARARAREKE 700 1,613
At 31 December Mm12H31H 8,500 —
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17. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS

Details of the deferred tax assets recognised and movements

are as follows:

17. EERBEE
ERERHEENREENESFBWT

Allowance
Allowance on on doubtful
doubtful debt debt on trade
on contract and other
assets receivables Total
BHEE HEIRHMENR
REREE RIERREE a3t
RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB’'000
AEHFT ARBFT ARHTFT
At 1 January 2018 R2018%F1H81H 188 94 229
Credited to profit or loss for FFAFAE =
the year 159 148 307
Disposal of subsidiaries HE M E R R — (166) (166)
At 31 December 2018 and MR2018F 12831 K
1 January 2019 20191 A1H 294 76 370
Credited to profit or loss for FTAFEANEZE
the year 445 28 473
Others Htl (1) = (1)
At 31 December 2019 M2019%12831H 738 104 842

The Group has not recognised deferred tax assets in respect N £ B I mt R 2019FE 12 B31 B 49 A
K #10,614,0007T(2018%F : A K ¥
7,723,000 7T) 8 R 71 B A B R HERIE LB
HEE  RER/TAAELIRAITERN
RIRPE AR Al o TRIRE IR 2022 F =
2024 F[E i °

of cumulative tax losses of approximately RMB10,614,000
as at 31 December 2019 (2018: RMB7,723,000). As it is not
probable that the future taxable profits which can be utilised

will be available. The tax losses will expire from 2022 to 2024.
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18. TRADE RECEIVABLES 18. EZREWFIA

2019 2018

2019 fF 2018 4

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARMFT ARBTFT

Trade receivables B 5 W RIE 14,310 15,156
Less: Loss allowance for trade i BB EE RS

receivables (1,536) (450)

12,774 14,706

The ageing analysis of trade receivables, net of loss allowance

at the end of each reporting period based on invoice date is

BHREFAEGNRERREE NSRS

HIRERNBEZEAHOMREOMAT

as follows:
2019 2018
2019 2018 4
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TFTT ARMFor
0 — 30 days 0Z30H 2,910 4,573
31 - 60 days 31£60H 10 5,501
61 — 90 days 61Z290H 66 1,934
91 — 180 days 91E 180 H 3,255 226
181 — 365 days 1812365 H 5,505 1,289
Over 365 days 365 HEA £ 1,028 1,183
12,774 14,706
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The ageing analysis of the Group’s trade receivables that are
neither individually nor collectively considered to be impaired

is as follows:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RN R R E R

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZE2019F 12 A31 HIEFE

AER B30 IR Bl Sk KRR VBB R B 5 8
WRIRH) BRER D ATIA T

2019 2018

2019 2018 4

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥TFT AR TFT

Current BNHR 2,910 4,573
Past due for less than 3 months #H M 318 A 76 7,435
Past due for over 3 months mHAER A 3 18 A 9,788 2,698
12,774 14,706

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group allows
credit periods ranging from 1 to 30 days (2018: 1 to 30 days)
to its customers. Before accepting any new customer, the
Group assesses the potential customer’s credit quality and
defines credit limits by customer. Credit limits attributed to
customers and credit term granted to customers are reviewed

regularly.

Movement in lifetime ECL that has been recognised for trade
receivables in accordance with the simplified approach set
out in HKFRS 9 as follow:

HZE2019F12A31BLEFE - A&EMA
HEFEHNTF1E30H(2018F 1 12
B EEH - N"EBEEXEMNE
PRl SMEBEEEFPHNEEEER WK
BEPIIUEERSE AKETEEHER
ARBEFPIVNEERBRARSELANE

AEERERBEVHHRELERNE RN
L TERL B 2 UG IRER N 2 FTR S

BEREBZDOT

2019 2018

2019 £ 2018 F

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARMFT ARBTFr

At 1 January ®n1A1H 450 215
Provision for impairment loss on B 5 W IR E

trade receivables EEEE 1,086 235

At 31 December W12 A31H 1,536 450
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19. CONTRACT ASSETS 19. BHEE

2019 2018
2019 20184

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥FT AREFT

Contract assets AHEE 76,102 128,630
Less: Loss allowance for contract B ARNEEBBERE

assets (15,865) (7,254)

60,237 121,376

AEBRBEEFEVERESEANEIRME
BT EARENEERRBNEHNBEHEE

Movement in lifetime ECL that has been recognised for

contract assets in accordance with the simplified approach

set out in HKFRS 9 as follow:

EREFHIMT

2019 2018

2019 20184

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥TFTT AREFT

At 1 January ®K1A1H 7,254 2,772
Provision for impairment loss on EHEEREREERE

contract assets 8,611 4,482

At 31 December w12 A31H 15,865 7,254
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20.

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date
using a provision matrix to measure expected credit losses.
The provision rates for the measurement of the expected
credit losses of the contract assets are based on those of
the trade receivables as the contract assets and the trade
receivables are from the same customer bases. The provision
rates of contract assets are based on days past due of trade
receivables for groupings of various customer segments
with similar loss patterns (i.e., by customer type or rating).
The calculation reflects the probability-weighted outcome,
the time value of money and reasonable and supportable
information that is available at the reporting date about past
events, current conditions and forecasts of future economic

conditions.

Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure

on the Group’s contract assets using a provision matrix:

Expected credit loss rate FEHEEEEX
Gross carrying amount (RMB’000)

Expected credit losses (RMB’000)

AEEENEHRE B HRABBERLET
WMEST - AHERBAEEER - StE4
WEENBREEBEMBBEXRUZSE
BHRBFAREE  NTRANEERE
ZRWRIELREHRATFER - pEiE
BARANE P REHANF)BENZ AR
EFBAIME  AHEENBBEINE
SRR FENAREBRELE - FRGE
RERBEEIEER  ERREARRES
A SAMBESME - BREMRREARE
RERARITANGERRER -

il<)3

TXHIIRBRBEREZEHEAEES
MEEMESERERRNER :

FREAEARETT)
AHEEER(ARETT)

2018

2018 4

20.85% 5.64%
76,102 128,630
15,865 7,254

DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES

B BAREREEYRKE

2019 2018

2019 % 20184

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥TFTT AREFT

Deposits Re 1,441 712
Prepayments TEfTFRIE 12,150 9,481
Other receivables H b & W5k I8 7,257 7,248
20,848 17,441
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21.

22.

AMOUNTS DUE FROM SHAREHOLDERS/NON-
CONTROLLING INTERESTS

The amounts due from shareholders and non-controlling
interests are unsecured, interest-free, repayable on demand

and non-trade in nature.

TIME DEPOSITS WITH ORIGINAL MATURITY
OVER 3 MONTHS AND CASH AND CASH
EQUIVALENTS

21, BWRE FEREZE

FEM A R R SRR B s SR R B - %
B ARBREENIFBEHIEE -

22. REABBEIEANEHRERU
RRERBAEEEY

2019 2018
2019 % 20184

RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TFT ARMFor
Cash and cash equivalents RekREEEY
Cash at bank RITIRE 48,635 27,912
Time deposit with original maturity REIHAHE % 318 A LA K EHA
within 3 months F= 70,280 105,000
118,915 132,912
Time deposits with original maturity [REIEAA #8838 A
over 3 months but not exceeding BREE1FNEDS
1 year T 47,017 —

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily
bank deposit rates. Time deposits with original maturity within
3 months carries interest at a market rate of 2.03% per annum
(2018: 1.89%). Time deposits with original maturity over 3
months but not exceeding 1 year carries interest at a market

rate of 3.70% per annum.

Certain of the cash and bank balances denominated in RMB
placed with banks in the PRC. RMB is not freely convertible
to other currencies. Under the PRC’s Foreign Exchange
Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement,
Sales and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the
Group is permitted to exchange RMB for foreign currencies
only through banks that are authorised to conduct foreign

exchange business.

IRITIRSRIFRITE B 75 F L IRZEF
EHEMAE - REHAASERUANE
BiTF 3032 2.03% (2018 4F : 1.89% )T 5
FFEFTE - REIBABBIMEA[ BT
B 1/ E 8977 5)3% 3.70% Ky T 45 4F Fl| &
PN

HTAAREFHENIR S RIRTTHESHRTTIN
R BRERTT - ARSTR B/ HpE
it §# o R IT o Bl HME B I 15 IA R4S
- EEMIEERERTE  AKEEA]S
BEREETIEXHNRITHARE L
BB o
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23. TRADE PAYABLES 23. EZEARE

2018

2018 4

RMB’000 RMB’'000

ARHF T AREFir

Trade payables B RN HIE 11,743 44,459
The credit terms of trade payables vary according to the BREMNFIEBNEERRTFENRHEERS
terms agreed with different suppliers, normally range from 1 BEMEZMBEATR —TF1HZE
day to 60 days. Based on the receipt of services and goods, 60H - REEZWRELEEY B H(—&H
which normally coincided with the invoice dates, the ageing HEQHER) NEBE S ENZIEBEBNS

analysis of the Group’s trade payables as at the end of each WEHRORESTAT ¢

of the reporting period is as follows:
2019 2018
2019 F 2018 4

RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMFT ARKTFT
0 — 30 days 0Z30H 4,685 21,265
31 - 90 days 31290H 1,820 10,417
91 - 180 days 91E 180 H 902 6,290
181 — 365 days 1812365 H 1,568 6,397
Over 365 days 365 HA E 2,768 90
11,743 44 459
The trade payables are short-term and hence the carrying ERNE S ENRIBARIERIE - HAKE
values of the Group’s trade payables are considered to be a BORNAEBENREEHRREAARENS
reasonable approximation of fair value. BAE -
24. ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES 24, EFFERREMENRKE
2019 2018
2019 2018 F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMFT ARBFr
Salaries payables FE & 2,167 3,574
Accruals et & A 1,870 8,237
Other tax payables H i FE A 75278 5,663 10,632
Other payables H A & 5 5RR 376 320
10,076 22,763
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25. CAPITAL AND RESERVES 25. EXK#EE
(a) Capital (a) EXF
2019 2018
2019 20184
No. of shares Nominal value No. of shares ~ Nominal value
R4 & B HE BEE ] AfE
Notes RMB’000 RMB’'000
i0f3 ANREFT AREFIT
Authorised: BE
Initial share capital upon JiNzati AV R
incorporation B (i) 3,800,000 331 3,800,000 331
Subdivision of share capital RAZH (iii) 34,200,000 - 34,200,000 —
Increase in authorised T BRAE M
share capital (iv) 962,000,000 8,280 — —
Subdivision of share capital RAZH (v) | 9,000,000,000 - = =
10,000,000,000 8,611 38,000,000 331
Issued and fully paid: BRIRBR :
At 1 January ®1A1H 22,368,231 195 — —
Issuance of ordinary shares  Z17E @k (ii) — - 22,278,231 195
Subdivision of share capital A% (iii),(v) | 201,314,079 — 90,000 —
Issuance of ordinary shares RE&RML 1A E1T
upon capitalisation Tk (vi) | 1,878,517,690 1,604 — —
Issuance of ordinary shares EBERAFEE
by initial public offering BOLEKR (vii) 197,800,000 168 — —
At 31 December R12A31R 2,300,000,000 1,967 22,368,231 195
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DOUMOB

Note:

(if)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as
an exempted company with limited liability on 26 March
2018. Its initial authorised share capital was HK$380,000
divided into 3,800,000 shares with a par value of HK$0.1
per share.

Following the incorporation of the Company on 26 March
2018, one share was allotted and issued for cash at par
to the initial subscriber, and was subsequently transferred
to Evan Global, the offshore shareholding company
wholly-owned by Mr. Yang. The Company further allotted
and issued 9,999 shares for cash at par to Evan Global
on 26 March 2018.

On 3 May 2018, the Company allotted and issued an
aggregate of 22,256,901 ordinary shares for cash at par
to the offshore holding companies.

On 9 August 2018, the Company issued additional 11,330
ordinary share at HK$0.01.

On 3 May 2018, the Company resolved that each issued
and unissued share of the Company of HK$0.1 par value
be sub-divided into 10 shares, each with a par value
of HK$0.01. After such share split, the Company has
authorised share capital of HK$380,000 divided into
38,000,000 shares, each with a par value of HK$0.01.

On 20 February 2019, the Company resolved that
the authorised share capital of the Company be
increased from HK$380,000 divided into 38,000,000
shares of HK$0.01 each to HK$10,000,000 divided into
1,000,000,000 shares of nominal value of HK$0.01 each.

On 24 February 2019, the Company resolved that each
issued and unissued share of the Company of HK$0.01
par value be sub-divided into 10 shares, each with a par
value of HK$0.001. Accordingly, the authorised share
capital of the Company became HK$10,000,000 divided
into 10,000,000,000 shares and the issued share capital
of the Company became HK$223,682,310 divided into
223,682 shares.

Pursuant to written resolutions passed on 20 February
2019 and 24 February 2019, the directors of the Company
were authorised to allot and issue a total of 1,878,517,690
ordinary shares credited as fully paid at par to the
shareholders as appearing on the register of members of
the Company at the close of business on 13 March 2019,
by way of capitalisation of the sum of HK$1,879,000
(equivalent to approximately RMB1,604,000) standing to
the credit of the share premium of the Company.

TEMRARAE

Bt

(if)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

ANARMR20184F 3 A 26 HEFH £ &
EEMRIAEREERAF 4
A 5% TE B R 380,000 7T © D B
3,800,000 f% & % T 1 0.1 T &Y ix

% o

ARRRIM20184 3 A 26 H st Ak 32
BIZEERNTRRE AR RET—
B - AIREIR S - BRARGE%
82T Evan Global (15 EE2EH
BRBEFEERAR) o RATN2018
3 A 26 BiZEER Evan Global #
—F B K% 317 9,990 B IR 15+ LA#A
BRE o

R2018F5A3H A A Al & @
EREERARREERETEH
22,256,901 iR E3@A% « LARERIR @ -

R201848 A9 R * AR AEH0.01748
TCHY(BASFITRESN 11,330 IR T imA% -

MK2018F5 A3 H * AARFREA
AR EREEIBITHEBEIT IR
BHIRH DR A10% E K EE0.01
BITHRMD - RO DIFE » AR A
) 3% TE % 7K 4 380,00058 7T © D &
38,000,000 1% & i% H {8.0.01 7% 7T &Y

Bdn o

R2019F 2208 © AR Al R
78X R) A9 A JE B 7R FR 380,000 7 T
(% /38,000,000 % & % M {50.01
7 7T B B% £5 ) #2 AN = 10,000,000 75
7T(% % 1,000,000,000 f% & B% H &
0.01 B THIRM,) °

R2019F 2248 © AR al# R
RNAFFREMEO.01ETHE HIT
RABTROHSFAI0REREE
0.001BITHRD - Eit - AARAK
& TE B% AN 410,000,000 (90 &
10,000,000,000 A& A% 17 ) * M Z4< 2 R)
7 B & 17 iR A A& 223,682,310 7% 7T
(575 223,682%AX1D) °

R PR 201942 A 20 H £ 20194 2
A24RBBHETRER AR A
ESERREEBIEAR RGO EER
#) # R 58 1,879,000 7% 7T (F8 & M 49
AR #1,604,0007C) B AL & E
ERMR2019F 3 A 13 B & ¥ RH A&
FREF 4 51| R A A AR ER 4 iR 0 AR PR At 3%
K& E174 #£1,878,517,690 i% A BR %
TER R M IBAR -
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(vii)

On 14 March 2019, 197,800,000 ordinary shares of
HK$0.001 each were issued at a price of HK$0.41
each upon the listing of the shares of the Company
on the Stock Exchange. The proceeds of HK$197,800
(equivalent to approximately RMB168,000) representing
the par value of the ordinary shares of the Company,
were credited to the Company’s share capital. The
remaining proceeds, net of share issuance expenses,
of approximately HK$57,580,000 (equivalent to
approximately RMB49,154,000) were credited to the
share premium account.

(vii) M20194F3F148 ' AR AR E
A& An FE B 22 BT 18 32 B AR 0.4178
T K {B 1% %% 17 197,800,000 A% & A%
HE0.001 B T EEIKR - FIFRK
7H197,800%8 T(HHE N AR K
168,000 7T ) & [AI AR A &) & B AR &9
B BERERAFAMBRAN - £
BRAR M EITRLZ % - R TFTERIE
#757,580,0007% 7T(HH & R 4 AR
# 49,154,000 7T ) B # AR B AR 10 4 (B
;EEO

(b) Reserves (b) f#EE

AEBEGRAESSEKE D FHHE
FREBNEREARNGAERE
R ANFZERBAKI DN F
EFROBSEFHEHIMOT :

The reconciliation between the opening and closing
balances of each component of the Group’s
consolidated equity is set out in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity. Details of the changes
in the Company’s individual components of equity
between the beginning and the end of the year are set

out below:
The Company AT
Share Capital  Accumulated
premium reserves losses Total
R E EXfRE R B8 st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT ARETFT ARETFT ARETFT
At 1 January 2018 R2018F1A1H — — — —
Profit and total comprehensive  EREF k2 @M
income for the year ek — — 1 1
Issue of shares BITRG — 378 — 378
At 31 December 2018 and R2018F 12318 R
1 January 2019 2019F 1A 1H — 378 1 379
Initial application of HKFRS 16 & XEAEBHEREER
(Note 2(a)(i)) FEA6R(MzE2(a)(i) = = = =
Restated balances at R2019F1 810K
1 January 2019 R — 378 1 379
Loss and total comprehensive ~ FREERZENSLEE
income for the year — - (3,768) (3,768)
Shares issued pursuant to the  BIEEARETHEST
capitalisation issue ol (1,604) - — (1,604)
Shares issued pursuant to BEAREEREEMET
the public offering and iolian)
placing 69,061 — — 69,061
Transactions cost attributable to  AHZEEREEEERS
the public offering and placing (&K (19,907) — — (19,907)
At 31 December 2019 H2019%12831H 47,550 378 (3,767) 44,161
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26. COMMITMENT 26. &
Operating lease commitments as at 31 December 2018 12018512 A 31 AWK EHERE
At 31 December 2018, the Group had total future minimum R 2018F 12 A31 B » AEERE A H
lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases falling SH A TH & /O R 2R B IR A B - s 42 58 31 A
due as follows: BRI :
2018
2018 &
RMB’000
AREFr
— Within one year — —FRA 56
— In the second to fifth year, inclusive — F_FEZFREF
(BEEREME) —
56
27. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING 27. MEEFDHELENEBEZHEKR
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
The table below details changes in Group’s liabilities arising TREIMEEFDEENAEEBEEE
from financing activities. g ©
Lease
liabilities
HESRE
RMB’000
AREFT
At 1 January 2018 and 31 December 2018 7A2018%1H81HK&2018%F 12831 H —
Initial application of HKFRS 16 BHRIER BB HRE2ERI%E 16 5% 1,704
Restated balance as at 1 January 2019 MN2019F1 51 BNRESE 1,704
Change from financing cash flow MERSREF
— Lease payments — HEMK (1,537)
Non-cash flows: IFMERE -
— Early termination of lease — RERIEHE (213)
— Finance costs — BEKA 46

168 DOUMOB T ERKER A &



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M |RMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EZ2019F 12 A31 HIEFE

28. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE

28. ARAMMBMRRE

COMPANY
2019 2018
2019 2018
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
KiaE AR¥TFTT AREFT
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEEREE
Non-current assets FREBEE
Investment in a subsidiary R—EH B R RMEE —* —
Current assets REBEE
Prepayment and other receivables T8/ 78 K £ & U 3008 648 —
Amounts due from shareholders & YL AR 3R SR8 200 567
Amounts due from subsidiaries FE UK BT B8 A B3 IE 45,901 5
Cash and cash equivalents BeRIREEEY 3,840 2
50,589 574
Current liabilities =R
Other payables and accruals HE e RIE R T E A 260 —
Amounts due to subsidiaries FET M B R R IE 4,201 —F
4,461 —
Net current assets REBEEFEE 46,128 574
Net assets EEZFE 46,128 574
EQUITY s
Share capital A& A 25 1,967 195
Reserves i 44,161 379
Total equity R 46,128 574

* The amount is less than RMB1,000.

On behalf of the directors

Director

EBZE

Note: As at 31 December 2019, reserves of the Company

included share premium of RMB47,550,000, capital reserve
of RMB378,000 and accumulated loss of RMB3,767,000.

Movements of the Company’s share capital and reserves are
disclosed in the consolidated statement of changes in equity

and note 25.

* ZeEINARKE1,0007T ©
RERES

Director

EZE

Hiat - R2019F12A31H AR AWM FEHE R
ER’R G5 % E AR 47,550,000 « & A
H AR 378,000t & Rt BIEARK
3,767,0007C ° AN A AR A R E B EZ B R

Rem PR LT 25 NE -
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29. INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES 29. RIMIBATHIKRE

Name of subsidiary

Date and place
of incorporation/
establishment

Attributable equity interest
of the Group

Issued and fully
paid share capital/
registered capital

Principal activities

L BERTRBERE
WEARAR B3 BB Rt B AEEEERE HEER TEERED
2019 2018
20195 2018 F
Doumob Inc. (“Doumob BVI") Incorporated on 100% 100% US dollars (“US$")1 Investment holding
(Note (c) & (e)) 13 April 2018 in
the British Virgin
Islands (“BVI")
Doumob Inc. ([Doumob BVII) #2018 4 A 13R% 1%&x(l%x]) RERR
(Wit (c) % (e) REEXES ([HE
RLES )M
7AvA
Doumob HK Limited (‘Doumob  Incorporated on 100% 100%  HK dollars (“HK$")1 Investment holding
HK") (ZBEEERAA) 18 May 2018 in
(Note (d)) Hong Kong
SREBERAR(EATE])  R2018F5A18HE 1T REEK
(Wit (d) BB ML
Beijing Doumob Information Incorporated on 16 100% 100% US$1,000,000 Investment holding
Technology Co., Ltd July 2018 in the
(“WFOE") (L RE#AfE B MM PRC
BRAF]) (Note (d) & (f)
EREHEERMBR ARG R2018F7 16 BE 1,000,000 7T REER
BECE ) (Mt () k(1) i aliav
Doumob. (Beijing) Technology Incorporated on 25 100% 100%  RMB22,356,901 Provision of online
Co., Ltd. (“Doumob July 2013 in the advertising services
Technology”) (2B (It R) PRC
MEBRHERAR) (Note (d))
FROEAR)MERHBERAR ®20135 7 A25 BEE AE#22,356,901 T A LEERS
(TE B (Wit (d) SRl A
Tianjin Doumob Advertisement Incorporated on 4 100% 100% RMB10,000,000 Provision of online
Co., Ltd (“Doumob December 2014 advertising services
Advertisement”) (K2 E B in the PRC
£BRAF) (Note (d) & (g))
RETREEARAR(ZRES]) R2014F124BE AR 10,000,0007c D EEERS
(it (d) R (g)) th B AR L
Beijing Yamei Yunhe Incorporated on 9 100% 100% RMB10,000,000 Provision of online
Technology Co., Ltd. (“Yamei July 2014 in the advertising services
Yunhe”) (At REEEMBHE PRC and online sales
BB AE]) (Note (d) & (g)) services
IRBEEMRBEERAR([EE  R2014F7R9B%E AE#10,000,0007T A4 EEERS RS E
EM izt (a) k(g) SlEiEaliava 35 PR 7%
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of incorporation/ Attributable equity interest
Name of subsidiary establishment of the Group
B
WEARER B B AR AEEELRE
2019 2018
20195 20185
Horgos Doumob Internet Incorporated on 29 100% 100%
Technology Co., Ltd. December 2016
(“Horgos Doumob”) in the PRC
(ERREZRBRERAR)
(Note (d) & (9))
ERRGTZBARARAA m2016F 12 A29 BE
([ERRGEE]) SlEiEatiave
(Hizt(d) & (g))
Horgos Xingcheng Huyu Culture  Incorporated on 23 51% 51%
Communications Co., Ltd. May 2017 in the
(“Horgos Xingcheng”) (BB R PRC
HEXR BRI EEBRAR)
(Note (d) & (9))
ERRMENERCERERAR R2017F5H 23
([ERRIERK]) wE T A L
(HizE(d) & (g))
Note:
(a) The English names of all subsidiaries established in the PRC are

(b)

(c)

(e)

Date and place

translated for identification purpose only.

All companies now comprising the Group have adopted 31
December as their financial year end date.

The equity interest is directly held by the Company at the date
of this report.

The equity interests are indirectly held by the Company at the
date of this report.

As at the date of this report, no audited financial statements
have been prepared for Doumob BVI as it is not subject to
statutory audit requirements under the relevant rules and
regulations in the jurisdiction of incorporation.

These entities are established in the PRC in the form of wholly

foreign-owned enterprise.

These entities are established in the PRC in the form of domestic
limited liability company.

Issued and fully

paid share capital/

registered capital Principal activities
BERTRARRE/

EEX TEXRED

RMB1,000,000 Provision of online
advertising services
and online sales
services

AR 1,000,000 REBLESRERZL
HER

RMB2,000,000 Provision of online
advertising services
and marketing
services

AR®2000,000T REBEESREREH
R

(a)  PAFRBIRKSZHATA HTE A B A SR
BHHBEZA -

(b) HBEAXAEBNFRAEARBSHEM12A31
BAHEMBFELER -

() MABREABREALARERRS -

(d) RAREEHREHADARRERS °

(e) MZARERH - BN Doumob BVIHEESF
1M AR 2 R [ AR B AR Bl SR AR TR R B VA
EBZMRE « MR ERECEZI R
=

() ZEERIEBECERPEKT -
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30. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES 30. HEKBEAR
2019 2018
2019 20184
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARMFT ARKTFT
Property, plant and equipment Mz - BB R — 18
Deferred tax assets RIERITH B B — 166
Inventory T8 — 1,996
Trade and other receivables B 5 Rk H b fE YR IE — 31,847
Cash and cash equivalents RERREEEY — 2,471
Trade and other payables 2 5 & HE eI — (22,399)
Tax payables FER IR — (1,499)
— 12,600
Less: non-controlling interests B IEEERR R — (1,395)
— 11,205
Consideration HE — (11,095)
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries FFAFAZEEERNEE
included in consolidated profit or Hi B8~ Bl 1R
loss for the year — 110
Consideration satisfied by: REUTIHFRZA
Cash R — 11,095
Net cash inflow/(outflow) arising HEEENBRLRA/CRL)
on disposal: SRR
Cash consideration ReRE — 11,095
Cash and cash equivalents FILENRERBELEED
disposal of — (2,471)
— 8,624
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31.

32.

MATERIAL RELATED PARTIES 3. EXEBAIRS
TRANSACTIONS
Key management personnel remuneration FEEEASHSE
Remuneration for key management personnel of the Group, AEETEEEBEABENMNERIERARQT
including amounts paid to the Company’s directors and EERETESHEESZ NN (ME
certain of the highest paid employees as disclosed in note 13, 13FTHREE) « FFIBEMT ¢
is as follow:
PLORE] 2018
2019 % 2018 4F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FTT ARMFor
Short-term employee benefits MEHEERT 3,592 2,878
Retirement scheme contribution RIRETEI LR 305 455
3,897 3,333
CAPITAL MANAGEMENT POLICIES AND 32. EEBEBXRRER

PROCEDURES

The Group manages its capital to ensure that the entities in
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximising the return to shareholders through the optimisation

of the debt and equity balance.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, net of
cash and cash equivalents and equity attributable to owners
of the Company, comprising issued share capital, reserves

and retained profits, respectively.

REEHESHETER  URRAEER
MERKAEELE  RSERTEER
Kt - REBRERERDR -

AEENERNGEERERFER  MKEH
ERREFBYMARREE AR BRE
(BREEBETEA - fHERKREBREM)
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33.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure on
a continuous basis taking into account the loss of capital and
the risk associated with the capital. The Group will balance
its overall capital structure through the payment of dividends,
new shares issue and share buy-back as well as the issue of

new debts or redemption of existing debt, if necessary.

Management regards total equity as capital. The amount of
capital as at 31 December 2019 amounted to approximately
RMB300,345,000 (2018: RMB239,994,000) and, which the
management considers as optimal having considered the
projected capital expenditures and the projected strategic

investment opportunities.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(a) Categories of financial instruments

The following table shows the carrying amount of

financial assets and liabilities:

33.

ARAEEEZEREABRMAERFRHEDN
Bk HERNEAERE  AEEBEBRIK
MRS - HRBFTRBOBD - ARET
HEXROREERA(WARE)  FEHE
RBEAERE -

ERERRERERER - R2019F 12 A
31EHE AR £ L A R 300,345,000 7T
(20184F : A R 239,994,0007T) & &
TR AS I RIERREE R A S - B8
EBRABARDEEIEE -

TR
(a) BIBETAER
TREHNVHEENBEHRAE :

2019 2018
2019 2018 4

RMB’000 RMB’000
ARHFT ARHTFT
Financial assets at amortised REBERATENTBEE :
cost:
Trade and other receivables B 5 K CH b e FRIE 21,472 21,954
Contract assets BHEE 60,237 121,376
Amounts due from shareholders JE W AR B R TE 200 188
Amounts due from non-controlling &Y 3E12 A& 4 %5 7108
interests 980 980
Time deposits with original maturity EZ|HH#B:E 318 A
over 3 months TE BT 47,017 —
Cash and cash equivalents ReRBEEFEYD 118,915 132,912
Financial assets at fair value RARBEF BRI BEE :
through profit or loss:
Film investment BRIRE 8,500 —
257,321 277,410
Financial liabilities at amortised REHAKRFENTEEE
costs:
Trade and other payables B 5 R H b fET IR 16,156 56,590
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(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss,
trade and other receivables, contract assets, amounts
due from non-controlling interests, amounts due from
shareholders, time deposits with original maturity over
3 months, cash and cash equivalents and trade and
other payables. Details of these financial instruments
are disclosed in respective notes. The risks associated
with these financial instruments include credit risk,
liquidity risk and currency risk. The policies on how to
mitigate these risks are set out below. The directors of
the Company manage and monitor these exposures to
ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a

timely and effective manner.
(i)  Credit risk

The Group is exposed to credit risk in relation to
its trade and other receivables, contract assets,
amounts due from non-controlling interests,
amounts due from shareholders and cash deposits

at banks.

The Group expects that there is no significant
credit risk associated with cash deposits at banks
since they are substantially deposited at state-
owned banks and other medium or large-sized
listed banks. Management does not expect that
there will be any significant losses from non-

performance by these counterparties.

(b)

B B B B R BUR

AEBNTEMBTABREEAR
Bt ABENHBEE BHRHE
il EWRIE - RREE - BUSEE
Pt IR~ EUBCR R - R
HABEIEANERFR Re
RBEEEEYNME S N E M E MR
B ZERBTANFEBRERE
BT EZEM B TABEENA
REREEERR RPESEBRK
B R o AR EZS R R
MRRMT - ARREREERE
RZERR  ARERNEEERER
EEE

() =ERE

AEBARZEHE S KEME
WHRIH - GHEE - BIIEE
P S0R - EIRARR FRIA K
RITASERNEERR -

AEBEEY  ARBRITEEE
RBABDFRERGRTR
H Ao KA ERTT - Et
BEBERRTRASEARNEKRE
ERR - EEERHATEHRN
ZEHH T REBOMERE
MEANERE -
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DOUMOB

=B
X mm

The Group has large number of customers and
there was no concentration of credit risk. The
Group has monitoring procedures to ensure that
follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts.
In addition, the Group reviews the recoverability
of these receivables at the end of each reporting
period to ensure that adequate impairment losses

are made for irrecoverable amounts.

The Group considers the probability of default
upon initial recognition of asset and whether
there has been a significant increase in credit risk
on an ongoing basis throughout each reporting
period. To assess whether there is a significant
increase in credit risk the Group compares the
risk of a default occurring on the asset as at the
reporting date with the risk of default as at the
date of initial recognition. It considers available
reasonable and supportive forwarding-looking

information. Especially the following indicators are

incorporated:

o Internal credit rating

o External credit rating

o Actual or expected significant adverse

changes in business, financial or economic
conditions that are expected to cause a
significant change to the borrower’s ability

to meet its obligations

o Actual or expected significant changes in
the operating results of individual property

owner or the borrower

° Significant increases in credit risk on the
other financial instruments of the individual

property owner or the same borrower

o Significant changes in the expected
performance and behaviour of the borrower,
including changes in the payment status of
borrowers in the Group and changes in the

operating results of the borrower

AR ARAE

AEEBEXRERFP  BUtAE
SPHEERR - AEER

EREF  UHERRETHE
EIEHER - 1IN ARER
BMERRBRZERWFR
BRI BEE - AR AT Al B
EREBEEHTRBERR °

AEBEEEVINERREZ R
BAOWATEENE - A EEFTE
BEHREERREDSHE
BEEN - AR EEERRE
K%%ibuﬁq P REBEAR W
EREEFLRONAEMN
Eﬁ%ﬂﬁéﬁ?ﬁb%%i@%@ﬁ@ﬂau
’IiiLLﬁttF + [R)B 178 ]
BORERIFEAMEER -
f‘HE'J mATIATER

. PEEEFR
o SNBREENR

o X MBALEMR
MERKFBEHEKRTH
23 MHSHERA
BITEEMENERE
N2

. ERMEREEARER
ANEEEENER LT
HEARE)

e ERIMEHEE ASF—
ERAEMT T AR
=E R AR EFH

s MERAFRHRRRTR
MEANES  BREEX
AR AR KB HE AR
ijﬁ FP R ERARLE
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Maximum exposure and year-end staging B AR B2 i 1 ]2 4 7K T R [ R
The tables below show the credit quality and the TRETNAEEBEEBRER12
maximum exposure to credit risk based on the A31BEMEEEERTAE
Group’s credit policy, which is mainly based on BERRHO - ZBEREEER
past due information unless other information is BAEBAER(BRIEF HME
available without undue cost or effort, and year- FRANEHR AL A &S
end staging classification as at 31 December. K& R LA K& F R T B B9 P BR
The amounts presented are gross carrying 2N EEAZENBEE
amounts for financial assets. K RRE4E(E ©
At 31 December 2019 R2019F12H31H
12-month ECLs
1284 Lifetime ECLs
EARERE FHEBEEEE
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
£-ER 2-ER KR 1953 by
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

NERFT NEETT NEHTT NEETFT NEETT

Amounts due from shareholders — EXIRRFA 200 - = - 200
Amounts due from el R

non-controlling interests E 980 - - - 980
Contract asses* RUEE" - - = 76,102 76,102
Trade receivables* Bk - - = 14,310 14310
Financial assets included in TARSE - BUFER

deposits, prepayments and LG

other receivables™ HBEE" 8,698 = — — 8,698
Time deposits with original maturity FE|HR#A=(EA

over three months RESBER 47017 = = = 47,017
Cash and cash equivalents RERHRLSEN 118,915 - - - 118,915

175,810 — — 90,412 266,222
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DOUMOB

At 31 December 2018

R2018512H31H

12-month ECLs
12188 Lifetime ECLs
BHEEEE 2HEREERR
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
F-ER EEE B=ER BltEE @t
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB000 RMB’000
NEEFT ANEEFT NREFT ANEEFT NEEFT
Amounts due from shareholders YRR 208 188 = = = 188
Amounts due from Rl RER
non-controlling interests e 980 — - — 980
Contract assets ANEE - - - 128,630 128,630
Trade receivables B SRElE - — = 15,156 15,156
Financial assets included in SRS - BRFER
deposits, prepayments and E YRR
other receivables HBEE 7,248 - — — 7,248
Cash and cash equivalents RERFREEEN 132,912 - — — 132,912
141,328 — — 143,786 285,114

For trade receivables and contract assets to which
the Group applies the simplified approach for
impairment, information based on the provision
matrix is disclosed in notes 18 and 19 to the
financial statements, respectively.

*k

The financial assets included in deposits,
prepayments and other receivables is not past
due and there is no information indicating that the
financial assets had a significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition. Therefore, a loss
allowance at an amount equal to 12-month ECL is
recognised for these financial assets.

Further quantitative data in respect of the
Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from
trade receivables are disclosed in note 18 to the

financial statements.

TEMRARAE

*k

AR B R RE” L AR
BHRUGREMS - EREE
SERERE R D BIR B R 3R R AT
18 R 19 HE -

FEARS - AN FIRREADRE
WHIRM P B EEL KRB A
WK AN EEE B 7156

REEERBREEEM
it EAF R 1218 A A
EEBRNEERFEE LS
IS EEER o

BRAEEE S EWKKIEBEMNE
ERMEERKRAE— P
BIREN T B HREMIFE18 -
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(ii)

Liquidity risk

Ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk
management rests with the directors of the
Company, which has built an appropriate liquidity
risk management framework for the management
of the Group’s short, medium and long-term
funding and liquidity management requirements.
The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining

adequate reserves.

The following table details the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial
liabilities. The table has been drawn up based on
the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities
based on the earliest date on which the Group

can be required to pay.

(i) mEELEE

RBERREENREEE
MARBEEAR - ARAE
FEEVHEENRBDESAR
EEER  UWEBRAREENE
hTRPAEERABESHFL -
REBBE BRI TS - A
EERBETER

TRAJAEBFTEM KA
BERHRTAOHR - JIRRE
ZRER B 7] R 7R HE B SR A R &
FEH - REFEEENKRT
BERTRERE -

Total More than More than
contractual Within 1 year but 2 years
Carrying  undiscounted one year or less than but less
amount cash flows on demand 2 years than 5 years
CREN 3 BB1F BAmE
REE RERBAE 1EAREEX BORME BAHR5EF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETFT AREF ARBTFT ARKEFT ARBFT
As at 31 December 2019 42019F 12531 H
Trade payables 2 S EMTE 11,743 11,743 11,743 - -
Accruals and other et ER R A
payables e 50E 4,413 4,413 4,413 - -
16,156 16,156 16,156 — -
As at 31 December 2018  R2018512A31A
Trade payables EHRENFE 44,459 44,459 44,459 = =
Accruals and other et B A RAM
payables EAREe 12,131 12,131 12,131 = =
56,590 56,590 56,590 — —
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DOUMOB

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

=B
X mm

Currency risk

The Group mainly operated in the PRC with most
of the transactions settled in RMB and did not
have significant exposure to risk resulting from

changes in foreign currency exchange rates.

Financial instruments not measured at fair

value

Financial instruments not measured at fair value
include time deposits with original maturity over
3 months, cash and cash equivalents, contract
assets, trade receivables, deposits and other
receivables, amounts due from shareholders,
amounts due from non-controlling interests, trade

payables and accruals and other payables.

Due to their short term nature, the fair values of
time deposits with original maturity over 3 months,
cash and cash equivalents, contract assets, trade
receivables, deposits and other receivables,
amounts due from non-controlling interests,
amounts due from shareholders, trade payables,
accruals and other payables approximate to their

carrying amounts.
Financial instruments measured at fair value

The fair value of financial assets and liabilities with
standard terms and conditions and trade on active
liquid markets are determined with reference to

quoted market prices.

The fair value of film investment is based on

income approach and grouped into Level 3.

There was no change in valuation techniques

during the year.

AR ARAE

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

BxmmE

AEEIZETERE X5
REDAAREGEE - WER
SN BEE = 588 B ) 385 B H) B KL
B o

WHZERAETBHHHLR

WHRAAREFENTBE TR
BREREHAEBBIEANE
BER RERREEFEY
BHEE BHEWFR &
& R EAEYRIR - BRARER
R - R RORE B 2 5K 0A

B 5 RN AL R &R & E
o FEAT IR -

HABRIEEE - REHAAB
WIEAMEREFER BeEk
ReFEY aHNEE - EBH
FEWGRIE ~ ke I H i fE UK
18 - NSRRI R TOA - B
WARSR KA - & 5 FRIEA -
FEETE A R E M ENRIER A

REAEKFEERE
BAAETEHHETA

B 5 AR R AR B I AR A I 10 V5 BB
mBETSEENMTEERE
BEMH QAR ELRTISREE
ERRE -
BEXRENDIABRBERAR

BEE YNBERE=R
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Fair value hierarchy

The following table presents the fair value of the
Group’s financial instruments measured at the
end of the reporting period on a recurring basis,
categorised into the three level fair value hierarchy
as defined in HKFRS 13, Fair value measurement.
The level into which a fair value measurement
is classified is determined with reference to the
observability and significance of the inputs used

in the valuation technique as follows:

o Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured
using only Level 1 inputs i.e. unadjusted
quoted prices in active markets for identical

assets or liabilities at the measurement date

° Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured
using Level 2 inputs i.e. observable
inputs which fail to meet Level 1, and not
using significant unobservable inputs.
Unobservable inputs are inputs for which

market data are not available

o Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured

using significant unobservable inputs

AR EER

TREJNNBEHREEFTE
WAEEMBIAARE
DRBEBYBRELENES
5% [AnEFE I REN=E
AREREER  2RMEET AR
RN BEREREZER
AREAEDRUATER

s E—MMhE: RERAF
—REBE(BNEREESR
BERFEERERRK
i B T 5 O R 48 5 B He
B)FENARE

s FIAME:ERAF-
RBE(BIRTEE R
MR B BUR) - AR
REATABEE AR
BEFEMRAME TA
BERGARBLYLED
SRR BUR

s XZARMBE:RKBEK
THEREABETE
BARE
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The following table illustrates the fair value
measurement hierarchy of the Group’s financial

instruments:

TREIAKEFHETANR
REFEER :

At 31 December 2019
R2019%12831H

BB ABRRA

Financial assets at fair

value through profit or B EE
loss
— Film investment — EFRE

Level 2

gt

RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFTT AR FIT

Level 3

E=R
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TFT ARE TR
8,500 8,500

The Group did not have any financial assets

measured at fair value as at 31 December 2018.

Below is a summary of significant unobservable
inputs to the valuation of financial instruments
together with a quantitative sensitivity analysis as
at 31 December 2019:

Significant

Valuation technique

fEET %

Film investment The discounted cash flow
method was used to capture
future economic benefits to be
derived from the ownership of
the investment.

BRAEREEDANGE
E%z B ARBEEN

FAEAS -

The sensitivity analysis on changes in fair value of

these financial assets are as follows:

A 1% increase/decrease in the discount rate while
all other variables keep constant, would decrease/
increase the carrying amount as at 31 December
2019 by RMB100,000.

DOUMOB T ERIZER AT

unobservable input

EATAERGARE

Expected future cash flow

BEARRSE

Discount rate

BRE

AREBERKR 2018412 A31 B
EEMBRARBIFENMBE
E °

LTt s T AGEENE
AT A B R g A SURER R
20194 12 A 31 HH E 2 8%
EoH:

Relationships of unobservable

inputs to fair value

TURZBAREELAENRE

The higher the expected future
cash flow, the higher the
fair value.

BRRRREREHS
DAERR -

The higher the discount rate,
the lower the fair value.

BREHE - AAEHIE -
RAEUBEER A BRI

HREREDMWT
fisl RE 3 R 3B 0B 19 T BT
REAMEHRETE AR

2019 12 A31H W R @ &
#5354 /12 0 A B # 100,000
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A 5% increase/decrease in revenue attributable to il 7K £2 B FE (5 U 2538 00 Rk
5% M B H ith B ER F A
# . B R2019F 1231 H

B BREE R0, R AR

the Group while all other variables keep constant,
would increase/decrease the carrying amount as
at 31 December 2019 by RMB400,000.

400,000 JT °
The movements in fair value measurements within FAMBE=MARETEEH
Level 3 during the year are as follows: (N
2019 2018
2019 F 2018
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FT AREFr
Financial assets at fair value &2 AETABEHN
through profit or loss HHREE
At 1 January Bn1A1H — —
Purchase BE 7,800 =
Total gains recognised in the RiEm R BRI AT A A
statement of profit or loss WA RE MUz (E518)
included in other income and FRER S B
other net gains/(losses) 700 —
At 31 December ®12 831 H 8,500 —

During the years ended 31 December 2019 and
2018, there were no transfers between Level 1
and Level 2, or transfers into or out of Level 3. The
Group’s policy is to recognise transfers between
levels of fair value hierarchy as at the end of the

reporting period in which they occur.

There were no other financial assets or liabilities
carried at fair value as at 31 December 2019 and
2018.

#H Z 20194 K& 20184 12 A 31
BILEEE F—H/ERE-HZ
M mER  TEEAE =R
HEF=MEE - NEBHEK
5B IR B R ) S 5 HA ORI
RANBERERS 2 FREHE -

R 2019F K% 20184 12 A 31
A BiEEMERIAER
MPBEENRRAER -
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34.

EVENTS AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

Since January 2020, the outbreak of Coronavirus Disease
2019 (“COVID-19") has impact on the global business
environment. As at the Latest Practicable Date, the Group
was not aware of any material adverse effects on the
financial statements as a result of the COVID-19. Pending the
development and spread of COVID-19 subsequent to the date
of these financial statements, further changes in economic
conditions for the Group arising thereof may have impact on
the financial results of the Group, the extent of which could
not be estimated as at the date of these financial statements.
The Group will keep continuous attention on the situation of
the COVID-19 and evaluate its impact on the financial position
and operating results of the Group.

DOUMOB EEERIZ AR A F

34.

BERRER

H20205E1 8 #£ 20198 K & & &
(fCOVID-19) R 1EIEE  HFERIRER
BIE - REFRERAITHE  AEELTT
HECOVID-19 ¥ Bf #5 3R 2= iE AL (E AT &2 K
A E - BFCOVID-19R AR =
BHENEERETER  NAEEHL
BARRE ML RE — S8 - AAREEK
MISEERSIENTE  ERATBHRER
BHEAGEAZTERE A5ESHE
BJECOVID-19M BT #HE  FHEEHA
SRR RIS EEENTE -
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